FILE No. .
82—4890
RINTIVED
7-.] vrom L Tokyo and Eastern Honshu...
BT s Al s EAST JAPAN RAILWAY COMPANY

CEICE OF INTERNATISH Y
CURPORATE FINARICE

VOl SUPPL

26040
070 . -
m]
O
O

\
: PROCESSED

AUG 2 1 2007

THOMSON [0 Annual Report 2007

FINANCIAL

For the year ended March 31, 2007

od’?



werleart

of Our Operations

Providing

Safe and Reliable Transportation

Enhancing

__ €’u$t'o‘.er Satisfaction

Progressing
ft"’g theXNext Stage

. \\ |
bi-Fynabashi
9 oo Airpo )




ﬁ:ﬁ_,::; TS T omm oo TS mmmm o n—x  o—

@ Passenger Line Network
JR East has a passenger line network cavering
accounting for

of Japan’s railway network.

® Transportation Volume

JR East accounts for

in the vibrant Tokyo metropolitan area.
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“We are dedicated to ensuring our customers’

safety, and our overriding commitment to this
objective will never change.”

® Number of Passengers
JR East serves
and is the largest passenger railway com-

pany in the world,

@ Pursuit of “Extreme Safety”
In fiscal 2007, the average schedule delay for afl
IR East trains was approximately
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Three Benchmarks of Our Medium-Term Management Plan: New Frontier 2008

Cash Flows from Operating Activities Ratio of Total Long-Term Debt to Ratio of Operating Income to

(Billans of yan) Shareholders’ Equity (imes) Average Assets (ROA) (%
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JR East will maintain high ethical standards and management transparency while earnestly e

taking progressive measures in response to major issues facing society as a whole. Through
those efforts, JR East intends to continue fulfilling the expectations of society and the trust of
shareholders and other stakeholders. In particular, JR East will redouble efforts focused on
stringent management compliance and measures that address global environmental issues.
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Operating Income and Cash Flow Trends auons of Yen

== Qperating lncome
wa Cash Flows from
Operating Actmbies
== Cash Flows from
Investing Activiies
w= Cash Flows from
Financing Actwities
== Free Cash Flows

Operating revenues advanced 2.5% from the previous
fiscal year, to ¥2,657.3 billion, and operating income
increased 8.1%, to ¥428.1 billion. Net income amounted
to ¥175.9 billion, up 11.6%.
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International Domestic
IR East 31,089 IR East 31,089
British Airways 10,969 JAL 5.667
Lufthansa 12,693 Tokyu 5,474
Union Pacific 24,820 TEPCO 46,080
FedEx 33,340 NTT 72,963
UPS 80,494
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Forward-Looking Staterents

Statements contained in this report with respect to JR East's plans, strategies, and beliefs that are not historical facts are forward-lcokmng statements about the future
performance of JR East, which are based on management's assumptions and beliefs in light of the information currently available to it. These forward-looking state-
ments involve known and unknown risks, uncertainttes, and other factors that may cause JR East's actual results, perfarmance, or achievements to differ materially from the
expeciations expressed herein. These facters include, without limitation, (i) JR East's ability to successfully maintain or mcrease current passenger levels on railway services,
(i) JR East’s ability to improve the profitabilty of rallway and other operations, (i) JR East's abiity 1o expand non-transportation cperations, and (iv) general changes in eco-
nomic conditons and laws, requlations, and government policies in Japan.




Financial Highlights

East Japan Railway Company and Subsidiares
Years ended March 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007

Millions of Yen Percent Miflions of U.S. Dollzrs
(except for per share data) Change {except for per share data)
2005 2006 2007 2007/20C6 2007

For the Year
Operating FEVENMUES.......oi et ¥2,537,481 ¥2,592,393 ¥2,657,346 +2.5% $22,520
OPerating INCOME ...t e 358,535 396,100 428,098 +8.1 3,628
NEt iNCOME ..coooiiiii e s 111,592 157,575 175,871 +11.6 1,490
Deprediation ... e 317,957 316,038 318,526 +0.8 2,699
Capital expenditures*' ... 319,912 361,372 413,310 £14.4 3,503
Cash flows from operating activities 407,737 447,722 541,850 +21.0 4,592
Free cash flows™ e 192,789 138,233 193,050 +39.7 1,636
Amount per share of common stock (yen and U.S. dollars):

EBMNINGS ..o e ¥ 27868 ¥ 36370 ¥ 44,008 +11.8% $ 373

Cash flows from operating activities.......................... 102,026 112,035 135,586 +21.0 1,149
At Year-End
TOA! ESSELS .ot ¥6,716,268 ¥6,821584 ¥6,968,032 +2.1% $59,051
Long-term debt {including current portion).............ccccceeen. 1,940,255 1,960,211 2,034,558 +3.8 17,242
Long-term liabilities incurred for purchase of

raitway facilities*? (including current portion)...........c.ccceeee.. 1,892,827 1,743,657 1,601,646 -8.1 13,573

Total long-term debt {sum of two items above)................... 3,833,082 3,703,868 3,636,204 -1.8 30,815
Sharehalders’ equIty™ ...t e 1,183,546 1,357,359 1,488,554 +9.7 12,615

Percent texcept for debt-to-equity ratio)

Financial Ratios

Net income as a percentage of revenues.......ccoocoooveiiiees 4.4% 6.1% 6.6%
Return on average equity (ROE) 98 12.4 12.4
Ratio of operating income {0 average assets (ROA) 5.3 5.9 6.2
EQUITY T8t Lo 17.6 19.9 214
Debt-to-equity ratio™® ...........ooviiiiniiiine e 3.2 2.7 2.4

*1 These figures exclude expenditures funded by third parties, mainly governments and their agencies, that will benefit from the resulting facilities.

*2 Net of cash flows from operating activities and cash flows from investing activities

*3 Long-term liabilities incurred for the purchase of the Tohoku and Joetsu Shinkansen facilities, the Akita hybrid Shinkansen facitities, and the Tokyo Monorail facilities
*4 Shareholders’ equity equals total net assets less minority interests beginning with the year ended March 31, 2007.

*5 Ratio of total long-term debt to shareholders’ equity

Operating Revenues Net Income Total Long-Term Total Assets and Cash Flows from
and Operating Income Debt Shareholders’ Equity Operating Activities
(Billions of Yen) (Billions of Yen) (Billions of Yen) (Billions of Yen) (Billions of Yen} {Billians of Yen)  (Billiens of Yen}
3,000 500 200 4.800 7.500 1,500 600

150 3,600 50

100 2.400 300

| !
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0 0 . 0 ¢
FY '03°04 '05 ‘06 07 FY '03 '04 '05 '06 ‘07 FY 03 '04 05 '06 ‘07 FY 030405 ‘06 '07 FY ‘03 '04 '05 '06 07
M Qperating revenues W Long-term liabilities incurred for M Total assets
0 Operating income purchase of railway facilities £ Shareholders” equity

0 Long-term debt
Notes: 1. Yen figures have been transiated into U.S. dollars at the rate of ¥118 1o US$1 as of March 31, 2007, solely as a convenience to readers.
2. There were 101 consolidated subsidiaries as of March 31, 2003, 98 in 2004, 92 in 2005, 86 in 2006, and 85 in 2007.
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Thanks Lo the support of rts stakeho!ders JR East has dynamically prospered during its. frrst two
~ decades. of operations. We are grateful for your patronage and confidence.

ForJR‘East,z “safety” is the most fundamental requirement for successful operations. We are dedicated -
to ensuring our customers’ safety, and our overriding commitment to this objective will never change.

. Based ‘on this approach ‘JR East is constanitly seeking means of realizing additional improvements -
wrth regard to ensuring “extreme safety” and providing excellent services. Through such efforts, we
are relentlessly striving to further increase the level of our customers’ “peace of mind.” '

All of us at JR East, singly and concertedly, are doing our utmost to help bring a new era of
improved convenience for our customers, particularly in fields centered on rail transport and stations—
our most powerful and underutilized business resource. We are steadily building a solid foundation
for our next surge of corporate development.

Group Policies

Group Philosophy
The JR East Group,will aim to function as a corporate group providing high quality and
advanced services, with railway businesses at its core, while achieving sound management.
For this purpose,,  every individual employee of the Group will endeavor to consider the _
customer perspectwe while supporting safe and reliable transportation and supplying conS
venient and high-quality products and services. Every employee will continuously takefoniR
the chalienges of irhproving the standard of services and raising the level of technology}tg
further gain the confrdence and trust of customers. | ‘
As a trusted Life: =Style Service Creating Group, JR East will aim to sustain the develop-
ment of its busmess operations while emphasizing |t§ responsibiliticsitekstakeiolders and
society at large along with its responsibility to generate profits {S@shatehe |c e e

Action Policies

1. Putting Customers First . :
We will put our hearts into providing good service and Innng p {i@@mv
torners’ expectations. a

2. Ensurmngafety and Quality
We will take thorough measures to provide transportation services that
are-safe and reliablé and products and services that are of high quality. !

3. Developlng the Group
Each of us will promote Group development based on our autonomous and
cooperative efforts and our positive approach to new challenges.




A Message from the Management

On April 1, 2007, JR East celebrated the 20th anniversary of its
establishment. This noteworthy day came soon after such
maijor business development events as the March 18 start of
interchangeable Suica/PASMO 1C card service and March 8
opening of Sapia Tower within the Tokyo Station City com-
plex—two events that represent the fruition of JR East’s tireless
efforts over many years. We do not expect our operations to
change greatly in one or two years, but we do think that our
selection of business strategies will make a huge difference
over the long term. Moreover, the JR East Group is making
relentless efforts to ensure all our customers can be assured of
“peace of mind,” a goal that is even more difficult than our
goal of ensuring absolute safety.

During fiscal 2007, or the year ended March 31, 2007, the
Japanese economy was firm and, particularly in the Greater
Tokyo region, there was a palpable strength in people’s move-
ments and consumption activities. Moreover, it was a year in
which the benefits of many measures that we have been
undertaking became reflected with increasing clarity in our
performance figures. Increased operating revenues in each of
our business segments boosted consolidated operating rev-
enues 2.5%, or ¥65.0 billion, to ¥2,657.3 billion, and operat-
ing income was up 8.1%, or ¥32.0 billion, to ¥428.1 billion.
Together with such factors as a drop in interest expense due to
our reduction of total long-term debt, these performance gains
helped increase net income 11.6%, or ¥18.3 billion, to ¥175.9
billion. The figures for operating income and net income were
the highest on record.

We are anticipating that fiscal 2008 will be a year rich in
noteworthy developments in JR East’s operations, including the
completion of such new facilities as GranTokyo North Tower

Phase I and ecute Tachikawa and the expansion of Suica use




due to a rise in the number of users, an expansion of the geo-
graphic scope of usage, and the introduction of additional
functions. We are vigorously expanding our railway operations
and other core operations as we steadily advance with the
implementation of new business initiatives. The implementa-
tion of New Frontier 2008, our medium-term management
plan, is proceeding smoothly, and we are confident that the
success of this plan will significantly augment JR East’s corpo-
rate value. Regarding dividends, we have a policy of seeking to
keep our dividend payout ratio above 20%, and we are aiming
to set dividends applicable to fiscal 2008 at ¥10,000 per share
{a ¥1,000 increase).

As JR East prepares for a new surge of corporate evolution,
we would like to reconfirm our commitment to the “reform-
minded” posture that JR East has maintained during the past
20 years of tireless efforts and ceaseless progress. We are deter-
mined to continue relentlessly taking up new business develop-
ment challenges one by one. We are decing our utmost to
steadily improve our performance and thereby increase the
funds available for distribution to shareholders and investors. At
the same time, we are striving to ensure that the IR East Group
operates as an outstanding corporate citizen in fulfilling all of its
responsibilities for society. In these ways, we are endeavoring to
meet the expectations of shareholders and investors. We hope

for your continued understanding and support.

June 2007

H tratate Sl

Mutsutake Otsuka, Chairman

Saliddl Seons

Satoshi Seino, President and CEQ




An Interview with the President

April 1, 2007, was the 20th
anniversary of JR East's
establishment. JR East’s per-
formance has been steadily
improving over the years,
with growth in revenue and
profit again achieved in fis-
cal 2007, Could you give us
your appraisal of IR East's

first two decades?

P O T T N Y L L asenes

Looking back, it seems that those 20 years went by very quickly, | am
A extremely pleased that JR East has successiully developed into its cur-

rent state, particularly in view of the challenges it has faced. For
example, the Japanese National Railways, JR East's predecessor, fell into the
red in 1964 and never returned to the black. Moreover, at the time JR East
was established, railway transport's share of overall transportation services in
Japan had been inexorably decreasing. Because of such factors, it did not
seem likely that we could sustain our operations. In fact, we had such a feel-
ing of crisis at that time that we actually feared that our railway business
might not survive.

At that time, each individual employee’s feeling of crisis provided the com-
pany with some extra dynamism, Our employees became highly motivated,
and we concertedly worked to always “put ourselves in customers’ shoes.”
Reflecting this, we were able to generate net income in our first fiscal year,
and our business has developed smoothly since then. When JR East was first
established, | don’t think anyone imagined that it would now be so deftly
generating earnings and paying taxes, not to mention recording considerable
amounts of after-tax income. In fact, most of the media back then were




What is the significance of
JR East's privatization?

What is the most important
thing to empbhasize in the
course of these reforms?
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highly skeptical about the national railways' reform initiatives, characterizing
them as "pie in the sky” or predicting that they would soon end in failure.

Naturally, | cannet attribute all of our success to our own efforts—we are
very grateful for the support from our customers, shareholders, and other
stakeholders. Such factors as Japan's economy have also been helpful.
Nonetheless, | believe the key to our success is that our initial feeling of crisis
forged a dynamic corporate culture that has been a driving force behind two
decades of relentless reforms and initiatives. | am happy to note that we still
have that corporate culture.

Our fult privatization in June 2002 was one of the most important
A turning points in our short history. It meant that we were finally
standing on our own feet as an autonomous company both in name
and in fact. Now, having begun its third decade of operations, | see JR East as
making steady progress, step by step, toward a new stage in its corporate
evolution.

Due to its basic characteristics, railway business is not amenable to dramat-
ically rapid transformations. The new stage we are now approaching is the
cumulative product of many years of persistent work. Every day, we serve
about 16 million customers. We attentively listen to what they say and
respond by gradually improving our operations in innumerable ways. Because
of the fundamental nature and large physical scale of our railway operations,
you may not see a big change in the space of a few days, but over 5 or 10
years the changes are huge. We are relentlessly innovating in line with the
original objectives of the national railways’ reforms. Highly conscious of our
great responsibility as the stewards of a critical component of social infra-
structure, we will continue meticulously moving forward with reform initia-
tives, one step at a time.

This is one thing that cannot be said too many times-—our top priori-
A ty is 1o still further increase the safety and reliability of our trans-
portation services. In our core railway operations, our customers put
their lives in our hands each time they use our services, and we are firmly
committed to doing our utmost to ensure that their trust in us is well-found-
ed. This is a fundamental and definitive responsibility of a railway company in
my eyes.

When considering safety measures, | always have a vivid memory of the
train collision that occurred at Higashi Nakano station in December 1988,*
and | am unwavering in my conviction that there is nothing more important
than ensuring that such an accident never recurs. This is why we have contin-
ually implemented safety-enhancing measures related to our physical facilities
as well to our organizational and mental postures, but the tragic accident on
the Uetsu Line in December 2005** is a painful reminder to us that there is
no such thing as “absolute” safety. But while “absclute” safety may not be
attainable in this world, it is still the goal that we are relentlessly striving for.
What we are rigorously demanding of ourselves is that we always attain and
maintain “extreme safety.” We are taking thorough measures to realize this
“extreme safety” throughout gur operations.

* On December 5, 1988, a west-bound train on the Chuo Local Line proceeded despite a stop signal and
collided with another west-bound train that was stopped at Higashi Nakana Station, causing the death
of 1 passenger and injuries to 116 passengers. In addition, the driver of the latter train died.

** On December 25, 2005, the Inaho No. 14 limited express train on the Uetsu Line derailed, causing the

death of 5 passengers and injuries to 31 passengers. In addition, the driver of the train and a refresh-
ment vendor were injured.
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What shape do you expect
your railway business to
take in the future? Also,
what measures are you tak-
ing to attain your goals in
this regard?

Concept illustration of the Tohoku Through Line, a new
through route linking the Tokyo metropolitan area terminal
stations of Uenc and Tokyo

How big is the role of tech-
nology in your operations?

Cancept illustration of fuel cell raikcars
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Besides this, we recognize that the quality of railway service is principally
measured in terms of reliability. After maintaining "extreme safety,” the next
most important thing we can do to benefit our customers is to further increase
the reliability of our services. We recognize that our customers are expecting
greaier reliability, and we are taking various measures to live up to their expec-
tations.

In our customers' lives, railway service should be like ai—something
A that is essential but easy to forget about. That is what ideal railway
service should be. We want people ta be able to take excellent rail-
way service for granted, casually boarding trains and comfortably arriving at
destinations without having to be very conscious of the process. Our constant
efforts 1o further increase safety and reliability are designed to enable cus-
tomers to take these qualities for granted. | often remind JR East employees
that this is what we are striving to do through our conscientious day-to-day
efforts, and | think we have a responsibility to society to provide this kind of
service. Moreover, we see this kind of service as a prerequisite to our sus-
tained corporate growth. We are hoping to inspire all our customers with
rock-salid confidence in our services.

One of the assets we have obtained in the course of our privatization is a
strong emphasis on putting ourselves in customers’ shoes. Our attention io
the customer perspective is prompting us to take various steps to improve
service, such as our recent moves to create the Shonan-Shinjuku line and to
increase the number of Green Cars (first-class cars) on various lines. This
emphasis on the customer perspective is a basic principle in our operations
that we expect to remain firm over the long term.

We are moving ahead with a number of projects aimed at strengthening
our network—such as the creation of the Tohoku Through Line linking north-
bound and southbound medium-distance services from Tokyo and the exten-
sion of the Tohoku and Hokuriku Shinkansen lines—and we are also
assiduously responding to customer desires through such service enhance-
ment initiatives as those to revise service timetables and introduce new kinds
of railcars. In these ways, JR East intends to enhance its railway services in a
sustained manner,

| believe that the railway business is not only a service industry, but
A also a kind of technology industry. An interruption of technological
progress would halt the industry’s progress and development. | think
it would actualty cause the industry to regress.

While some people said that there would be no new railway technologies
other than those related to the linear motor car, we have developed automat-
ed ticket gates and introduced noncontact-type commuter passes incorporat-
ing IC chips and have been working on developing such recently introduced
technologies as 360km/h Shinkansen trains and fuel cell railcars. These tech-
nologies were commercially applied only after years of sustained efforts.

In the future, our introduction of fuel cell railcars aleng with the wireless-
and GPS-based signaling equipment that we are currently developing will
enable us to reduce the risk of accidents while minimizing the scale of our
electric power generation and signaling facilities. Thus, technology develop-
ment is an indispensable means of pursing our goal of "absoiute safety.”

Regarding our earthquake countermeasures, we have strengthened a
growing number of our elevated track support pillars by cladding them in
steel plates. Because it does not require rebuilding the pillars, the in-house
developed cladding technology we are using is relatively inexpensive and
quick. By using existing technologies or somewhat improving such technolo-
gies, we have been able to augment safety without incurring a high cost.




Do you expect Japan's
demographic graying to cre-
ate a harsh environment for
JR East's railway business in
the future?

What are your strategies
for developing your non-
transportation business?
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Concept illustration of ecute Tachikawa shopping facility
* ecute is an acronym derived from eki (the Japanese word
for station), center, universal, together, and enjoy
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By sustaining the daily safety promotion exertions of each JR East employee
as well as by developing break-through technologies with safety-enhancing
features, we are confident that we can increase the safety of our operations
still further.

It is true that demographic trends are not expected to contribute to
supportive conditions in our operating environment in the future. Cn
the other hand, we are planning to respond to upcoming changes in
our operating environment. In particular, to take advantage of cpportunities
presented by demographic changes, we are working to promote greater rail-
way use by seniors.

Japan’s baby boormer generation has begun retiring this year, presenting
what is referred to as the “Year 2007 Problem.” The JR East Group views the
growing number of seniors as a particularly important part of its customer base,
however, and it is undertaking various strategic initiatives to strengthen its rela-
tionship with seniors. The most prominent of these initiatives is our creation of
the Otona no Kyujfitsu Club, a membership club for baby boomers and seniors.
The number of club members had reached approximately 660,000 as of June
2007, and we are continuing our efforts to further expand this membership in
expectation that such members will make full use of our travel-related services.

Besides our campaign to create barrier-free stations through the installa-
tion of additional escalators and elevators, we are working hard to create
conditions that facilitate conventent and pleasant railway use by seniors and
other age groups through moves to create seamless transportation services.
These moves include those to create limited express through services in coop-
eration with Tobu Railway Co., Ltd., to expand such direct through services as
that of the Shonan-Shinjuku Line, and to enable PASMO IC cards to be used
for JR East services as well as for most other types of railway, subway, and
bus services in the Tokyo region.

The population of the Tokyo metrapolitan area is actually expected to
slightly increase for the time being, and the trend of Japanese moving to
major urban areas is expected to continue, However, to counter the impact of
the prospective drop in numbers of young people, | believe it is important to
strengthen the bases of our non-transportation business and Suica business.
Rather than taking our current business environment for granted, we are
working to maintain a constructive sense of crisis while steadily implementing
measures to prepare for future challenges.

A main strategy in this regard is our Station Renaissance program,
A which is designed to maximize the appeal of railway stations—our
most powerful and underutilized business resource. In the days of the
Japanese Naticnal Railways, empty space within stations would sometimes be
filled with kiosks or noodle stands, but there was no consistent strategy for
utilizing station space, and stations did not have any distinctive styles. The
main goal of the Station Renaissance program is to utilize 100% of the
potential of station space for business development while also enhancing cus-
tomer convenience.

Each day, roughly 16 million people pass through our stations, which can
be so much more than simply places to pass through. Our growing number
of ecute retailing facilities are designed to encourage some of those pecple to
slow down a bit and do some convenient shopping while they are there. As a
result of these ecute facilities and other station-space utilization business, our
stations now look very different from the way they looked 20 years ago.
Having established ecute facilities in Omiya and Shinagawa, we are preparing to
open our third ecute facility—ecute Tachikawa—this October. And we are
now considering the establishment of ecute facilities in other stations, includ-
ing Nippori Station. Plans also call for additional commercial space to open this

11
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Could you explain the
progress you are making in
your large-scale redevelop-
ment project around Tokyo
Station?

Concept iltustration of Tokyo Station City

How is your Suica Business?
I
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October in Tokyo Station. Called “GranSta,” this facility will have a different
appearance than ecute facilities.

While transportation business will continue to be our core business, there
are many synergies generated by our concurrent development of station-
space utilization business. Our plans call for continuing to steadily develop
station-space utilization business based on this strategy of seeking to gener-
ate synergies with core operations.

We recently finished several parts of our Tokyo Station City project
A around Tokyo Station, including Sapia Tower, which was completed
in March 2007, and Hotel Metropolitan Marunouchi and Tokyo
Station Conference, which opened within Sapia Tower in May 2007. Plans
call for finishing Phase 1 of GranTokyo North Tower by the station’s Yaesu
exit and GranTokyo South Tower this October, and preservation and restora-
tion work on the Marunouchi Station building—the symbol of the capital and
an important cultural property designated by the national government—
began this spring.

This is the first time JR East has ever undertaken such a large-scale develop-
ment project, and | think the development is symbolic of the transition we are
making between JR East’s first 20 years and the current era of JR East’s corporate
evolution. Moving a step further ahead from our previous emphasis on con-
structing convenient stations, we have designed the project to virtually make the
Tokyo Station area centered on the station building into a new city within a city.
This year, we are reaping the fruits of diverse preparations made by our prede-
cessors. In the same vein, | believe we must not fail to initfate additional long-
term projects for subsequent JR East managers to enjoy bringing to fruition 10 or
20 years from now. At Shinjuku, Shibuya, and Yokochama stations as well as
other principal stations, we need to transform station facilities in a manner that
reflects the special nature of surrounding areas and makes those facilities sym-
bolic landmarks in their respective areas. By planning these projects now and
assiduously proceeding with project implementation, we can expect to see the
projects bear impressive fruit in 10 or 20 years.

Expecting Swica business to hecome the third main pillar of R East's
A operations—after railway business and such non-transportation busi-
ness as station-space utilization operations—we are working to give
Suica a solid position as Japan's top IC card.

Since March 2007, Suica cards have been interchangeable with PASMO IC
cards, enabling either of them to be used for all types of railway, subway, and
bus services in the Tokyo region. People can use a single Suica card to obtain
seamless transportation almost anywhere in greater Tokyo. The developments
in March have given birth to what is believed to be the world's largest IC card
network, and the total number of Suica and PASMO cards in use is expected
to surpass 30 million. Plans are being made for JR East, JR Central, and IR
West 0 collaborate regarding IC card tickets 1o enable the provision of new
kinds of services. While consideration of cooperation with these and other
companies is ongoing, | think that the IC card tickets for use with Japanese
transportation networks will have the same technology and functions of Suica
IC cards, so it seems that it will hecome possible to use Suica IC cards
throughout Japan at some time in the future. Suica IC cards have advantages
over other IC cards in that they can be used as electronic tickets to pay for
transportation services as well as being used as electronic money to pay for
purchases in stores. We plan to fully leverage this advantage while praviding
such additional services as Mobile Suica {a Suica version introduced in January
2006 that integrates Suica IC card functions with mobile phones), arranging
additiona! alliances with other companies, and otherwise making Suica IC
cards the first choice of most Japanese.




Please explain the progress Fiscal 2007, the second year of the four-year period covered by
A the New Frontier 2008 plan, was a year in which the firmness of
economic conditions in Japan was dearly evident, particularly in the
travel and spending behavior of people in the greater Tokyo region.
This supportive operating environment had a positive influence on our per-
formance during ihe year, as did uptrends in our transportation services and
station-space utilization business as well as cur efforts to expand Suica
services. Reflecting these situations, we were able to attain record high levels
of operating revenues and net income.

Currently, several months into fiscal 2008, we have already passed the
halfway mark in the period allotted for implementing New Frontier 2008.
Because our profitability and cash flow are exceeding our original projections,
our cash flow and ROA are steadily rising toward the target levels. Qur ratio
of total long-term debt to shareholders’ equity has smoothly decreased even
as we implement a record high level of investments.

While we will naturally continue striving to further increase these quan-
titative indicators, we are also aiming to make steady progress regarding such
difficult-to-quantify objectives as ensuring "extreme safety” throughout our
operations, improving the quality of services we provide to customers, and
upgrading employee training programs. As operators of key social infrastruc-
ture systems, we recognize that we bear a particularly great responsibility to
society and must make ceaseless efforts to achieve additional improvements in
our performance. We are committed to conscientiously making those efforts.

Our "next stage” of operations has just begun. Cur operations will not
undergo a sharp short-term change during the “next stage,” but we are con-
fident that IR East will dramatically change over the next decade or two in a
manner similar to its successful evolution over the past two decades, which
was very difficult for people to imagine 20 years ago. 50 it is that in fiscal
2008 we are taking the first steps toward another dramatic corporate trans-
formation over the long term, but we will be taking those steps carefully to
make sure that we have a solid footing.

JR East has been making in

implementing the New
Frontier 2008 medium-term
management plan.

R R R R N N L L L LY

JR EAST GROUP MEDIUM-TERM MANAGEMENT PLAN
New Frontier 2008: New Creation and Evolution {FY05-FY09)

Basic Management Policy (Three Reforms}) Creating New Customer Values {Six Challenges)

* B Continue relentless efforts to provide safe
and reliable transportation
Offering Services That

Reflect the Customer R |
Viewpoint einvent stations
Challenge curselves to

MEET Customer EXP'E’(&“*D"/? F' W Further enhance the convenience and camfort
/ of railway operations

» " Fulfilling Social ¢ M Grow non-transportation operations further
Building a Rabust Group Responsibitity and

Enhance the competitiveness Achieving Sustainable
and collective strength of . 4 . .
€ streng Growth ¢ W Enhance lifestyles through the Suica brand
the corporate group based Sustain carporate growth by
on self-reliant management ingi i

offering improved quality
of life

@8 Focus on research and development

Utilize the Synergies of the Group
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2008
New Frontier /£ |

Keyargets

Concrete Management Targets—aTh ree Benchmarks

To attain a total consolidated operating cash flow of

Manageh‘f‘ent 1 : | ¥2 tri I I io n for four years

Targets

JR East is simultaneously seeking to steadily reduce debt to increase the soundgness of
the Group's financial base and thereby enhance the Group's ability to achieve sus-
tained business growth, proactively make capital investments to generate majar busi-
ness benefits in the future, and increase sharehclder returns.

To lower the ratio of long-term debt 2 . 1
to shareholders’ equity to approximately

To further increase the soundness of its financial base, JR East is proactively reducing
debt, with the target of lowering the level of long-term debt to approximately two by
fiscal 2009.

To achieve a consolidated %

return on assets (ROA) of

To promote the JR East Group’s continued growth, JR East will work to make the
most of its assets, with the target of raising ROA to 6% by fiscal 2009.
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Concrete Environmental Targets—Three Benchmarks

t: JR East revised its environmental targets to coincide with the unveiling of New
§ ' Frontier 2008, raising the bar for several targets that were reached ahead of the orig-
i inal March 2006 deadline. In addition, JR East set out new environmental targets for
I the Group as a whole.

Key targets for fiscal 2009 are shown below.

Enwronmenta

!
i Total CO, emissions from general business activities

22% reduction
compared with...

Energy-saving railcars 82 O/
as a percentage of total rolling stock (o)

Recycling rate for waste 4 5 O/
generated at stations and on trains (0]
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Ratio of Operating Income to Average Assets (ROA) (%)
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'04 3
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Total €O, Emissions from
General Business Activities Milion 1ans-c0))
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Improved performance in transportation operations,
the Station Renaissance program, and other factors
have increased revenues, and JR East has moved
steadily ahead with cost-cutting measures. As a result,
consolidated cash flow from operating activities is
growing smoothly in line with plans, amounting to
¥541.9 billion in fiscal 2007.

Sustained efforts to reduce debt—along with a higher
fevel of profitahbility than originally projected, which led
to additional growth in shareholders’ equity—enabled
JR East to lower its ratio of total long-term debt to
shareholders’ equity to 2.4, This represents a signifi-
cant and steady strengthening of the financial base in
line with JR East's plans.

JR East’s assiduous efforts to increase the effectiveness
of its asset employment raised ROA to 6.2% in fiscal
2007.

The introduction of energy-saving railcars and the
promotion of comprehensive intermodal management
far freight shipments have reduced CO, emissions related
to electric power consumption. In this and other ways,
JR East is refentlessly striving to reduce its CO, emissions.

At the end of fiscal 2006, IR East had introduced 9,944
energy-saving railcars and increased the share of such cars
to 81%. Plans call for continuing to steadily introduce
additional energy-saving railcars and thereby reduce the
environmental impact of JR East’s operations.

The installation of separate trash receptacles for differ-
ent types of trash and the creation of recycling centers
have enabled JR East to be increasingly thorough in
separating the trash it collects. In this way, JR East is
earnestly working to make effective use of natural
resources.

¥ TR
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~ Principal-Businesses

Shinkansen Network

High-speed train services linking Tokyo
with major cities

Tokyo Metropolitan Area
Netwaork

Trains serving the Tokyo area, the
largest market in Japan

Intercity and Regional
Networks

Intercity transportation other than

the Shinkansen network and regional
transportation outside the Tokyo metro-
politan area network

Retailing

Retailing activities, such as kiosk out-
lets and convenience stores, at stations
and sales of snacks, drinks, and other
goods inside trains

Shopping Centers

Devefopment and leasing of space to
retailers and other tenants in shopping
centers at stations

Advertising and Publicity
Advertising and publicity in stations
and inside trains

Hotel Operations

Chain hotel businesses, including
Metropolitan Hotels and HOTEL METS
operated as part of the JR East Hote/
Chain

Information Services
Information processing, development,
operaticns, and support for Internet
businesses and related activities

Travel Agency Services
View Plaza travel agencies and other
outlets selling travel products

Bus Services
Bus services conducted in addition to
railway operations

Restaurants

Fast-food stores and a variety of
restaurants operated mainly at or
near stations

Office Buildings
Development and operation of build-
ings used primarily as office space

Credit Card Business

The View Card, a credit card that is
honored at stations, stores at stations,
hotels, shopping centers, and VISA, ICB,
or MasterCard card member merchants

Others

Wholesale, truck delivery, dleaning,
and other businesses




Va%

# Operating revenues
O Operaung income

JR East's 7,526.8km rail network {excluding
the Tokyo Monorail) covers the eastern half of
Honshu, including the Tokyo metropolitan
area. JR East operates a transportation busi-
ness whose mainstay service is passenger rail-
way transportation through the use of this
very profitable network. In fiscal 2007, trans-
portation operating revenues were ¥1,825.4
billion ($15,469 million) and operating income
was ¥319.0 billion ($2,704 million).

1,500

07

‘D@%

About 16 million passengers use IR East's sta-
tions every day. Station space utilization
offers retailing and restaurant services to
these customers through outlets at stations
and sales inside trains. Station space utiliza-
tion operating revenues were ¥400.0 billion
($3,390 million) and operating income was
¥33.2 billion ($282 million) in fiscal 2007.

I T i
‘07
f I i i |
0 10 20 30 40
# Operating revenues
(O Operating income e Operating revenues  {____ YOperating income
o JR East |eases space to retailers and other ten-
i ants in shopping centers and office buildings o O 30 100 150 200
’ developed on property already owned by ‘03

* Qperaling revenues
O Qperating Income

JR East within or near station premises
throughout its service area. Shopping centers
& office buildings operating revenues were
¥197.1 billion ($1,671 million) and operating
income was ¥58.6 billion ($497 mitlion} in
fiscal 2007.

‘06

‘a7

A%

% Operating revenues
O Operating income

JR East conducts a number of other business
activities, most of which are aimed at leveraging
the customer base at railway station and other
facilities of its core passenger railway transporta-
tion business. Major businesses in the other serv-
ices segment include advertising and publicity,
hotel operations, information services, credit
card business, and other services. Additional
activities include construction and car rentals. In
fiscal 2007, other services operating revenues
were ¥234.8 billion ($1,990 million) and operat-
ing income was ¥17.9 billion ($152 million).

‘06 L}M

‘07

s Operating revenues  ____1Operating income
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Transportation

Shinkansen Network

Competition with Airlines

- H ‘ T Time T  Number
O Tokyo-Aomori peaured ™ perpay
3.0 million passengers Mkushmmwn S5 w15 350 15J
Hachinghe) . :
peryear g Airraf {Misawa Airport) 3:18 | ¥28,940] 3
T Time T Humber [:]Tokyo.Akita 32% ircraft {Misawa Airport); 3 | ¥28,
Reguired per Day iy - - -- .
[ Akita Hybrid Stinkansen~ 3:50  ¥16,810 15 | 2.3 million passengers per Remad | Tare oo
Aircra (Akita Aiport) | 2:53 |¥24,110] 7 year Tohoku Shinkansen + o
: Tohoku Honsen (Apmori) 359 V16830 15
Aircraft(AomoriAirpon}I 258 |v28.780] 6
gt P oo

Joetsy Shinkansen + i
Uetsu Honsen 3:55 ¥13.880 7

Aicrat (shonai Aipor) | 2:38 |¥20,040] 4

é O Tokyo-5akata

5 .8 million passengers per year

0 Tokyo-Niigata 0.8 million passengers per year , O Tokyo-Yamagata

° - 2.5 million passengers per year

s 4.7 million passengers s1 agw R e - - fumber
| me umber

Z per year ] Required " perOay

>

g 2% Yamagata tid 230 V11,030 16

98% AirtrahtYamagaxaAirpen)l 2:48 IUB.OEDI 1

O Tokyo-Sendai
8.5 million passengers per year

Note: This informaticn is from the June 2007
JR timetable. "Time Required” is based on
the time it 1akes for a regular train operating
at maximum speed te reach the given desti-
nation. Aircratt times include the 53 minutes
it takes to travel from Tokyo Station to

For JR East, its Shinkansen services rank alongside its transportation

Haneda Airport using IR lines and the Tokyo services in the Tokyo metropolitan area as a mainstay business.
Monorait as well as the time it takes upon
arival Tor aTport buses 10 reach e desit JR East operates a five-route Shinkansen network that links Tokyo

nations. IR fares are for one-way, regular
fares, induding surcharges for reserved seat-
ing, Airfares are also for ane-way, regular
fares and are for the same month as the

IR fares, Specially designed hybrid Shinkansen trains—capable of running

with the regions of Tohoku, Joetsu, Nagano, Yamagata, and Akita.

on the tracks of conventional lines as well as Shinkansen lines—
serve the Yamagata and Akita regions.

In Japan, trains are generally considered superior to airplanes for
Passenger Kilometers and

Revenues from Passenger Tickets iMisons, Milions of ven) medium-to-long-distance trips of up to 750km in length. The dis-
0 4,000 8000 12006 16000 20,000 tance from Tokyo to the principal cities in JR East’s operating area
03 falls within this range, placing JR East in a superior competitive
| 04 position vis-a-vis airlines,
05 Moreover, JR East has relentlessly done its utmost to ensure the
o8 safety and dependability of its transportation services. JR East’s
07 . \ .
I | O SO Shinkansen trains have been only 30 seconds late on average since
0 100,000 200,000 300,000 400,000 500,000 . . . o
s— assenger kilometers === Revenues from passenger tickets the start of the service, and JR East is determined to sustain its out-

standing performance in providing dependable transportation.
18
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Increasing Transportation Capacity in Line with Seasonal Demand

Fluctuations

JR East faces sharp surges in demand for Shinkansen services during
major holiday periods—such as those of Golden Week, the Bon Festival,
and the end and start of each year—as well as during ordinary and three-
day weekends. The rise in demand at such times ranges from 140% to
180%, and JR East responds to these surges by increasing the number of
trains it runs to the maximum possible extent. JR East believes that the
principal missions of its Shinkansen operations include the mission of con-
tinually working to increase the number of passengers served, even if only

by a single passenger.

[ Enxileelz

FASTECH 360—Developing Bullet Trains with the World's Highest | FASTECH 3607 and 3605
Levels of Speed and Reliability :
JR East has moved ahead with the development of Shinkansen trains with

the technical goal of achieving operational speeds up to 360km/h and
" simultaneously attaining the world’s highest levels of speed, reliability,

speed test railcar prototypes, the FASTECH 3605, which has been under-
going operational trials since June 2005, and the FASTECH 3607 hybrid,
which has been undergoing operational trials since April 2006.

New eléctronic sch_edule i)oard installed at Tokyo
Station 1o augment capabilities for flexibly responding
to the addition of Shinkansen trains

Shinkansen Line Extensions

The Japan Railway Construction, Transport and Technology Agency (JRTT)
is constructing extensions to the Tohoku Shinkansen Line between
Hachinche and Shin-Aomori and to the Hokuriku Shinkansen Line
between Nagano and Kanazawa (Joetsu marks the limit of JR East’s serv-
ice area). The Hachinohe-Shin-Aomori segment is scheduled to be com-
pleted at the end of fiscal 2011, and the Nagano-Kanazawa segment is
expected to be finished by the end of fiscal 2015 (see page 52 for
details).

environmental compatibility, and comfort. IR East is developing two high-
19




Transportation

Tokyo Metropolitan Area Network

Enhanced Service on Conventional Lines around the Tokyo Metropolltan Area Network

. \(\/ p{
Mar. 2006: Reciprocal through  Oct. 2004: Green Cars on the Utsunomiya, :

operations with Tobu Railway Co., Ltd. Takasaki, and Shonan-Shinjuku lines

Bl T “—\_,—-':

Spnng 2007 Placing of Green
- Cars on the Joban Line |

o ]

4 Haijma ) £Y2010 (est.): Tohoku Through Line
5 . Tachikawd Nishi-Kokubunji i

g
v

I Hachigji

3
Oct. 2004: Increased frequency ~Shinagawa.
on the Shonan-Shinjuku Line

=

Dec. 2002: Through operations

FY2010 (est.): Opening of L 3 on the Saikyo and Rinkai lines

New Musashi-l(osugi Station

| \ a Airport Terminal 2

Through operations with

Sotetsu Line (planned) J& ' Mar 2007: Increased frequency
\ / Vokohama {——p)\) of the Tokyo Monorail

Seating service ] l Threugh operatmn

4 I
Shonan-Shinjuku Line f‘ OVERVIEW
Tokyo Monorail The Tokyo metropolitan area train line network boasts a
e Riiki Line (TWR) total route length of about t,100km, including numerous

lines that are within central Tokyo as well as those linking
central Tokyo with nearby suburban cities. Most of the
& 2 BE _ network is within a 100km radius of Tokyo Station.
Concept illustration of the Tohoku JR East accounts for nearly half of the Tokyo area’s huge,
Through Line highly profitable rail transportation market in terms of
passenger kilometers and operating revenues (see page
90 for details).

JR East has worked to strengthen its network without
undertaking large-scale capital investment projects, by
making the most of its existing infrastructure through
such measures as those 1o develop new routes that share
existing line segments with other services, increase the
number of trains, and lengthen trains. In the 20 years
since its establishment, JR East has increased its capacity

aaasaeann Johoku Through Line

Passenger Kilometers and
Revenues from Passenger Tickets (Milions, Millions of Yen)

0 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 . .
By by an amount roughly three times the average capacity
03 of its major Tokyo competitors. In these ways, JR East has
‘04 countered competition from growing subway networks
05 and other railway systems.
06 @LORIE] :
‘07 P Ne— | Green Cars—Extended Coverage Area and Added Value
b 250,000 500,000 750,000 1,000,000 Since JR East added double-decker Green Cars to local
ESE Passenger klometers (- Revenues from passenger tickets trains on sections of the Shonan-Shinjuku, Utsunomiya,
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and Takasaki lines in October 2004, this service has been highly evaluated
by passengers. Reflecting its policy of sustaining efforts to better meet
passengers’ seating needs and thereby improve its profitability, JR East
added Green Cars to local trains on an additional line—the Joban Line—
at the time of its March 2007 timetable revision.

Through Service—Increased Number of Shonan-Shinjuku Line
Trains and Limited Express Through Service

By sharing existing line segments with other services, JR East launched the
Shonan-Shinjuku Line in December 2001, The route has improved passen-
ger flow by eliminating the need to change trains when traveling
between suburban cities in the northern and southern districts of the
Tokyo metropolitan area.

Initially, the Shonan-Shinjuku Line carried only 25 round-trip trains a
day, but the number of such trains was raised from 38 to 64 in October
2004, reflecting particularly large increases in the number of trains run-
ning during morning and evening peak commuting periods. IR East esti-
mates that boosting the number of round-trips per day on this line had
the effect of increasing its revenues by approximately ¥2.3 biltion in fiscal
2006 and ¥1.0 billion in fiscal 2007,

Besides this, in March 2006, JR East and Tobu Railway Company co-
operatively initiated a limited express through service linking Shinjuku
Station with Tobu-Nikko and Kinugawa-Onsen stations. This new route
from western Tokyo, particularly popular on weekends and holidays, is
generating tangible benefits in stimulating greater tourism in the Nikko-
Kinugawa Onsen area.

Introduction of New Railcars

To further improve the convenience and amenity of its Tokyo metropoli-
tan area network, JR East is introducing new railcars developed with par-
ticutar emphasis on accident resistance, people friendliness, and improved
performance regarding information provision to passengers and other
railcar functions. Since December 2006, a growing number of these new
railcars have been placed in operation on the Chuo, Ome, and ltsukaichi
lines. The new cars feature backups for the main equipment to reduce
service disruptions. Moreover, to better meet the special needs of seniors,
women, and the physically challenged, the railcars’ priority seating areas
have been clearly marked through the use of contrasting colors in those
areas, and the heights of luggage racks and hand straps around priority
seating areas and in women-only railcars have been lowered. Information
display devices have been installed above each door to enable the initia-
tion of a service providing passengers with train schedule information,
news, and other information.

From sometime around autumn 2007, the new raiicars will be intro-
duced on the Keihin-Tohoku and Negishi lines, and plans call for the rail-
cars to be introduced to the Joban Local Line from sometime around
summer 2008.

[ Ouileaz

Tohoku Through Line Concept

JR East aims to establish a new through route by laying additionat double
tracks between Ueno Station—the terminus of medium-distance trains
arriving in Tokyo from the north—and Tokyo Station—the terminus of
medium-distance trains arriving in Tokyo from the south. The project is
expected to cost approximately ¥30 billion.

FERET T N

Limited express for the Nikko-Kinugawa Onsen area

New E233 series railcars
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Transportation

Intercity and Regional Networks

_Overview] _

Accounting for more than 70% of JR East’s total network, JR East's inter-
city and regional networks provide non-Shinkansen intercity services and
regional services not covered by the Tokyo metropolitan area network.
The intercity network mainly comprises limited express trains, and JR East
continues to upgrade services through such measures as those to intro-
duce new types of railcars and more convenient timetables.

JR East is working to progressively improve the business performance
of the regional network by scheduling services in line with trends in cus-
tomer needs as well as through such efficiency-boosting measures as
those to operate trains with only one crew member, reduce maintenance
costs, and introduce energy-saving trains.

Timetable Revision
In March 2007, JR East implemented a timetable revision and also initiat-
ed a mutual line-sharing arrangement with the railway that operates the
Sendai Airport Line. This service is expected to attract considerable
patronage by people using Sendai Airport and people living along the line
as well as customers and employees of Diamond City—one of the Tohoku
region’s largest commercial facilities—which is being constructed adja-
cent to a station on that line.

Responding to the Advent of the Car-Oriented Society

Particularly in rural areas, the advantages of automobiles are increasing,
due to highway construction and improvements in local road networks.
JR East is adapting to this and seeking new earning opportunities by
introducing diverse services that harmonize with road travel, such as park-
and-ride, bus, and rent-a-car services.

Introduction of the World's First Hybrid Railcars

From fiscal 2008, IR East will begin the commercial operation of the
world's first hybrid diesel/electric battery-powered railcars, which are
designed to reduce the environmental impact of the Koumi Line. In addi-
tion to being more fuel efficient and quieter than conventional energy-
saving railcars, a hybrid railcar’'s emissions are expected to contain
approximately 60% less NOx, graphite, and cther particulates. Seeking to
create systems that reduce the burden humankind places on the natural
environment, JR East is moving forward with R&D programs focused on
railcar fuel cell drive systems. Based on the results of these programs,
JR East intends to undertake the development of the world’s first hybrid
fuel cell railcars.

Passenger Kilometers and
Revenues from Passenger Tickets witions, Milions of Yen)

0 8,000 16,000 24,000 32,000
FY
‘03 N W SR
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0 100,00¢ 200,000 300,000 400,000
E— Passenger kilormetess ) Revenues from passenger tickets
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Travel Agency Services

[ Crerdiew

Unlike the business models of other travel agencies, JR East's travel :
agency business model calls for unearthing new tourist destinations,
developing related travel packages, and extensively advertising the travel o SOy~ .« ot
packages, thereby triggering “booms” that stimulate railway usage and Otana no Kyujitse Club poster
regional economies. During fiscal 2007, IR East marketed its travel pack- '
ages—View Travel Products—through IR East's View Plaza facilities within
train stations and also proactively expanded their marketing through such
additional channels as websites and other travel agencies. As a result, the
number of people using these packages surged 9.4% from the fiscal
2006 level, to 2.64 million.

(el

Appealing to Seniors—Otona no Kyujitsu Club

In view of Japan’s demographic graying, JR East is proactively working to
meet the needs of a target group of people in their 50s or older and
make them fans of JR East travel packages from as young an age as possi-
ble. As one means of doing this, JR East created two membership clubs—
Otona no Kyujitsu Club: Zipangu, for men aged 65 and older and women
aged 60 and older, and Otona no Kyujitsu Club: Middfe, for anyone aged
50 and older—and is working te increase the number of members, who
are all holders of IR East’s View Card credit card. Through newsletters and
other media, club members are directly offered discounts and member-
only tour packages that promote greater use of JR East rail services, and
they are also provided with information on diverse sales promotion cam-
paigns JR East carries out in cooperation with other companies. At the
end of June 2007, membership in the two clubs rose to 660,000,

Tourist trains near the scenic Shirakami Sanchi moun-
tain region

Tour Products That Increase the Vitality of Tourist Areas

The geographic area in which JR East conducts its operations is rich in
such diverse tourism resources as those related to history, culture, archi-
tecture, and festivals, and they include such registered UNESCO World
Heritage Sites as the Shirakami Sanchi mountain range and Nikko. JR East
cooperates with individual regions to develop their tourism resources and
creates and markets a wide variety of View tourism packages that help
augment the flow of tourists to those regions.

New Type of View Plaza Facilities

From April 2007, IR East opened new-type View Plaza facilities that com-
bine travel counters with JR Ticket Offices (Midori-no-Madoguchi), travel
service counters, and reserved seat ticket vending machines at the
Shinagawa, Kawasaki, Hachigji, and Nagaoka stations and four other sta-
tions. View Plazas created previously have contained only travel counters,
and the new facilities are working to create flexibly responsive systems
that quickly serve customers who are in a hurry to obtain tickets while
also enabling leisurely consulting with those customers who are seeking
assistance in making travel plans.
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Non-Transportation

Station Space Utilization

Station Renaissance—Future Development

() Omiya

Tabata
»

‘/é .
G
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Shinagawa
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e. Gishi-
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Funabashi

Station Opening Store Space
Ueno Feb. 2002 5,900m?
Fukushima Mar. 2004 900m?*
Mito Mar. 2005 1,900m?*
Cmiya Mar. 2005 4,900m**
Koriyama Mar. 2005 3,200m*
Nishi-Funabashi Mar. 2005 2,100m?
Utsunomiya Aug. 2005 1,500m?*
Shinagawa Oct. 2005 1,600m?
Takasaki Dec. 2005 2.000mi*
Phase [ Feb. 2006 600m?
Ofuna -
Grand opening Mar. 2067 | 1,100m?
Morioka Feb. 2006 4,100m2*
Koenji Mar. 2006 450m?
Tokyo Oct. 2007 1,500m?
Tachikawa Autumn 2007 4,100m?
Mitaka Winter 2007 1,500m?
Tabata Autumn 2008 1,800m:+

r. -
Nishi-Funabashi Station

Ofuna Station
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* Includes shopping center reconstruction
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As its stations—used by roughly 16 miltion
passengers a day—are its largest manage-
ment resource, JR East operates a wide
range of related businesses, including retail
outlets and restaurants, that enhance cus-
tomer convenience and comfort while rais-
ing profitability. Many of the stations have
high passenger volumes—88 stations were
used by more than 100,000 passengers
a day, including 35 used by more
than 200,000, in fiscal 2007. Given those
volumes, there is clearly significant poten-
tial for the further development of non-
transportation services.

[ venies )
ecute—Retailing Operations inside
Ticket Gates

As part of its Station Renaissance pro-
gram—a campaign designed to maximize
the appeal of stations, its key management
resource—IJR East is creating “station build-
ing shopping complexes” in unified spaces
inside ticket gates based on the new ecute
business model. IR East opened the first
such complex, ecute Omiya, in March
2005, followed by ecute Shinagawa, which
began operating in October 2005.




Both Omiya Station and Shinagawa Station rank among Japan's top
terminal stations—being used each day by approximately 460,000 and
610,000 passengers, respectively—and their ecute complexes are
designed to meet the needs of diverse customers. In addition, the com-
plexes are implementing various kinds of merchandising strategies based
on an integrated service concept and other features that create unified
commercial space. Measures are being taken to further increase the com-
plexes’ convenience and attractiveness through such initiatives as those to
enhance barrier-free characteristics and introduce environment-friendly
design themes, and the complexes have earned high evaluations from
customers.

in fiscal 2007, ecute Omiya generated ¥920 million in net sales, up
10.6% from fiscal 2006, and ecute Shinagawa recorded ¥710 million in
net sales, up 14.1%.

Station Retailing Operations

At the end of fiscal 2007, JR East’s station retailing operations other than
ecute complexes were centered on 777 LET'S KIOSK outlets, 172 NEW-
DAYS convenience stores, and 232 NEWDAYS MINI compact convenience
stores.

Convenience store operations are an extremely promising business for-
mat, with average daily store sales approaching those of major conven-
ience store chains in Japan. JR East is striving to step up the efficiency of
convenience store operations by further integrating product distribution
and other systems.

Regarding kiosk operations, JR East has begun seeking to strengthen
profitability through various reform measures, including those designed
to considerably lower personnel costs.

B

Station Renaissance Plans

ecute Tachikawa is scheduled tc open for business in October 2007 at
Tachikawa Station, which is a terminal station in western Tokyo used daily
by approximately 300,000 people. The project entails the development of
11,500m? of floor space, including areas outside ticket gates. Plans call
for creating stores specializing in such products as sweets and fashion
goods as well as coffee shaps, while also offering a day-care center and a
comprehensive medical clinic. The complex is projected to initially gener-
ate approximately ¥6.3 billion in annual sales.

In addition, JR East will begin operating the GranSta shopping complex
on the basement level within the concourse area of Tokyo Station in
October 2007. This complex is expected to have about 50 stores—includ-
ing a delicatessen, sweets shop, bakery, coffee shop, and grocery store—
with a total of 4,500m? of floor space. The complex is expected 1o record
roughly ¥5.6 billion in annual sales.

Concept illustration of ecute Tachikawa

Tokyo Station




Non-Transportation

Shopping Centers & Office Buildings
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JR East’s stations and surrounding property are assets with great poten-
tial, and JR East is seeking to make the most of this potential by develop-
ing diverse types of shopping centers—primarily facilities in the LUMINE,
atré, and S-PAL chains—that are designed to match the special character-
istics of each location and to wield powerful capabilities for attracting
customers.

Regarding office building development, JR East is concentrating prima-
rily on the development and management of office buildings that offer
extraordinary levels of convenience due to their direct links to train sta-
tions. JR East is devoting particular attention to large-scale urban space
and cityscape creation projects in the area around Tokyo Station, which is
used by 760,000 passengers a day. By constructing a state-of-the-art
business center in this area that effectively leverages the benefits of prox-
imity to the station building, IR East is preparing to provide highly func-
tional office space that meets diverse needs.

_ As of March 31, 2007, JR East operated 123 shopping centers and 18
Sapia Tower office buildings.

[ veplies

Opening of Sapia Tower

In March 2007, JR East completed the first element of the Tokyo Station
City project around Tokyo Station, Sapia Tower, a 35-story multipurpose
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building with four basement floors on the Nihombashi side {north side) of
the station. The tower includes office, conference, and hotel zones.

The tenants that have been moving into Sapia Tower since March
include companies, universities and other educational institutions, and
medical corporations. Some corporate tenants are moving their head
office to the building to take advantage of its outstanding location, while
many tenants intend to employ the building’s conferencing facilities for
business consulting, seminars, and recruiting activities. Sapia Tower will
also act as a knowledge exchange and information transmission hub due
to the many universities and other educational institutions taking up
occupancy, some of which will use space in the building as a Tokyo cam-
pus for graduate school courses or as an office that arranges collabora-
tion with industry and the government.

atré Ebisu

Reorganization Moves

In accordance with its efforts to increase the JR East Group's resource uti-
lization efficiency and optimize resource allocation through the imple-
mentation of “autonomy and collaboration” and “selection and
concentration” strategies, JR East has continued to move ahead with the
reorganization of shopping center and office development projects
through the creation of joint ventures. As of April 2006, JR East took a
further step in reorganizing its shopping center management operations
by creating two joint ventures with five participating companies.

—
Tokyo Station City
Beginning with the recent opening of Sapia Tower, the Tokyo Station City
development project has entered its full-scale commercial operations
stage. On the station’s Yaesu side (east side), JR East is collabarating with
four companies that own land in the area to develop twin 200m tow-
ers—GranTokyo North Tower and GranTokyo South Tower—and a sta-
tion-front plaza. These twin towers are scheduled to be completed in
October 2007, and plans call for completing the various other portions of
the development project in spring 2013.

The start of commercial operation of Sapia Tower, GranTokyo North
Tower, and GranTokyo South Tower is projected to generate approxi-
mately ¥11.5 billion in gross revenue during fiscal 2008.

Other Business Development
JR East is continuing to draft plans for future business development at
Shinjuku, Shibuya, and other terminal stations.

Concept iltustration of the future business develop-
ment of Shinjuku Station

3! -

7 = Suica Topics—Personal ID Confirmation Function

A newly developed Building Entrance/Departure Administration  such equipment as lighting, air-
Systerm employs the extremely high security capabilities of  conditioning, and elevators. The
Suica’s personal ID confirmation function. This system can be  system has already been installed
used to record the times of individuals’ arrivals at and departures  at such JR East office buildings as
from a building; to facilitate corporate personnel management  Sapia Tower, Shinagawa East
processes regarding employees’ working hours; and to control  Building, and the Tokyo Building. J
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Non-Transportation

Other Services—Advertising and Publicity

((Cariizw

The JR East Group’s transportation advertising operations mainly focus on
station concourses and railcars. In Japan, transportation facilities are a
major advertising medium, ranking higher than radio and below only tele-
vision, newspapers, magazines, and the Internet in terms of power.
Transportation advertising accounted for 4.2%, or ¥250.5 billion, of
the ¥5,995.4 billion that lapanese companies spent on advertising in
2006 {source: Dentsu Inc.). Transportation advertising is a unique adver-
tising medium in that it enables companies to repeatedly appeal to poten-

tial customers as they commute to work ar school and go about their

everyday business. In addition to selling conventional station poster and
signboard space, JR East is working to increase revenues by marketing
unused station spaces, such as floors and automatic ticket gates.

[ Vel & Cwidlleal:

Train Channel Video Advertising
Rolled out in April 2002, the E231 series railcars used on the Yamanote
Line feature two 15-inch monitors above each door, one of which dis-
plays updates on the train's progress and one of which shows sponsored
video content. Since October 2005, JR East has augmented the volume of
data presented and increased the speed of data transmission to the dis-
plays. These measures have made it possible to show a more diverse
range of sponsored video content. Since fiscal 2006, the introduction of
railcars on the Chuo Line with this video advertising system has expanded
the system’s audience, and railcars scheduled te be introduced on the
Keihin-Tohoku Line from the current fiscal year will also have this system.

New Media Employing New Technologies

As part of its strategy for developing and using new media that employ
new technologies, JR East has since December 2006 installed large video
monitors within Shinjuku Station and Shibuya Station for pilot operation
displaying sponsored video content distributed over the Internet. The pro-
grams displayed are edited to optimize the content shown at different
locations and times. In some cases, sponsored videc content from the
Train Channel is shown, but diverse tests are being conducted of the dis-
play of animated content, documentary videos, and other new kinds of
content as well as train-related information.

Railcar body agvertising

Video advertising system on the Chuo Line

95;@3/?,@’3 Suica Topics—SuiPo

SuiPo (Suica Poster) is @ new transportation advertising medium
enabling people to interact with wall posters in train stations and
other advertisements by using a Suica card and an Internet acces-
sible mobile phone. Since April 2007, JR East has expanded the
application of SuiPo technology at lkebukuro, Tokyo, Shibuya,
Uero, and Shimbashi stations. After registering their Suica cards

and telephones for the SuiPo system, people can obtain emailed
information related to products and services by simply touching

their cards or Mobile Suica phones
to readers adjacent to the posters.
The system is a promising new
advertising medium, and the
scope of its application is expected
to continue growing.
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Non-Transportation

Other Services—Hotel Operations

JoYEview]

IR East operates several types of hotels, including city, business, and long-
stay hotels. As of March 31, 2007, JR East had a total of approximately
5,000 guest rooms in 39 hotels,

The core of the Group’s hotel operations is its nine Metropolitan
Hotels, which are city hotels situated mainly in the Tokyo metropolitan
area and at major terminal stations in regional cities. Their prime locations
near stations give these hotels a competitive advantage, and they also
offer a well-balanced array of sophisticated accommaodation, restaurant,
and reception facility services.

HOTEL METS are lodging-oriented business hotels offering comfort-
able, reasonably priced rooms comparable to those of city hotels. As of
March 31, 2007, there were 18 HOTEL METS in operation {including
those operated by franchisees), primarily in the Tokyo metropolitan area.
Almost all of those hotels are either directly linked with or close to stations.

Since April 1, 2007, JR East has worked to build a more-efficient
management organization and to bolster competitiveness by reorganizing
the Group company that manages hotels in the Tokyo metropolitan area.

| Vepiss

Metropolitan Hotels

In May 2007, Hotel Metropolitan Marunouchi began operating with
approximately 350 single and double guest rooms occupying the upper
stories of Sapia Tower, which was completed in March 2007 as part of
the Tokyo Station City development project. Situated in the Marunouchi
district—one of Japan’s premier business districts—this sophisticated
hotel is providing customers with high-grade lodging services whife also
making use of its location near Tokyo Station to flexibly provide business-
people with diverse services.

HOTEL METS Chain

In March 2007, JR East opened the 110-room HOTEL METS Koenji at
Koenji Station, which is used daily by approximately 100,000 IR East pas-
sengers. This hotel is the 18th facility in JR East's growing HOTEL METS
chain. In addition to use by businesspeople, the new hotel is expected to
be used as a community gathering place and as a guesthouse for people
living nearby. In spring 2008, HOTEL METS Tachikawa is scheduled to
open at Tachikawa Station.

Hotel Construction in the Marunouchi Building Portion of

Tokyo Station

On the Marunouchi side {(west side) of Tokyo Station, JR East is imple-
menting a project aimed at preserving and refurbishing the historic
Marunouchi Building and creating a station-front plaza area. Construction
work in the building is progressing steadily and expected to he completed
in fiscal 2012, Plans call for creating a new hotel worthy of occupying the
Marunouchi Building, which is an important part of Japan's cultural her-
itage as well as being the symbolic face of Japan’s most central railway
station.

i — oy

Entrance of Hotel Metropolitan Marunouchi

Executive twin rocm in Hotel Metropolitan Marunouchi
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S%ZC@; the Next Step

-

Overview

In November 2001, JR East launched the Suica next-generation fare card system emplaying IC cards. Since Suica

imately 30 million.
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mem R East’s Shinkansen lines
~— Tokaido Shinkansen
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" ience by expanding the usage area to include the

Okayama, and Hiroshima areas from March 2008.

service was begun, JR East has steadily increased its convenience through such measures as those to expand the
geographic usage area and add new Suica shopping (electronic money) services and Mobife Suica services. From
March 2007, interchangeable IC fare card service was begun by transportation companies in the Tokyo metro-
politan area, making it possible to pay fares for almost all rail and bus routes in the region with a single Suica or
PASMO card. In the near future, the total number of Suica and PASMO cards in use is expected to reach approx-

Future Development

- Point-Card Service:

From June 2007, an exchangeable point-card service will be offered in
connection with Suica shopping (electronic money) services. Initially,
approximately 3,100 shops and restaurants will participate in the point-
card service. Users can use their accumulated paints to pay train and bus

fares as well as for shopping and other applications.

Expansion of Usage Area:
Suica can currently be used in the Tokyo metropolitan area, Sendai area,

%ﬁta area, and Kinki region, and plans call for incre*%#Rgger conven-

Mobile Suica Use for Shinkansen Services:

From March 2008, the scope of Mobile Suica usage will b Rg#fied to ,

include JR East’'s Shinkansen lines (the Tohoku, Joetsu, Nagano,
Yamagata, and Akita lines) as well as thé Tokaido Shinkansen Line
(between Tokyo and Shin-Osaka).

* Since january 2006, Suita services have been supplemented by Mobife Suice services that employ the display and com-

munications functigns of mobile telephones, As of March 31, 2007, the number of Mabie Suica users was approximately
430,000
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Safety

Since its founding, JR East has positioned “safety” as its top-priority management objective and made diverse
efforts to promote greater safety in its operations. The JR East Group has worked concertedly to build safety-
promotion systems, aiming to be the No. 1 railway in the world with respect to safety. Within a list of key man-
agement objectives in the New Frontier 2008 medium-term business plan, the objective of "constantly striving to
ensure the safety and stability of transportation operations” is at the top, and JR East has been taking numerous
additional safety-enhancing initiatives during the past four years in accordance with its five-year Safety Plan 2008.

Safety Plan 2008

Aiming 1o attain ever higher levels of safety, JR East has since its incor-
poration continually drafted and implemented safety plans. These plans
and the uplifted safety consciousness of each of its employees have
enabled IR East to reduce the number of railway accidents to approxi-
mately one-fourth the level immediately following JR East's incorpora-
tion. The safety plans have entailed safety-related investments with a
cumulative value in excess of ¥1.9 trillion, accounting for over 40% of
the parent company's total capital investments. Since March 2004, JR
East has been implementing Safety Plan 2008, which has the target of
“reducing accidents causing injuries to and fatalities of our customers
and employees to zero.” Based on this plan, JR East is moving ahead
with efforts to reconfirm all aspects of its safety systems, including the
most fundamental features, and rebuild those parts of the systems that
can be improved.

Safety Management

increasing safety requires capabilities for correctly examining accidents
and potential accidents, accurately determining the causes, and thor-
oughly implementing countermeasures. JR East is building manage-
ment systems designed to ensure that these processes are consistently
and effectively carried out.

JR East’s safety promaotion system for railway operations centers con
the Railway Safety Promotion Committee, which is chaired by a vice
president, and aiso includes the Transportation Reliability/Stability
Improvement Committee, which is seeking to build systems that sup-
port railway service of the highest quality. The JR East Group also is
working to improve its JES-Net25 system, which covers the operations
of 25 Group companies engaged in construction work or other busi-
ness that has a direct impact on railway operations.

Safety Plan 2008

: H i
Pricrity-improvement
: plan for safety equipment
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Zero

Safety enhancement

Reducing accidents causing injuries to
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Safety Research System

Another part of JR East's effart to attain higher levels of safety is the
Company’'s R&D programs aimed at creating diverse new kinds of safety
technologies and systems. The JR East Research and Development Center
conducts research related to human factors involved with railway safety
and research designed to clarify derailment mechanisms for Shinkansen
and other kinds of trains and come up with countermeasures. It also
works to develop specific safety measures, such as engineering methods
for reinforcing elevated railway track supports and other earthquake
countermeasures. Following the tragic accident on the Uetsu Line, JR East
established a Disaster Prevention Research Laboratory within the Research
and Development Center. This laboratory has the mission of helping pre-
vent railway disasters due to natural phenomena by conducting research
programs related to such natural phenomena as strong winds and earth-
quakes as well as programs aimed at devising countermeasures.

Safety Education

The JR East General Education Center and the training centers of each
branch office regularly implement educational and training courses relat-
ed to safety systems, safety rules, and other safety-related issues. In addi-
tion, as part of its efforts to make learning the lessons of past accidents
an integral part of its corporate culture, JR East has established an
Accident History Exhibition Hall within the JR East General Education
Center,

Creating a Safety-Oriented Culture

To help a safety-orienied culture sink deep roots in all workplaces, JR East
organizes an ongoing Challenge Safety program that encourages all
employees to take note of safety issues evident in the course of their daily
work, discuss countermeasures and set related action targets, implement
effective countermeasures, and then address additional issues. In addi-
tion, JR East arranges the Head Office Safety campaign, which helps facili-
tate direct discussions between top executives and frontline employees,
and the annual Raifway Safety Symposium, which endeavors to infuse the
other safety programs with new ideas that generate still higher levels of
productive dynamism. Moreover, because the cooperation of passengers
and local communities is a crucial requirement for comprehensive railway
safety, JR East implements such programs as Platform Safety campaigns,
which promote safety on railway platforms and in other parts of stations,
and Raifway Crossing Accident Prevention campaigns, which encourage
drivers and pedestrians to emphasize safety when traversing railway
crossings.

Upgrading Safety Equipment

Safety Plan 2008 calls for the investment of ¥400 billiocn over a five-year
period with the objective of preventing major accidenis. These invest-
ments include those to accelerate the implementation of earthquake
countermeasures based on lessons learned from the Niigata Chuetsu
Earthquake and other temblors, the installation of Automatic Train Stop
devices (ATS-P and ATS-Ps types) that prevent train collisions, and the
steady installation of other key safety equipment. Plans call for imple-
menting ¥145.0 billion in safety-related investment during fiscal 2008.

PrEny S s '- L~ x
Sensar mai for halting train movement when a pas-
senger has fallen from a platform onto the track

area.

Raitway Crossing Accident Prevention campaign
poster

Reinforcement of supports for elevated Shinkansen
tracks
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Corporate Social Responsibility

Reflecting Japan’s history of railway construction pursued as a means of promoting social progress, the JR East
Group's core railway operations have extremely strong ties with Japanese society on both national and local levels.
In view of this, the JR East Group strives to contribute to society through its business operations and to develop its
operations while cultivating a corporate culture that gives strong emphasis to corporate social responsibility.

What is the JR East Group's ideal role in society and what kind of social contributions should the Group
make? The IR East Group’s social mission is clearly described in the Group Philosophy, which specifies that the
Group should be a “Trusted Life-style Service Creating Group” that seeks sustained business development in
step with customer needs and generates profit while fulfilling its social responsibilities.

By developing its operations in accordance with its Group Philosophy and Action Policies, JR East is striving to
live up to the trust and expectations of society and stakeholders.

SGa Wastfaives

Day Care and Nursing Care Services near Stations
Along with its Station Day Care facilities for children, the JR East Group is
proactively cooperating with local governments and other entities to develop
Station Nursing Care facilities for seniors, in response to the growing needs
associated with Japan's demographic graying. These facilities, all conveniently
located near train stations, provide users with confidence and peace of mind. e _
As of April 2006, JR East had established 18 Station Day Care facilities and 3 The Seiga Day Care Center is conveniently located

. . s adjacent to the Saikyc Line. JR East has established
Station Nursmg Care facilities. eight such day care centers along the Saikyo Line,

. . . . which it is aiming to make "an easy line to live along
Cooperation with Overseas Railway Companies for child-raising,”

Having concluded technical cooperation agreements with railway companies
in Germany, Italy, and France, JR East is exchanging R&D and business man-
agement information with those partners and is undertaking temporary
employee exchanges with the goal of promoting cooperation over the long
term. JR East is also exchanging technical, management, and other kinds of
information with railway companies in Asian countries as a means of con-
tributing to railway development in those countries.

In addition, JR East is an official member of Union Internationale des
Chemins de Fer (UIC), an organization that facilitates international cooperation ::aia;\;';]{:meggigc‘u’iiZ"é:::iﬁ';":ih":;:’a‘;gs
among railway companies around the world. JR East takes part in various UIC UIC's international activities.
initiatives and conferences that aim to promote the future development of
railways by addressing a range of technological, managerial, and social issues.

East Japan Railway Culture Foundation

In 1992, JR East established the East Japan Railway Culture Foundation, which
has the objective of continuously undertaking social contribution programs.
The programs include those to support railway-related contributions to region-
al culture and undertake railway-related surveys, research, and international
cultural exchanges.

Concept illustration of the Railway Museum

Railway Museum

The construction of a railway museum is the flagship project among plans for the 20th anniversary of JR East’s incorpora-
tion. The East Japan Railway Culture Foundation is constructing the museum on land that JR East owns in the city of
Saitama, and plans call for opening the facility on October 14, 2007. 1t is expected that ¥2.6 billion of the ¥12.4 billion
total project cost will be covered by contributions from Saitama’s municipal government and other project spensors.
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@BRvironmental Initiatives

Environmental Targets of New Frontier 2008
JR East has set a number of environmental targets to be attained by fiscal
2009. In light of the considerable progress already made regarding previous
targets to be attained during fiscal 2006, JR East revised its environmental tar-
gets in January 2005 at the time the New Frontier 2008 plan was announced.
The ambitiousness of several existing targets was increased, and new environ-
mental targets were set for the Group as a whole, CO, emissions perform-
ance deteriorated during fiscal 2006, but this reflected the impact of the
October 2004 Chuetsu Earthquake centered on Niigata Prefecture, which
depressed the output of a JR East hydroelectric power generating facility by
about half during the fiscal year and necessitated the increased use of a
JR East thermal power generating facility. Repairs to the hydroelectric facility
were completed in March 2006, enabling JR East to eliminate the impact of
the earthquake on its fiscal 2007 environmental performance.

Key targets are shown below.
JR East (Parent Company)

FYQ6 Performance FY09 Target

Totat CO, emissions from general
business activities (change from FY91)

Energy-saving railcars as a percentage

7% reduction 22% reduction

of total rolling stock 81% 82%
Recycling rate for waste generated
at stations and on trains 47% 45%

JR East Group

FY06 Performance FY09 Target (%)

Recyding rate for general waste 42% 43%
Recycled paper as percentage of
office paper used 52% 100%

Tree-planting activities — Annual implementation

Groupwide Environmental Management Systems

IR East has established its Committee on Ecology to handle such processes
as assessing the environmental impact of JR East’s operations, setting envi-
ranmental impact targets, implementing environmental policies, and moni-
toring progress in implementing those policies. Since fiscal 2004, the JR East
Group has confirmed the direction of its environmental policies based on
meetings of the JR East Group Environmental Management Advancerment
Conference, in which representatives of all Group companies participate,

JR East Earns Minister of the Environment Award for Global
Warming Mitigation Activities

In recognition of its development and introduction of E231 series energy-
saving railcars and implementation of the Railway Lines Afforestation Program,
JR East was awarded the Ministry of the Environment Award for Global Warming
Mitigation Activities in two award categories—" countermeasure technology intro-
duction and application” and "countermeasure activity performance.”

Minister of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology
Award at the 16th Annual Global Environment Awards

In recognition of its efforts to reduce the energy used for train operations
through such measures as the development and intreduction of energy-
saving railcars and diesel hybrid railcars and research and development
regarding fuel cell hybrid railcars, JR East was awarded the Minister of
Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology Award.

LIRS P DA

During the 15 years through fiscal 2007, roughly
36,000 people participated in JR East’s Railway Lines
Afforestation Program and planted 360,000 trees
along IR East’s railway lines.

E231 series energy-saving railcars, mainly used
as commuter or suburban trains in the Tokyo metro-
politan area

WIR BB L EEHR

-

Minister of the Environment Award Ceremony

E R S
Minister of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and
Technology Award Ceremony

35



-
‘£
B
-1

i
i
e

ta
£
B
.
=
]
=

36

Corporate Governance

@RE4st’'s Corporate Governance Philosophy

To continue to be a company trusted by its shareholders and
all other types of stakeholders, JR East has made the
strengthening of its corporate governance a top-priority
management task.

Specifically, with a view to augmenting the soundness and
transparency of management, JR East is creating appropriate
systems for management decision making, operational exe-
cution and auditing, Group management, information dis-
closure, and other important matters while also
implementing the various measures required in connection
with those systems.

Because of the special characteristics of JR East's main-
stay railway transportation operations, JR East emphasizes
the making of management decisions based on a long-term
perspective. Accordingly, JR East believes the most appropn-
ate course is to enhance corporate governance based on its
current auditor system of governance.

3t Status of Corporate Governance Units
ernal Control Systems

Overview of Corporate Governance Units

JR East's Board of Directors comprises 24 directors, including
2 outside corporate directors. Meeting once a month in prin-
ciple, the Board of Directors decides on key operational
issues relating to statutory requirements and other maiters
and supervises overall operations. Created by the Board of
Directors, the Executive Committee includes all directars with
executive functions. Meeting once a week in principle, the
committee deliberates matters to be decided by the Board of
Directors and other important management issues. In addi-
tion, the Group Strategy Formulation Committee, which
mainly consists of directors with executive functions, consid-
ers management strategy for respective operational areas
and other significant Group issues with a view to developing
the JR East Group as a whole.

The Board of Carporate Auditors comprises five corporate
auditors, including two full-time corporate auditors and four.
outside corporate auditors. In accordance with guidelines
established by the Board of Corporate Auditors, the corpo-
rate auditors supervise directors’ implementation of opera-
tions by attending meetings of the Board of Directors, the
Executive Committee, and other committees and by making
inguiries regarding JR East’s operations and assets.

Creation of Internal Control Systems

JR East's basic policy regarding internal control systems and

its progress in creating such systems are as follows:

1) Systems to ensure that corporate officers and
employees perform their duties in accord with rele-
vant laws and regulations as well as with the articles
of incorporation

a. To promote rigorous legal compliance and high corporate

ethical standards, IR East and its consolidated subsidiaries

{hereinafter Group companies) have drafted their Legal

Compliance and Corporate Ethics Guidelines, which serve as

corparate action guidelines for the JR East Group, and dis-

tributed handbooks that explain conduct standards in con-
crete terms to each corporate officer and employee.

b. JR East's Legal Department and Administration

Department handle overall control over horizontally integrat-

ed compliance matters throughout the Company.

¢. A unit has been established to provide compliance-related

advice and receive whistle-blower reports and other reports

related to compliance issues.

d. With respect to internal audits, a supervision system has

heen established to ensure the appropriateness and efficien-

cy of operational execution.

2) Preservation and administration systems for informa-
tion related to directors’ performance of their duties

Documents related to directors’ perfarmance of their duties

are appropriately preserved and administered in accordance

with relevant laws and internal regulations. Directors and
auditors can view these documents whenever necessary.

3) Risk management rules and

East Japan Railway Company
| Génerdl Meeting of Shareholders

systems
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b. With regard to the risk of a significant adverse influence
on corporate operations due to such incidents as external
offenses or internal scandals and legal violations, all JR East
departments undertake risk management activities. In addi-
tion, JR East has established a Crisis Management
Headquarters as well as crisis management related internal
regulations. In the event of a problem, IR East's crisis man-
agement system calls for top management to participate in
the immediate establishment of a preliminary task force that
rapidly takes such actions as those to gather relevant infor-
mation and implement countermeasures.
4) Systems for promoting directors’ efficient perform-
ance of duties
a. To promote efficiency in JR East’s operations, internal reg-
ulations have been established that allocate authority by
clearly defining the authority and roles of each unit.
b. To increase the transparency of the New Frontier 2008
medium-term management plan, which articulates common
goals for the entire JR East Group, and to promote the effi-
cient implementation of measures to attain the plan's objec-
tives, action programs have been established for each
organizational unit. Progress in action pregram implementa-
tion is periodically evaluated as a means of promoting the
efficient implementation of strategic measures.
5) Systems for promoting operational propriety
throughout the JR East Group
a. The Group companies have drafted the Legal Compliance
and Corporate Ethics Guidelines, which serve as corporate
action guidelines with regard to legal compliance and corpo-
rate ethics, and distributed handhooks that explain conduct
standards in concrete terms to each corporate officer and
employee. In addition, an external compliance consultation
and reporting unit has been established to serve the entire IR
East Group.
b. The Group companies have established risk management
units as well as regulations and other provisions related
to risk management. In the event of a problem, these
regulations call for the immediate establishment of a
preliminary task force that rapidly takes such actions as those
to gather relevant information, report such information to
the parent company when appropriate, and implement
countermeasures.
¢. To promote operational propriety throughout the JR East
Group, JR East participates in the management of Group
companies by dispatching directors to those companies and
by other means. In addition, JR East’'s Inquiry & Audit
Department performs audits of Group companies at regular
intervals. .
6) ltems related to employees who assist corporate
auditors in the performance of their duties
Specialized staff are assigned to the Corporate Auditors
Office to assist corporate auditors in the performance of their
duties. This is a system designed to increase the efficiency of
audits and enable audits to be performed smoothly.

7) Independence from directors of employees who
assist corporate auditors in the performance of their
duties

The staff of the Corporate Auditors Office are to only follow

instructions from the corporate auditors and are not subject

to orders from directors or other employees.

8) Systems for directors and employees to report to cor-
porate auditors and other systems for reports to cor-
porate auditors

For items that Beard of Directors’ requlations stipulate are to
be decided by the Board, deliberation standards have been
established, and these standards provide for appropriate
deliberations to be conducted at Board meetings. The nature
of important items other than those that regulations stipu-
late are to be decided by the Board may also be confirmed at
meetings of the Board and of the Executive Committee.

9) Other systems for promoting the effective perform-
ance of corporate auditors’ audits

The corporate auditors hold meetings at regular intervals

with the president and the independent financial audit com-

pany to exchange information and opinions.

Systems for Internal Audits, Corporate Audits, and
Accounting Audits
Regarding internal audits, JR East has established an internal
auditing system involving approximately 100 fulf-time
employees in the Inguiry & Audit Department at its Head
Office and Inquiry & Audit divisions at branch offices, and
these units work to ensure that corporate operations are
executed appropriately and efficiently. Audits are implement-
ed based on plans prepared at the beginning of fiscal years,
requests are made for the submission of progress updates
for items requiring improvement, and the audit results are
reporied to representative directors at the end of fiscal years
and at other times deemed necessary. In addition, the
Inquiry & Audit Department audits Group companies.
Regarding corporate audits, corporate auditors exchange
information at monthly meetings of the Board of Corporate
Auditors, and they also exchange auditing information with
corporate auditors of Group companies at liaison meetings
held at regular intervals. The audits of corpaorate auditors are
supported by approximately 10 specialized staff. The system
for the oversight of directors’ implementation of operations,
carried out in accordance with rules established by the Board
of Corporate Auditors, centers on full-time corporate audi-
tors who attend meetings of the Board of Directors, the
Executive Committee, and other important in-house meet-
ings and also investigate financial situations and other items,
Regarding accounting audits, the accounts of JR East are
audited under contract by an independent auditor (account-
ing auditar), KPMG AZSA & Co., at the end of each fiscal
half year and fisca! year. The following is a breakdown of the
certified public accountants who conducted audits in the fis-
cal year under review as well as the auditing assistants.
« Designated certified public accountants: Masanori Sato,
Toshio keda, and Mamoru Takamura

S
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= Breakdown of auditing assistants: Certified public account-
ants: 13; junior certified public accountants: 14; other: 4

JR East facilitates coordination and information sharing to
promote efficient and effective auditing. For example, full-
time corporate auditors and the director responsible for
internal auditing units hold monthly liaison meetings, and
full-time corporate auditors receive regular updates on audit
implementation from the accountiing auditor five times a
year and at any other time deemed necessary.

Overview of Relationships between the Company and
Outside Corporate Directors and Auditors, Including
Personnel, Capital, and Other Business Relationships
The outside corporate directors and the outside corporate
auditors have no business relationship with JR East.

ate of Risk Management Systems

) bt a
JR East has established a Transporiation Operation Center
that operates 24 hours a day and has the task of ensuring
rapid and appropriate responses in the event of an accident
or disaster in railway operations. JR East has also established
specialized internal committees focused on maintaining safe-
ty and on improving safety—the Safety Promotion
Committee and the Transportation Reliability/Stability
Improvement Committee,

With regard to the risk of a significant adverse influence
on corporate operations due to such incidents as external
offenses or internal scandals and legal violations, all JR East
departments undertake risk management activities. In addi-
tion, JR East has established the Crisis Management
Headquarters as well as crisis management related internal
regulations. In the event of & prablem, JR East's crisis man-
agement system calls for top management to participate in
the immediate establishment of a preliminary task force that
rapidly takes such actions as those to gather relevant infor-
mation and implement countermeasures.

fsation of Directors and Corporate Auditors

In fiscal 2007, JR East paid the following compensation to

directors and corporate auditors.
{Number ci recipients)

Directors (24): ¥ 923 million
Corporate auditors {5): ¥ 118 million
Total {29): ¥1,041 millich

Notes: 1. The above total sum was paid to all those eccupying the position of director and cor-
porate auditor on and subsequent to the day following the 19th Regular General
Meeting of Shareholders, held on June 23, 2006.

2. The compensation amount for directors and corporate auditors determined at the 20th
Regular General Meeting of Shareholders, heid on June 22. 2007, was ¥243 milion
{including ¥219 million for directors and ¥23 million for corporate auditors),

3. The above total sum includes ¥126 mitlicn in campensation for cutside directors.

35ation of Independent Auditor

For fiscal 2007, JR East paid compensation of ¥126& million
($1 million) to KPMG AZSA & Co. for services provided pur-
suant to article 2, paragraph 1, of the Certified Public
Accountant Law. Further, JR East paid compensation of ¥50
million ($424 thousand) for other services in fiscal 2007.

nber of Directors

IR East’s articles of incorporation stipulate that the number
of IR East’s directors shall be 30 or less.

[ditions for Determining the Selection
ctors

The conditions stipulated by IR East’s articles of incorpora-
tion for resolutions are a quorum of shareholders with one-
third or more of voting rights and the approval of the
resolution by shareholders with more than half of those vot-
ing rights.

itions to Be Decided by the
Gl.Shareholders’ Meeting That May Be
ed-by the Board of Directors

Acquisition of Treasury Stock

In accordance with article 165, paragraph 2, of the
Company Law, JR East's articles of incorporation provide for
the acquisition of treasury stock through market transactions
and other means based on a resolution of the Board of
Directors. This is designed to enable the execution of flexibte
capital policies that respand to current and future changes in
the operating environment.

Interim Dividends

JR East’s artictes of incorporation stipulate that interim divi-
dends based on article 454, paragraph 5, of the Company
Law may be paid to shareholders and pledgees as of the end
of September 30 of each year in accordance with resolutions
of the Board of Directors. This is designed to enable the flexi-
ble execution of measures to distribute profit to share-
holders.

ons for Special Resolutions
:General Shareholders’ Meeting

The conditions stipulated by JR East’s articles of incorpora-
tion for resolutions based on article 309, paragraph 2, of
the Company Law are a quorum of shareholders with one-
third or more of voting rights and the approval of the
resolution by shareholders with two-thirds or more of those
voting rights. These conditions are designed to promote the
smooth and efficient functioning of the general sharehold-
ers’ meetings.

poer

With regard to information disclosure, JR East is proactively
engaged in advertising and investor relations programs. By
making use of its website and other media, JR East is striving
to increase the volume of information disclosed, ensure that
information disclosure is timely, and otherwise improve its
information disclosure.




Organization

(As of July 2007}
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Planning Dept.

=) Investment Planning Dept.

=} Technology Planning Dept.

Development Headquarters

="} International Dept.

=3 Marketing Dept.

) Customer Service Dept.

=) Transport Safety Dept.

=) Transport & Rolling Stock Dept.
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Development Headquarters
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Network System Dept.

==") Information Systems Planning Dept.

=) Tokyo Branch Office
=={") Yokohama Branch Office
=) Hachioji Branch Office
=) Omiya Branch Office
=) Takasaki Branch Office
=) Mito Branch Office

=) Chiba Branch Office

Sendai Branch Office
Yamagata Branch
Fukushirma Branch
-(2 Marioka Branch Office
Aomori Branch

=) Akita Branch Office

. 2 Niigata Branch Office
Niitsu Relling Stock Plant

=) Nagano Branch Office

=) Shinkansen Transport Dept.

) JR Tokyo General Hospital

—) Research & Development Center of JR East Group
mmsnn’_) (verseas Qffices (New York, Paris)

) JR East General Education Center

—) R East Health Promotion Canter

o 2 Tokyo Construction Office
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=) Tokyo Electrical Construction
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() Tohoku Construction Office
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Board of Directors and Corporate Auditors

(As of July 2007)
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VICE CHAIRMAN

Yoshio Ishida

Technology and Overseas Related
Affairs

PRESIDENT AND CEO
Satoshi Seing”

EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENTS
Nobuyuki Hashiguchi
Railway Operations Headquarters;
Construction Department

Nobuyuki Sasaki
Life-style Business Development
Headquarters

Tetsujiro Tani*
Corporate Planning Headquarters

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Yoshiaki Arai

Life-style Business Development
Headquarters

Tetsuro Tomita

Corporate Planning Headguarters,

Perscninel Department;
Health & Welfare Department

Headquarters;

Railway Operations Headquarters;
Transport Safety Department,
Raitway Operations Headquarters;
Transport & Roffing Stock
Department,

Raiway Operations Headquarters

Masahiko Cgura

Railway Operations Headquarters;
Technology Planning Department,
Corporate Planning Headquarters,
Facilities Department,

Railway Operations Headguarters;
Electrical & Signal Network Systerm
Department, Railway Operations
Headquarters;

Research & Devefopment Center of
JR East Group

Kazuyuki Kogure

CFO

Public Relations Departrment;
Finance Department;

Legal Department,
Admirvstration Department
Yoichi Minami

Railway Operations Headquarters;
inquiry & Audit Department;

Customer Service Department,
Railway Operations Headgquarters

Hiroyuki Nakamura
Tokyo Branch Office

DIRECTORS

Katsumni Asai

Life-style Business Development
Headquarters

Tsugio Sekiji

Transport & Roffing Stock
Department,

Railway Operations Headguarters

Toru Owada

Management Planning Department,

Corporate Planning Headquarters
Sefichiro Qi

Facifities Department,

Railway Operations Headquarters

Yoshitaka Taura
Sendai 8ranch Office

Yuji Fukasawa
Personnel Department;
JR East General Education Center

Chairmar Vice Chairman fresigent-and CEO
: Nobuyuki Hashiguchi Nobuyuki Sasaki Tetsujiro Tani
2 Executive Vice President Executive Vice President Executive Vice President
‘E‘ Railway Operations Headguarters Life-style Business Development Corporate Planning Headquarters
Tonslruclion Department REFHGUATETS
2
3
R CHAIRMAN Masaki Ogata Marketing Department, Isac Iwasaki
Mutsutake Otsuka IT & Suica Business Development Railway Operations Headquarters, Tokyo Station

Yasuo Hayashi

Construction Department
Shigeru Tanabe

Marketing Department,

Railway Operations Headquarters
Yuji Morimoto

Adrministration Department

Takeshi Inoo™?
Takeshi Sasaki?
FULL-TIME CORPORATE

AUDITORS
Toshiaki Omaori?

Jiro Bando™
CORPORATE AUDITORS

Kiyoshi Uetari
(Attorney)

Tsutoo Matsumoto™
{Certified Public Accountant)

Kiyomi Harayama
*1 Representative direcior

*2 Quiside corporate director
*3 Qutside corporate auditor




i c
- Eleven=Yea Summary .........................................................................................
M%nageme
.COMsD |dat§d Statem‘ents of Sharehotders' Equity/
7 ¢ omSohda Ed! Statements of Changes in Net Assets
i1 1Co nSolldatqd Statbments of Cash Flows ..........
% (N&tésito Gonsolidated Firiancial Statements
_?‘_1.' ’iﬁ;_fjlependegt Audltors REPOM .ot
] b v
RLE B SO q Q
LI .; |
.fi%' I . |
'i' Elé-, . . i:» '
.{! b KR |
s :
11 ' ;
{1 |
i
i
R




Eleven-Year Summary

East Japan Railway Company and Subsidiaries
Years ended March 31

1997 1998 1999 2000
Operating results .
Operating reVENUES ..o oo 2,513,790 2,514,808 2,483,594 2,502,909
Operating eXPenSes. ..o oiririieaeie e 2,097,388 2,146,109 2,149,122 2,160,952
Operating income 368,699 334,472 341,957
NET INCOMIE Lo ittt ettt e e eeeee e \ 66,235 21,929 66,963
Segment informationt*”
Operating revenues from outside customers:
Transportation.........ccoccoiiiiee e N/A N/A N/A N/A
Station space utilization ... eeee e N/A N/A N/A N/A
Shopping centers & office buildings N/A N/A N/A N/A
Other SEIVICES..... v ieeeeceee e e N/A N/A N/A N/A
TOtal o N/A N/A N/A N/A
Segment informationt*?
Operating revenues from outside customers:
TranspOrtatioN ... 1,855,994 1,836,237 1,808,925 1,799,051
Merchandise sales 363,403 365,964 356,260 379,213
Real estate leasing 144,927 154,905 158,515 143,432
Other SEMVICES ... e 149 466 157,702 155,894 181,213
TOMAl e e 2,513,790 2,514,808 2,483,594 2,502,909
Financial position
TOtal ASSBLS ..oiiiiiie e e 7,384,463 7,381,794 7,287,033 7,308,391
Long-term debt (including current portion) ... 2,223,163 2,285,063 2,320,246 2,319,664
Railway facilities purchase liabilities
{including current POTtIONF* ¥ ..o e, 2,812,547 2,713,737 2,610,966 2,499,023
Total long-term debt (sum of two items above) ................. 5,035,710 4,998,800 4,931,212 4,818,687
Shareholders’ equity™ ... 719,510 765,424 766,880 856,401
Cash flows™*®
Cash flows from operating activities ............cccceen, 497,242 410,662 365,296 474,715
Cash flows from investing activities ... {419,923} {379,156) (282,082) (292,438)
Cash flows from financing activities...............c..cooe. (77.,240) (52,674) (72,298) (168,133}
Per share data
EBININGS .o 17,665 16,559 5,482 16,741
Shareholders’ equity™*.. 179,878 191,356 191,720 214,100
Cash dividends ™ .. 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000
Ratios
Net income as a percentage of revenues ... 2.8 2.6 0.9 2.7
Return on average equity (ROE) ..., 10.2 8.9 29 83
Ratio of operating income to average assets (ROA)............ 57 5.0 4.6 4.7
EQUItY Fati0. ... oo 9.7 10.4 105 1.7
Total long-term debt to shareholders’ equity .................... 7.0 6.5 6.4 5.6
Other data
DEPrediation ..ot e e 283,711 319,687 329,583
Capital expenditures™? . 268,425 258,080 288,106
INTErESt EXPENSE ...iiiviiiccreiris it oot , 243,017 230,887 220,421
Number of consolidated subsidiaries (As of March 31)...... 73 80 81 96
Number of employees™® ... 89,593 89,008 87,880 82,747

=1 The business segmentatian was changed to four new segments beginning with the year ended March 31, 2002. The information for the year ended March 31, 2001, has
been reclassified according to the new business segmentation.

*2 Real estate leasing was separated from other services beginning with the year ended March 31, 1998.

*3 Long-term liabilities incurred for the purchase of the Tohoku and Joetsu Shinkansen facilities, the Akita hybrid Shinkansen facilities, and the Tokyo Moncrail facilities

*4 Sharehokders' equity equals total net assets less minority interests beginning with the year ended March 31, 2007 (as in the balance sheets; see Notes 2 (1), 2 (18), and
2 {17) to consolidated financial statements).

*5 Due to a change in accounting standards, statements of cash flows after the year ended March 31, 2000, use presentation methods different to those of previous years.

5 The total amount of dividends for the year ended March 31 comprises interim dividends for the interim period ended September 30 and year-end dividends for the year
ended March 31, which were decided at the shareholders” annua! meeting in June.

*7 These figures exclude expenditures funded by third parties, mainly governments and thair agencies, which will benefit from the resulting facilities,

»8 Beginning with the year ended March 31, 2000, “Number of employees” excludes employees assigned to other companies and employees on temporary leave.

*9 Upon the merger of the Japan Railways Group Mutual Aid Association into the Welfare Pension, the Company shared the shortage of the assets to be transferred amount-
ing to ¥77,566 million. This was paid in a lump sum and was accounted for as a long-term prepaid expense incluced in the “Other” item of “Cther Assets” on the bal-
ance sheets and was charged to income from the year ended March 31, 1998, to the year ended March 31, 2002, on a straight-line basis.
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Millions of Yen (except for Per share data, Ratios, Number of consolidated subsidiaries, and Number of employees)

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
2,546,041 2,543,378 2,565,671 2,542,297 2,537,481 2,592,393 2,657,346
2,222,290 2,227,038 2,222,576 2,190,877 2,178,946 2,196,293 2,229,248

323,751 316,340 343,095 351,420 358,535 396,100 428,098

69,174 47,551 $7,986 119,866 111,592 157,575 175,871

1,801,370 1,789,599 1,800,434 1,798,132 1,781,776 1,805,406 1,825,387
348,994 368,553 368,961 366,438 369,790 383,904 399,998
165,818 165,276 170,321 175,180 181,956 190,466 197,140
229,859 219,950 225,855 202,547 203,959 212,617 234,821

2,546,041 2,543,378 2,565,671 2,542,297 2,537.481 2,592,393 2,657,346

1,805,663 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
386,033 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
152,438 N/A NFA N/A N/A NAA, N/A
201,907 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

2,546,041 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

7,247,089 7,022,271 6,853,403 6,781,692 6,716,268 6,821,584 6,968,032

2,307,483 2,060,838 1,942,983 1,840,321 1,940,255 1,960,211 2,034,558

2,392,241 2,318,997 2,174,581 2,034,203 1,892,827 1,743,657 1,601,646

4,699,724 4,379,835 4.117,564 3,974,524 3,833,082 3,703,867 3,636,204
923,568 930,746 981,856 1,300,176 1,183,546 1,357,359 1,488,554
455,470 455,045 433,304 387,061 467,737 447,722 541,850

(266,319) {105,645) (196,422) (234,591) (214,948) (309,489) (348,800)
{161,109) (433,589) {310,658} (196,193) (209,041) {141,599) (172,027)
17,294 11,888 24,453 29,928 27,868 38,370 44,008
230,892 232,687 245,463 275,052 296,106 339,599 372,493
5,000 5,000 8,000 6,000 6,500 8,000 9,000
2.7 19 3.8 4.7 4.4 6.1 6.6

7.8 5.1 10.2 11.5 9.8 12.4 12.4

4.4 4.4 49 5.2 5.3 5.9 6.2

12.7 133 14.3 16.2 17.6 19.9 214

51 47 4.2 3.6 3.2 2.7 2.4
329,651 321,995 322,564 322,300 317,957 316,038 318,526
296,957 301,781 307,579 313,911 319,912 361,372 413,310
205,155 187,601 173,298 160,944 148,431 136,548 131,376
96 101 101 98 92 86 85
82,285 80,200 78,760 77.009 74,923 72,802 71,316

*10 Net income decreased significantly in the year ended March 31, 1998, mainly because “Cash charges for additional cbligation related to transfer to Welfare Pension”
was accounted for in “Gther Expenses”. This additicnal obfigation of ¥70,475 million, including the interest portion, was paid in accordance with the enactment of the
taw for Disposal of Debts and Liabilities of the Japanese National Railways Settlement Corporation.

*11 Beginning with the year ended March 31, 1999, the declining balance methed has generally been applied with respect to depreciation for structures related 1o
Shinkansen railway fixtures. The straight-line method had been applied prior to the year ended March 31, 1999,

*12 Accounting Standards for Financial Instruments were adopted beginning with the year ended March 31, 2001.

*13 Tax effect accounting was adopted beginning with the year ended March 31, 2000.

*14 Accounting Standards for Retirement Benefits were adopted beginning with the vear ended March 31, 2001. {See Notes 2 (9) and 15 to consolidated financial state-
ments)

*15 Accounting Standards for impairment of Fixed Assets were early adopted beginning with the year ended March 31, 2005. (See Notes 2 (15) and 10 to consolidated
financial statements)
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-looking statements in the following discussion
and analysis are judgments of JR East as of March 31,
2007.

KEY ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

JR East prepares financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.
Forward-tooking estimates included in those financial
statements are based on a variety of factors that, in light
of JR East's past performance and current circumstances,
can be reasonably assumed to have affected results for
assets and liabilities on the consolidated settlement date
and consolidated revenues and expenses in fiscal 2007,
ended March 31, 2007. IR East continuously assesses
those factors. Actual results may differ materially from
those estimates, given the uncertainty of forward-looking

statements.

Operating Income
(Billions of Yen)

Cperating Revenues
{Billions of Yen)
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PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS

fi@verview

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2007, despite a
weakening in personal consumption seen in the latter half
of the year, the Japanese economy remained on a recov-
ery trend as private capital investment continued to rise,
supported by strong corporate performance. Amid these
economic conditions, East Japan Railway Company and its
consolidated subsidiaries as well as associated companies
accounted for under the equity method (hereinafter, IR
East) worked aggressively to further the development of
their operations by upgrading transportation services and
actively developing non-transportation activities centered
on stations, while also proactively working to expand the
usage scope and quality of services related to Suica elec-
tronic money card services.

As a consequence, increases in the operating revenues
of all business segments brought an increase of 2.5% in
total operating revenues from the previous fiscal year, to
¥2,657.3 billion ($22,520 million}, and operating income
expanded 8.1%, to ¥428.1 billion ($3,628 mitlion). Net
income increased 11.6%, to ¥175.9 bitlion ($1,490 mil-
lion), supported by gains from the sale of fixed assets and

other factors.

fiegment Information

Transportation

JR East worked to further enhance safety, focusing prima-
rily on railway operations. At the same time, the Company
worked to encourage rail travel and to increase revenues
from its Shinkansen network and Tokyo metropolitan area

network.




Specifically, JR East actively developed travel products to
take full advantage of the cooperative operation of limited
express trains running on tracks of the Company and Tobu
Railway Co., Ltd., introduced during the previous fiscal
year. JR East also implemented campaigns to promote sea-
sonal travel to various destinations—such as the To Aizu
This Summer 2006 Campaign and the Chiba Destination
Campaign—which were aimed at promoting the flow of
tourists to specific regions. In activities related to the
Otona no Kyujitsu Club, JR East promoted business tie-ups
with a broad range of financial institutions and other types
of companies 1o offer a wider spectrum of services and
worked to expand the number of club members. Other
initiatives included the implementation of two timetable
revisions and the March 2007 addition of Green Cars
{first-class cars) to the Joban Line as well as the initiation
of a mutual line-sharing arrangement with the railway that
operates the Sendai Airport Line upon the opening of that
line. Also, JR East began to make Suica IC cards inter-
changeable with other cards in the PASMO IC card system
in the Tokyo metropolitan area. In bus operations, operat-
ing conditions continued to be harsh, but IR East worked
to strengthen the foundation for these operations by
introducing new routes, closing unprofitable routes, and
other initiatives. In monorail operations, JR East inau-
gurated the Haneda Express new rapid service between
Hamamatsucho Station and Haneda Airport Terminal 1
Station and otherwise worked to improve the convenience
of accessing Haneda Airport.

As a result of these efforts, railway network transporta-
tion volumes increased, and operating revenues expanded
1.1 %, to ¥1,825.4 billion ($15,469 million). Operating
income advanced 7.2%, to ¥319.0 billion ($2,704 million).

Station Space Utilization
JR East proceeded with the implementation of its Station
Renaissance program, which aims to create new station
environments suited to the 21st century. Specific initiatives
included the opening of the second and third phases of
the Dila Ofuna project in Kanagawa Prefecture, following
the opening of the first phase in the previous fiscal year,
and the imglementation of a station space development
project at Takadanobaba Station. In addition, JR East
increased the number of NEWDAYS convenience stores
and undertook refurbishment and business stimulation
promotion projects at existing stores in that chain. A new
company aimed at unifying JR East's beverage procure-
ment operations and other objectives, JR East Water
Business Co., Ltd., was established and began operating.
Along with the positive effects of these initiatives and
new revenues from the opening of the ecute Shinagawa
store in Tokyo, which was opened in the previous fiscal
year, operating revenues increased 4.2%, to ¥400.0 billion
{$3,390 million). Operating income grew 9.1%, to ¥33.2
billion ($282 million).

Shopping Centers & Office Buildings

In shopping center operations, IR East refurbished Box Hill
Matsudo and atré Ebisu and, at these and other shopping
centers, actively worked ta recruit powerful tenants with
the ability to attract customers.

Measures to restructure Group companies and
strengthen the Group's marketing capabilities and finan-
cial position in this business included twec mergers involv-
ing five shopping center management companies. These
were the merger of LUMINE Co., Ltd., with Shinjuku
Station Building Co., Ltd., and the amalgamation of
Hachioji Terminal Building Co., Ltd., Kokubunji Terminal
Building Co., Ltd., and Kofu Station Building Co., Ltd. In
addition, the My City shopping center began operations
anew as LUMINE EST with operations in Tokya.
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As a result of these and other initiatives, operating rev-
enues increased 3.5%, to ¥197.1 hillion ($1,671 million),
and operating income was up 8.9%, to ¥58.6 billion
{3497 miillion).

Other Services
In hotel operations, JR East opened HOTEL METS Koenji in
Tokyo and continued its program of activities to improve
competitiveness through the refurbishment of guest
rooms and banguet halls. In advertising and publicity oper-
ations, JR East moved forward with initiatives to expand
sales of transportation-related media, focusing on in-car
visual advertising. Among other services, JR East opened
Tokyo's largest-scale fitness club, Jexer Fitness & Spa
Ueno, and worked to expand sales of equipment and
other items aimed at the commencement of joint use of
its IC card with PASMO. In credit card business, JR East
strove to expand the number of holders of Otona no
Kyujitsu Club: Zipangu cards and various other cards.
Regarding Suica electronic money cards for shopping, the
start of interchangeable service with the PASMO card sys-
tem broadened the scope of usage during the fiscal year,
and JR East also worked proactively to expand Suica use in
urban shops and elsewhere. At the end of the fiscal year,
the number of outlets accepting Suica IC cards had risen
tc approximately 12,700.

Accordingly, operating revenues of this segment rose
10.4%, to ¥234.8 billion ($1,990 million), and operating
income surged 15.6%, to ¥17.9 billion (§152 million}.

{©Qperating Income

Operating expenses increased 1.5%, to ¥2,229.2 hillion
(18,892 million), and operating expenses as a percentage
of operating revenues was 83.9%, compared with 84.7%
in the previous fiscal year. Transportation, other services
and cost of sales advanced 1.0%, to ¥1,718.6 billion
($14,564 million). Although personnel expenses
decreased, the rise in transportation, other services and
cost of sales reflected an increase in nonpersonnel expens-
es due to such factors as a rise in the cost of sales that
accompanied growth in the net sales of consolidated sub-
sidiaries. Selling, general and administrative expenses were
up 3.2%, to ¥510.7 billion ($4,328 million), reflecting an
increase in nonpersonnel expenses.

Consequently, operating income surged 8.1%, to
¥428.1 billion {$3,628 million), and coperating income as a
percentage of operating revenues was 16.1%, compared
with 15.3% in the previous fiscal year.

f#Other income (Expenses)

Other income increased 39.8%, to ¥144.1 billion {31,221
million), owing to a rise in gains on investments in invest-
ment funds as well as such factors as growth in gain on
sales of fixed assets and in construction-work-related

income.




Other expenses rose 15.7%, to ¥265.5 billion ($2,250
rnillion). Contributing factors included growth in losses for
redemption of bonds and in construction-work-related
advanced depreciation deduction as well as a loss associat-
ed with the large number of employees who retired dur-
ing the fiscal year.

Interest and dividend income and other financial
income, net of interest and dividend expense and other
financial expenses, amounted to a ¥129.4 hillion {$1,097
million} expense, an improvement of 3.9% from the previ-

ous fiscal year.

[income before Income Taxes

Income before income taxes grew 13.7%, to ¥306.7 bil-
lion ($2,599 million}. Income before income taxes as a per-
centage of operating revenues was 11.5%, compared
with 10.4% in the previous fiscal year.

[ Net Income

Net income advanced 11.6%, 10 a record high ¥175.9 bil-
lion ($1,490 million). Earnings per share rose from
¥39,370 in fiscal 2006 to ¥44,008 ($373). Net income as a
percentage of operating revenues grew from 6.1% in the

previous fiscal year t¢ 6.6%.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
{-Cash Flows B
Net cash provided by operating activities was up ¥94.1 bil-

lion, to ¥541.9 billion ($4,592 million), primarily reflecting
a rise in income before income taxes.

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to
¥348.8 billion ($2,956 million), ¥39.3 billion more than in
fiscal 2006, due to such factors as an increase in payments
for purchases of fixed assets.

Capital expenditures were as follows: Regarding trans-
portation operations, capital expenditures were made to
maintain and renew transportation facilities, with an
emphasis on safety measures, develop transportation
capabilities, and improve passenger services. In station
space utilization, capital expenditures were centered on
Station Renaissance program measures to create commer-
cial facilities at Takadanobaba and Ofuna stations. In
shopping centers & office buildings, capital expenditures
primarily comprised the construction of Sapia Tower and
such construction projects on the Yaesu side of Tokyo
Station as the GranTokyo North Tower Phase 1 project and
GranTokyo South Tower project. In other services, capital
expenditures primarily focused on the construction of
HOTEL METS Koenji and HOTEL METS Tachikawa.

In addition, free cash flows increased ¥54.8 hillion, to
¥193.1 billion {$1,636 million).

Net cash used in financing activities increased ¥30.4 bil-
tion, to ¥172.0 billion ($1,458 million), mainly owing to a
net decrease in commercial paper and a rise in the payments
for bond redemption compared with the previous year.

Consequently, cash and cash equivalents at end of
year, which were ¥64.4 billion at the end of fiscal 20086,
rose ¥22.6 hillion, to ¥87.0 billion {$737 million).

Cash Flows from
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L_Financial Policy

Total long-term debt at the end of fiscal 2007 amounted
to ¥3,636.2 billion ($30,815 million), due to long-term lia-
bilities incurred for the purchase of railway facilities associ-
ated with JR East’'s assumption of Shinkansen railway
facilities and other facilities, bonds, and long-term loans.

Long-term liabilities incurred for the purchase of railway
facilities associated with JR East's assumpticn of
Shinkansen railway facilities are paid in equal semiannual
installments, consisting of principal and interest payments,
and are divided into the following three tranches:

a. ¥847.8 billion {37,184 million) payable at a variable
interest rate (@annual interest rate in fiscal 2007: 4.33%)
through March 31, 2017.

b. ¥372.4 billion ($3,156 million) payable at a fixed annual
interest rate of 6.35% through March 31, 2017,

¢. ¥353.1 billion {($2,993 million) payable at a fixed annual
interest rate of 6.55% through September 30, 2051.

In addition, at fiscal year-end, JR East had long-term lia-
bilities incurred for the purchase of railway facilities of
¥16.9 hillion {($143 million) for the Akita hybrid Shinkansen
and ¥11.5 billion ($97 million) for the Tokyo Monorail,

Total Long-Term Debt

(Billions of Yen)
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Since fiscal 1998, JR East has made annual early repay-
ments of long-term liabilities incurred for the purchase of
railway facilities associated with JR East’s assumption of
Shinkansen railway facilities based on an agreement with
the Japan Railway Construction, Transport and Technolagy
Agency. JR East made early repayments of ¥42.3 billion
($359 million) in fiscal 2007.

In fiscal 2002, JR East introduced a cash management
system that integrated the management of the Group's
cash and funding, which previously was carried out sepa-
rately by subsidiaries, with the aim of reducing JR East's
total long-term debt. Also, JR East is enhancing capital
management methods that include offsetting internal set-
tlements among subsidiaries and consolidating payments
by subsidiaries. .

In the year ended March 31, 2007, JR East issued four
unsecured straight bonds, with a total nominal amount of
¥50.0 billion {($424 million) and maturities from 2016
through 2026. Rating and Investment Information, Inc.
(R&I), a Japanese rating agency, rated these bonds AA+.
Qverseas, JR East issued two euro pound bonds with a
total nominal amount of £600.0 million (¥130.8 bil-
lion/$1,109 million) and maturities from 2031 through
2034. IR East's ratings for these bonds from Standard &
Poor’s and Maody’s were AA- and Aa2, respectively.

In order to respond to short-term financing require-
ments, JR East has bank overdraft facilities with its princi-
pal banks totaling ¥300.0 hillion ($2,542 million). R&! and
Moody's rated JR East's commercial paper a-1+ and P-1,
respectively, as of the end of fiscal 2007. JR East had no
outstanding commercial paper and no bank overdrafts on
March 31, 2007. JR East does not maintain committed
bank credit lines (a financing framework that permits
unrestricted borrowing within contract limits based on cer-

tain conditions).




Operational and Other Risk Information

The following are issues related to operational and
accounting.procedures that may have a significant bearing
on the decisions of investors. Forward-looking statements
in the following section are based on the assessments of
JR East as of March 31, 2007.

LEGAL ISSUES RELATING TO OPERATIONS

As a railway operator, JR East manages its operations pur-
suant to the stipulations of the Railway Business Law. IR
East is generally excluded from the provisions of the Law
for Passenger Railway Companies and Japan Freight
Railway Company (JR Law).

However, IR East is required to manage its operations in
accordance with guidelines relating to matters that should
be considered for the foreseeable future that are stipulat-
ed in a supplementary provision of the amended JR Law.

Details of relevant laws are as follows.

{:The Railway Business Law (1986, Law No. 92)

Under the Railway Business Law, railway operators are
required to obtain the permission of the Minister of Land,
Infrastructure and Transport (MLIT) for each type of line
and railway business operated (article 3). Operators receive
approval from the MLIT for the upper limit of passenger
fares and Shinkansen limited express surcharges. Subject
to prior notification, railway operators can then set or
change those fares and surcharges within those upper lim-
its {article 16). Operators are also required to give the MLUT
advance notice of the abolishment or suspension of rail-
way operations. If an operator intends to eliminate or sus-
pend railway operatians, the operator must give prior
notification 1o the MLIT. in the case of eliminating opera-
tions, the notice must be given at least one year in
advance (article 28, items 1 and 2).

EThe JR Law (1986, Law No. 88)

Aim of the Establishment of the JR Law

Prior to amendment, the JR Law regulated the investments
and the establishment of JR East, Hokkaido Ratlway
Company, Central Japan Railway Company {JR Central),
West Japan Railway Company (JR West), Shikoku Railway
Company, Kyushu Railway Company, and Japan Freight
Railway Company (IR Freight) and included provisions on
the operational purposes and scopes of those companies.
In addition to the provisions of the Railway Business Law,
the JR Companies are subject to provisions of the JR Law
that require the approval of the MLIT with respect to sig-
nificant management decisions. Also, under the JR Law,
preferential measures were applied to the JR Companies,
such as those entitling holders of the bonds of the
JR Companies to preferential rights over the claims of

unsecured creditors {(general mortgage).

Amendment of the JR Law

{a) A partial amendment of the JR Law (amended JR Law)
enacted on December 1, 2001 (2001, Law No. 61),
excluded JR East, JR Central, and JR West {the three JR
passenger railway companies on Japan’s main island)
from the provisions of the JR Law that had been appli-
cable to them until then.

{b) Further, the amended JR Law enables the MLIT to issue
guidelines relating to matters that should be consid-
ered for the foreseeable future with respect to the
management of the railway operations of the three JR
passenger railway companies on Japan's main island
(the new companies), including any additional compa-
nies that may become involved in the management of
all or a part of those railway operations as a result of
assignations, mergers, divisions, or successions as des-
ignated by the MLIT on or after the date of enactment
of the amended IR Law {(supplementary provision,
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article 2, item 1}. Those guidelines were issued on
November 7, 2001, and applied on December 1, 2001.

{c) The guidelines stipulate items refating to the foliowing
three areas:

« [tems relating to ensuring alliances and cooperation
among the companies (among the new compantes or
among the new companies and JR Companies) with
respect to the establishment of appropriate passenger
fares and surcharges, the unhindered utilization of
railway facilities, and other factors relating to railway
operations

ltems relating to the appropriate maintenance of rail-

way routes currently in aperation reflecting trends in

transportation demand and other changes in circum-
stances following the restructuring of the Japanese

National Railways (JNR) and items relating to ensuring

users’ convenience through the development of sta-

tions and other railway facilities

* [tems stating that the new companies should give
consideration to the avoidance of actions that inap-
propriately obstruct business activities or infringe
upon the interests of small and medium-sized compa-
nies operating businesses in the operational areas of
the new companies that are similar to the businesses
of the new companies

{d) The MLUIT may advise and issue instructions 1o the new
companies to secure operations that are in accordance
with those guidelines (supplementary provision, article
3). Moreover, the amended JR Law enables the MLIT to
issue warnings and directives in the event that opera-
tional management runs counter to the guidelines
without any justifiable reason (supplementary provi-
sion, article 4).

(e} With respect to the provisions of those guidelines, JR
East has always given, and of course will continue to
give, adequate consideration to such items in the man-
agement of its operations. Therefore, JR East does not

anticipate that those provisions will have a significant
impact on its management.

() In addition, the amended IR Law includes required tran-
sitional measures, such as the stipulation that all bonds
issued by the three JR passenger railway companies on
Japan’s main island prior to the amended JR Law's
enactment date are and will continue to be general
morigage bonds as determined in article 4 of the IR
Law (supplementary provision, article 7).

{g) With respect to the stocks of the three JR passenger
railway companies on Japan's main island held by the
Japan Railway Construction Public Corporation (JRCC),
which subsequently merged to form the Japan Railway
Construction, Transport and Technology Agency (JRTT),
the MLIT proposed plans in the Diet for the staged sale
of those stocks following the enactment of the amend-
ed JR Law, in the light of stock market trends. Based
on those plans, the JRCC sold 500,000 shares of
JR East’s common stock on June 21, 2002. As a result,
JR East finally achieved full privatization.

ESTABLISHMENT OF AND CHANGES TO FARES

AND SURCHARGES

The required procedures when JR East sets or changes
fares and surcharges for its railway operations are stipulat-
ed in the Railway Business Law. Changes ic those proce-
dures or the inability to flexibly change fares and
surcharges based on those procedures for whatever rea-
son could affect JR East's earnings. Details of those proce-

dures are as follows.

(‘System for Approval of Fares and Surcharges

The Railway Business Law stipulates that railway operators
are required to obtain the approval of the MLIT when setting
or changing the upper limit for passenger fares and
Shinkansen limited express surcharges (fares and surcharges)
(Railway Business Law, article 16, item 1). Subject to prior




notification, railway operators can then set or change fares
and surcharges within those upper limits, including limited
express surcharges on conventional lines and other charges
(Railway Business Law, article 16, items 3 and 4).

Although the JR passenger railway companies can revise
fares independently, a system was created among those
companies when JNR was restructured to ensure the con-
venience of users. At present, contracts among those
companies enable the realization of total fares and sur-
charges for passengers or packages requiring services that
span two or more such companies. In addition, the JR pas-
senger railway companies have established a system in
which the fares and surcharges decrease relatively as dis-

tance traveled increases.

[ JR East’s Stance

(a) JR East has not raised fares since its establishment in
April 1987, other than to reflect the consumption tax
introduction (April 1989) and revision (April 1997).

Through efficiently securing revenues and reducing
expenses, JR East has worked to create a management
base that is nat dependent on raising fares, However, if
JR East were unable to secure appropriate profit leveis
as a result of such factors as changes in the operating
environment, it would view the timely implementation
of fare revisions as necessary ta secure appropriate
profit levels.

(h) With the efficient management of operations as a pre-
condition, JR East believes securing a profit level that
enables capital expenditure for the future and the
strengthening of its financial position—in addition to the
distribution of profits to shareholders—to be essential.
JR East primarily undertakes capital expenditure, which
has a significant impact on the capital usage of railway
operations, with a view to establishing a robust manage-
ment base threugh ensuring safe, stable transportation,

offering high-quality services, and implementing other

measures. Further, JR East appreciates the need to
independently conduct capital expenditure based upon

clearly defined management responsibitity.

Stance of the Ministry of Land, Infrastructure
and Transport

With respect to the implementation of fare revisions by

JR East, the position of the MLIT is as follows.

(a) The MLIT will approve applications for the revision of
upper limits of fares from railway companies, including
from JR East, upon conducting inspections to deter-
mine that fares do not exceed the sum of reasonable
costs and profits, based on the efficient management
of those companies (total-cost) (Railway Business Law,
article 16, item 2). In addition, a three-year period is
stipulated for the calculation of costs.

(b) Even if the railway operator has nonrailway businesses,
the calculation of total-cost—which comprises reason-
able costs and reasonable profits, including required
dividend payments 1o shareholders—is based only on
the operator’s railway operations.

Further, operators are required to submit their capi-
tal expenditure plans for increasing transportation serv-
ices to ease crowding of commuter services and for
other improvements in passenger services. The capital
usage necessary for such enhancements is recognized
in the calculation of total-cost.

{c) Total-cost is calculated using a “rate base method”
that estimates the capital cost (interest payments, divi-
dend payments, and other costs) arising from a fair and
appropriate provision of return, based on the cpportu-
nity cost concept, in relation to the capital invested in

correspanding railway operations.

The calculation of total-cost is as follows:
= total-cost = operating cost' + operational return

 operational return = assets utilized in railway business
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operations (rate base) x operational return rate

= assets utilized in railway business operations = railway
business operations fixed assets + construction in
progress .+ deferred assets + working capital?

» operational return rate = equity ratio® x return rate on
equity* + borrowed capital ratio® x return rate on bor-

rowed capital*

Notes: 1. With respect to comparable costs among railway operators, in order to
promote enhanced managernent efficiency, a “yardstick formula” is used
to encourage indirect competition among respective operators. The results
of those comparisons are issued at the end of every business year and
form the basis for the calculation of costs.

. Working capital = operating cost and certain inventories

. Equity ratio 30%; borrowed capital ratic 70%

4. Return rate on equity is based on the average of yields on public and cor-
porate bonds and the overall industrial average return on equity and divi-
dend vield ratio. Return rate on borrowed capital is based on the average
actual rate on loans and other liabilities.

Lo ba

(d) Subject to prior notification, railway operators can set
or change fares and surcharges within the upper limits
approved along with other charges. However, the MLIT
can issue directives requiring changes in fares and sur-
charges by specified terms if the fares and surcharges
submitted are deemed to fall within the following cate-
gories (Railway Business Law, article 16, item 5):

* The changes would lead to unjustifiable discrimination in

the treatment of certain passengers.

* There is concern that the changes would give rise to

unfair competition with other railway transportation

operators.

PLAN FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF
NEW SHINKANSEN LINES
@Construction Plans for New Shinkansen Lines

New Shinkansen lines are those lines indicated in the plan
for the Shinkansen line network that was decided pur-
suant to the Nationwide Shinkansen Railway Development
Law (1970, Law No. 71). Finalized in 1973, that plan
called for the development of the Tohoku Shinkansen Line
(Morioka~-Aomori), the Hokuriku Shinkansen Line
(Tokyo-Nagano-Toyama-Osaka), the Kyushu Shinkansen
Line (Fukuoka—Kagoshima), and other Shinkansen lines.

Following the division and privatization of JNR, JR East was
selected as the operator of the Takasaki-Joetsu segment
of the Hokuriku Shinkansen Line and the Morioka—Aomori
segment of the Tohcku Shinkansen Line. JR East started
operation of the Hokuriku Shinkansen Line between
Takasaki and Nagano on October 1, 1997, and the
Tohoku Shinkansen Line between Moricka and Hachinohe
on December 1, 2002 (see map on page 18}.

Within JR East’s service area, the Hachinohe-Shin-
Aomori segment of the Tohoku Shinkansen Line and the
Nagano-Joetsu segment of the Hokuriku Shinkansen Line
are currently being constructed by the JRTT. Based on a
proposal by the three ruling parties, the national govern-
ment and ruling parties agreed in December 1996 that
both of those Shinkansen line segments would be standard
gauge lines. In January 1998, the national government and
ruling parties’ examination committee for the development
of new Shinkansen lines decided to begin the construction
of those Shinkansen line segments during fiscal 1998,
upon the completion of approval procedures. Based on
that decision, the JRCC (currently, the IRTT) began con-
struction in March 1998, after obtaining approval from the
Minister of Transport pursuant to article 9 of the
Nationwide Shinkansen Railway Development Law.

Further, in December 2004, the national government
and ruling parties agreed on the outlook for the comple-
tion of new Shinkansen lines. For new Shinkansen lines
under the jurisdiction of JR East, it was decided to aim to
complete the Hachinohe-Shin-Acomori segment of the
Tohoku Shinkansen Line by the end of fiscal 2011 and the
Nagano—Hakusan general rail yard segment of the
Hokuriku Shinkansen Line by the end of fiscal 2015
(JR East has jurisdiction of the Naganc—Jcetsu segment of
the Hokuriku Shinkansen Line).

Also, new Shinkansen lines not under the jurisdiction
of JR East are being developed on the Shin-Aomori-
Shin-Hakodate segment of the Hokkaido Shinkansen Line,

the Joetsu-Hakusan general rail yard segment and




the Fukui Station portion of the Hokuriku Shinkansen Line,
and the Hakata-Shin-Yatsushiro segment of the Kyushu

Shinkansen Line.

:Cost Burden of the Development of
© flew Shinkansen Lines

{(a) The national government, local governments, and the
JR Companies assume the cost of new Shinkansen lines
constructed by the JRTT. Amounts to be funded by the
JR Companies are to be paid out of the following:

1} Usage fees and cther surcharges paid by the JR com-
pany as the operator of the line

2} Funds made available from the JRTT, to which JR
East, JR Central, and JR West make payments of
ameunts due on their Shinkansen purchase liabilities
{see page 70 for details)

{b) In October 1997, the opening of the Takasaki-Nagano
segment of the Hokuriku Shinkansen Line was accom-
panied by new standards for the amount of usage fees
paid by the IR Companies as the operator of the line.
Those usage fees are now regulated by the Japan
Railway Construction, Transport and Technology
Agency Law (enforcement ordinance, article 6}. That
enforcement erdinance stipulates that the JRTT will
stipulate the amount of usage fees based cn the bene-
fits received as the operator of the said Shinkansen line
after opening and the sum of taxes and maintenance
fees paid by the JRTT for railway facilities leased. Of
those, the benefits received as the operator are calcu-
lated by comparing the estimated revenues and
expenses generated by the new segment of the
Shinkansen line and related line segments after open-
ing with the revenues and expenses that would likely
be generated by parallel conventional lines and related
line segments if the new segment of the Shinkansen
line were not opened. The expected benefits are the
difference between the amount that the operator of

the new Shinkansen line should receive as a result of

operation and the amount that would be received if
the new Shinkansen line did not commence services.
Specifically, expected benefits are calculated based on
expected demand and revenues and expenses over a
30-year period after opening. Further, a part of the
usage fees, which are calculated based on the expect-
ed benefits, is fixed for the 30-year period after com-
mencing services. In addition, the taxes and
maintenance {ees are included in calculations of corre-
sponding benefits as an expense of the operator of the
Shinkansen line after opening. Therefore, the burden
of the operator is kept within the limits of the corre-
sponding benefits.

With respect to the usage fee amount for the
Takasaki-Nagano segment of the Hokuriku Shinkansen
Line, which opened in October 1997, JR East decided
that the usage fees calculated by the JRCC (currently, the
JRTT) were within the limits of the corresponding benefits
to result from the opening of that line and concluded an
agreement with the JRCC in September 1997, Also, the
JRCC received approval for those usage fees from the
Minister of Transport in September 1997. Usage fees for
fiscal 2007 totaled ¥19.6 billion {$166 miltion), compris-
ing the fixed amaount calculated based on corresponding
benefits of ¥17.5 billion (3148 million) and taxes and
maintenance fees of ¥2.1 hillion ($18 million).

In November 2002, JR East also concluded an agree-
ment with the JRCC regarding the usage fees amount
for the Morioka—-Hachinohe segment of the Tohoku
Shinkansen Line, which opened in December 2002.
The JRCC received approval for those usage fees from
the MLIT in November 2002. Usage fees for fiscal 2007
totaled ¥9.0 billion (376 million), comprising the fixed
amount calculated based on corresponding benefits of
¥7.9 hillion (367 millicn) and taxes and maintenance
fees of ¥1.1 billion ($9 million).

(0) As well as being responsible for the construction of

new Shinkansen lines, the JRTT procures construction
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costs and owns the facilities that it has constructed.
JR East leases those facilities from the JRTT after com-
pletion and pays the usage fees mentioned in (b) above
Jpon the commencement of the service. During the
construction period, JR East is not required to directly
assume the JRTT's construction costs. Compared with
periods when there is no construction of new
Shinkansen lines, cosis related to new Shinkansen lines,
such as depreciation of railcars and other costs, can
have an impact on JR East's single-year revenues and
expenses in the initial period after opening. However,
given the character of usage fees mentioned in (b)
above, JR East believes that such factors will not have
an impact on revenues and expenses over the 30-year
period.

The JR Companies are required to assume the costs
of “usage fees and other charges” as mentioned in {(a)
above. "Other charges” refers exclusively to the pay-
ment of usage fees before the commencement of serv-
ices. However, such prior payment is required to be
based upon agreements concluded following consulta-
tions between JR East and the JRTT. Accordingly, it is
assumed that IR East’'s position will be adequately
reflected in such arrangements.

[, reatment of Conventional Lines
LRunning Parallel to New Shinkansen Lines

In October 1997, at the time of the cpening of the
Takasaki-Nagano segment of the Hokuriku Shinkansen
Line, the Yokockawa-Karuizawa segment was abolished
and the management of the Karuizawa-Shinonoi segment
of the Shinetsu Line was separated from JR East. Further,
in December 2002, at the time of the opening of the
Moarioka—Hachinche segment of the Tohoku Shinkansen
Line, the management of that segment on the Tohoku
Line was separated from JR East.

Also, an agreement reached between the national gov-

ernment and ruling parties in December 1996 stipulates

that management of conventional line segments that run
parallel to a new Shinkansen line should be separated
from the JR Companies when the new Shinkansen line
commences aperations. Pursuant to that agreement,
when construction began on the Hachinohe-Shin-Aomaori
segment of the Tohoku Shinkansen Line and the
Nagano—Joetsu segment of the Hokuriku Shinkansen Line
in March 1998, JR East requested and received the agree-
ment of local communities with regard to the separation
of the management of conventional lines that run parallel
to those Shinkansen lines upon commencement of opera-
tion: the Hachinohe-Aomori segment of the Tohoku Line
and the Nagano-Naoetsu segment of the Shinetsu Line.

Further, in December 2000, the national government
and ruling parties agreed that when JR Freight uses the
conventional lines whose management has been separat-
ed from the JR Companies, line usage fees will be charged
commensurate with the amount of usage. With regard to
the resulting loss for JR Freight, it was decided to imple-
ment an adjusiment by allocating a part of the revenues
from usage fees on the parallel Shinkansen line segment
to JR Freight as required.

Accordingly, the Nationwide Shinkansen Railway
Development Law enforcement ordinance was amended
in October 2002. As a result, it became possible to appro-
priate usage fees paid by the JR Companies for amounts
required by the JR Freight adjustment mechanism.
Previously, as a general principle, usage fees had only
been appropriated to cover the construction cost of

Shinkansen lines.

" JR East’s Stance on the Construction of
“iew Shinkansen Lines

IR East's stance on the construction of new Shinkansen
lines is as follows.
{1) As the operator of new Shinkansen lines, JR East will

only assume the burden of the aforementioned usage




fees and other charges that are within the limit of cor-

responding benefits as a result of commencing

Shinkansen line operations. JR East will not assume any

tinancial burden other than usage fees and other

charges.

(2) The confirmation of agreements with local communi-
ties is required in regard to the management separa-
tion from JR East of conventional lines parallel to new
Shinkansen line segments.

Based on strict adherence to the aforementioned condi-
tions, which JR East has always viewed and will continue
to view as essential, JR East will continue to fulfill its
responsibility as the operator.

An agreement of the national government and ruling
parties reconfirmed those conditions in December 1996,
and they continued to be firmly maintained at the time of
opening the Takasaki-Nagano segment of the Hokuriku
Shinkansen Line and the Morioka—Hachinche segment of
the Tohoku Shinkansen Line. Also in December 1996, the
national government and ruling parties agreed that, based
on censultations and an agreement between the JR
Companies and the JRTT, prior payment of usage fees
would be implemented. Consequently, the construction of
the Hachinohe-Shin-Aomori segment of the Tohoku
Shinkansen Line and the Nagano-Jjoetsu segment of the
Hokuriku Shinkansen Line began in March 1998. Given
the aforementioned reasans, IR East has estimated that
those new Shinkansen line segments will not adversely
affect the maintenance of its sound management base.

However, a change to the conditions and arrangements
refated to the construction of new Shinkansen lines could
adversely affect JR East's financial position and business
performance.

In addition, the national government and ruling parties’
December 2004 agreement includes the siatement “with
respect to the burden amount of JR Companies in relation
to the fringe earnings arising from the development

of such new Shinkansen lines as the Shin-Aomori-
Shin-Hakodate segment of the Hokkaido Shinkansen Line
and the Joetsu-Kanazawa segment of the Hokuriku
Shinkansen Line, a detailed investigation will be undertak-
en when services in those segments commence.” Given
that the concept of “fringe earnings” is incompatible with
the management decisions of an autonomous private-
sector company and that a reasonable explanation of
the concept cannot be offered to shareholders, IR East

has expressed its opposition ta the “fringe earnings” burden.

SAFETY MEASURES

Railway operaticns can potentially suffer significant dam-
age resulting from natural disasters, human errors, crime,
terrorism, or other factors.

IR East regards ensuring safety as a major issue that
fundamentally underpins its operations. Based on its five-
year Safety Plan 2008, JR East is taking measures to build
a railway with high safety levels by addressing infrastruc-
tural and operational issues.

Specifically, JR East's safety-related efforts involve
replacing and upgrading raiicars and facilities and
installing Automatic Train Stop devices (ATS-P and ATS-Ps
types) that prevent train collisions as well as excessive
speeds on the curved sections of tracks and other such
areas. Further, based on lessons learned from such tem-
blors as the 2004 Niigata Chuetsu Earthquake, JR East has
accelerated quake countermeasures, such as the imple-
mentation of projects to reinforce tunnels and elevated
railway tracks. JR East has begun implementing derailment
countermeasures, including those to upgrade railcars and
ground equipment and otherwise minimize the damage
resulting from derailments. tn light of the derailment that
occurred on the Uetsu Line on December 25, 2005,
JR East is continuing research to clarify the causes of the
accident while also proceeding with the installation of

wind speed measurement equipment and windbreak
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fences. In addition, JR East is upgrading equipment and
conducting accident awareness campaigns to prevent acci-
dents at railway crossings as well as working to prevent
rain-related damage, with particular attention to the

Tokyo metropolitan area.

PLAN FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF

TOKYO STATION'S YAESU EXIT

@&B%n Overview “

(a) Twin high-rises, GranTokyo North Tower and

GranTokyo South Tower, are to be constructed on the
north and south sides of the square in front of the
Yaesu exit of Tokyo Station. Gran Roof, a ground-level,
central pedestrian deck with a large roof, will connect
the towers.

(b} Total floor space will be roughly 352,000m?, and the
total cost of the joint project will be approximately ¥130
billion ($1,102 million), with JR East's share being approx-
imately ¥80 billion ($678 million). Adding the cost of
independent projects, JR East will shoulder a total project
cost of approximately ¥125 billion (31,059 millign).

{c) Schedule

September 2004.  begin construction of Phase I of the

North Tower and South Tower

October 2007: complete construction of Phase I of

the North Tower, complete construc-

tion of the South Tower

Latter half of 2008: begin construction of Phase II of the

North Tower and GranRoof

Summer 2010; complete construction of Phase 11 of

the North Tower

Spring 2011: complete construction of the central

area, including GranRoof (also, com-

plete the redevelopment of the
square in front of the Yaesu exit of

Tokyo Station during fiscal 2012)

AR East’s Approach

The project is part of integrated efforts to redevelop the

square in front of the Yaesu exit of Tokyo Staticn and to
recreate the image of Japan's capital city. In addition,
JR East believes that this project will add significant value
to the Yaesu area of Tokyo Station and contribuie to both
JR East's transportation and non-transportation opera-
tions. However, while it is expected that, based on full
consideration, this project will be profitable, JR East’s
financial position and business performance could be
affected in the event that the project does not proceed
according to plan due to a variety of environmental
changes.

INFORMATION SYSTEMS AND

PROTECTION OF PERSONAL DATA

JR East uses many computer systems in a variety of trans-
portation and non-transportation operations. Further, com-
puter systems play an important role among travel
agencies, Railway Information Systems Co., Ltd., and other
companies with which JR East has close business relation-
ships. If the functions of those computer systems were seri-
ously damaged as a result of natural disasters or human
errors, this could have an impact on the operations of
JR East. Moreover, in the event that perscnal data stored
in those computer systems were leaked to unrelated third
parties due to computer systems beceming infected
by viruses or to unauthorized manipulation, it could affect
JR East’s financial position and business performance.

JR East takes measures to prevent damage, such as con-
tinuously upgrading the functions of in-house systems and
training the related personnel. in the unlikely event of a
system failure, JR East would minimize the impact by tak-
ing measures through an initial action framework that
would be promptly set up and coordinated across opera-
tional divisions. Further, JR East is doing its utmost to

ensure the strict management and protection of perscnal

,




data through the establishment of in-house regulations
that include stipulations for the appropriate treatment of
personal data, restricted authorization for access to per-
sonal data, control of access autharity, and the construc-
tion of a system of in-house checks.

DEVELOPMENT OF NON-TRANSPORTATION
OPERATIONS

JR East regards non-transportation operations as of equal
importance to transportation operations in its manage-
ment. In non-transportation gperations, JR East is develop-
ing station space utilization, shopping centers and office
buildings, and other services (hotel operations, advertising
and publicity, and other services).

In non-transportation operations, JR East faces the risk of
a downturn in consumption associated with economic
recessions or unseasonable weather, which could lead to
lower revenues from its shopping centers, stores in sta-
tions, hotels, and other operations. Such eventualities
could also adversely affect sales of advertisement services
and cause an increase in demands from tenants for rent
reductions. Further, a fault in retail products or manufac-
tured products, such as an outbreak of food poisoning or
a similar incident, could reduce sales, damage trust in
JR East, or result in the failure of tenants or business part-
ners. The occurrence of any of those contingencies could
have an impact on JR East's financial position and business
performance. JR East’s stations are used by roughly 16 mil-
lion people every day (average daily number of passen-
gers). JR East will fully leverage those stations as its largest
management resource to develop operations. At the same
time, JR East will enhance earnings and secure customer
trust by implementing stringent hygiene management and
credit controls,

COMPETITION

JR East’s transportation operations compete with the
operations of airline, automobile, bus transportation, and
other railway companies. Furthermore, JR East’s non-
transportation operations compete with existing and newly
established businesses. The competition of JR East’s
transportation and non-transportation operations with
such rival operators could have an impact on JR East’s
financial position and business performance. In particular,
intensified competition in the transportation market could
affect eamnings from JR East’s transportation operations.
Such competition includes the opening of the Tokyo
Metro Fukutoshin Line subway, currently under construc-
tion, in fiscal 2009; an increase in flight services as a result
of the enlargement of Tokyo International Airport (Haneda
Airport); and stepped-up highway bus services between
regional dities. Also, in station space utilization operations
and shopping centers and office buildings businesses,
JR East's competitiveness could lessen as a result of inten-
sified competition created by the renewal or opening of
nearby commercial premises. In addition, the earnings of
JR East's hotel operations could be affected by increasingly
fierce competition from foreign-affiliated luxury hotels as
well as economy business hotels and dedicated wedding

reception facilities operated by domestic companies.

REDUCTION OF TOTAL LONG-TERM DEBT

At the end of fiscal 2007, total long-term debt was
¥3,636.2 billion ($30,815 million). In addition, interest
expense amounted to ¥131.4 billion (31,113 million) in fis-
cal 2007, which was equivalent to 30.7% of operating
income. JR East will continue to reduce total long-term
debt and refinance to obtain lower interest rates.
However, a reduction in free cash flows due to unforeseen
circumstances or a change in borrowing rates due to fluc-
tuation in interest rates could affect JR East’s financial

position and business performance.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

East Jepan Railway Company and Subsidiaries
March 31, 2006 and 2007

Millions of
U.s. Dollars
Millions of Yen {Note 2 (1)}

2006 2007 2007

Assets

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (NOTE A) ..o e
Receivables:

Iventories (NGRS 2 (5) AN B .o et e
Real estate for safe (NOTeS 2 {6 aNd B) ... v
Deferred INCOME (axes (NOTE 14) . oo e e
RO CUTTEMT @SSBLS . ..ot ee et e ete s et e et e e e e ettt rmeee et e et nnreenamanee e i

BEe ] R T 118 10 S50k ST PPN

Investments;
Unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliated companies (Notes 2 (2)and 7} ...
Other (NOLES 2 {7 AN B oottt et ettt

Property, Plant and Equipment (Notes 2 (8), 9 and 10):
BUIIINGS 11ttt e e
D LU= SO OO T PO S ST O RRUOTOPPP
Machinery, rolling stock and vehiCles ...
1] T PO SO OO UU PP

Less accumulated depreiation ... s
Net property, plant and equipment ...

Other Assets:
Long-term deferred income taxes (Note 14} ...
GOOAWIIT TN 2 (2} oo it a e e e e e e e e e e e ettt e ne e e e e men e e e bn e

See accompanying notes.
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¥ 64,373 ¥ B6,980 s 737

196,976 265,219 2,248
5,943 10,733 9
19,363 18,891 160
(1,744) (2,411) (21)
220,538 292,432 2,478
35,098 36,793 312
8,786 6,528 55
55,948 59,809 507
27,359 30,572 259
412,102 513,114 4,348
36,394 32,727 277
213,085 205,628 1,743
249,479 238,355 2,020
1,817,169 1,957,141 16,586
5,004,830 5,080,350 43,054
2,236,890 2,285,963 19,373
2,014,863 2,012,665 17,056
191,916 222,965 1,890
161,456 161,585 1,369
11,527,124 11,720,669 99,328
5,730,775 5,888,162 49,900
5,796,349 5,832,507 49,428
193,871 210,463 1,784
80 — —
169,703 173,593 1,471
363,654 384,056 3,255

¥6,821,584 ¥6,968,032 §59,051




Millions of
U.S. Dollars

Millions of Yen [Note 2 (1)
2006 2007 2007
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity/Net Assets
Current Liabilities:
COMIMETTIA] PAPET .oetieeiti ittt eid e asar etk b e s s et s sttt e e st aest e et annba e ¥ 40,000 ¥ _ 5 —
Current portion of long-term debt {(Notes 3 and 11)..........ccoiiiiii 115,652 241,772 2,049
Current portion of long-term liabilities incurred
for purchase of railway facilities (Notes 3and 12}, 141,211 144,129 1,221
Prepaid railway fares reCRIVR ...t et 91,637 90,865 770
Payables:

ACCOUNS PaYabIE—tra0E .. e 51,797 64,413 546

Unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliated companies.........cccoieeeeiiiiciicc e 48,065 49,719 an

L0 1 o= OO RO R - 426,372 487,368 4,130

526,234 601,500 5,097
F a1 Lo I o= L S PR 109,605 109,310 926
Accrued consumption tax (NOTE 13} ..o e 8,817 15,709 133
Accrued income taxes (INOIE T4) ... e e e e e 59,666 81,572 691
Other current Habilities .....c...vioii e e e e 33,390 53,069 451
Total current Tabilities ... e 1,126,112 1,337,926 11,338
Long-Term Debt (NOtES D and T1) ..t is et srbe e 1,844,559 1,792,786 15,193
Long-Term Liabilities Incurred for Purchase of Railway Facilities (Notes 9 and 12)..........c...... 1,602,446 1,457,517 12,352
Employees’ Severance and Retirement Benefits (Notes 2 (9) and 15)......c.covveeiiiiiniceeea. 597,789 600,229 5,087
Deposits Received for GUATENTEES ......ivvv i rrises i sin e evsessasas e rrrrsessrsareeemeeeeas 172,305 164,927 1,398
Long-Term Deferred Tax Liabilities (NOT& T4) ... e 2,478 2,680 23
Other Long-Term LIabilitIES ..ottt e 93,514 98,862 837
YT To ] g Y L (= =0 SO OO S OO T U OO ST OO PRSP UUS VPP PPUPPTE 25,022 — —
Contingent Liabilities (Note 16)
Shareholders’ Equity (Notes 2 (1), 2 (16) and 17):
Commen stock:

Authorized 16,000,000 shares,

Issued, 2006—4,000,000 shares;

Qutstanding, 2006—3,996,234 ShAT@S5 ..ot e e 200,000 — —
Capital surplus:

Additional paid-in capital ... 96,600 — —

Total capital SUTPIUS ... e et 96,600 — —
RELAINE @AIMINUS ..ottt et te et e et e e sist e e et e e neb e s et e et te e e eaneeenes 984,525 — —
Net unrealized holding gains ON SECUMTIBS ... ivieeee e 78,543 — —_
Treasury stock, at cost, 3,766 shares in 2006 ... e e {(2,309) - —

Total sharehelders’ BQUILY ... e 1,357,359 - -

Net Assets {Notes 2 {1}, 2 (16) and 17}
Common stock:

Authorized 16,000,000 shares;

Issued, 2007—4,000,000 shares;

Qutstanding, 2007—3,996,194 Shares .......ccoiiveiiiiinn e reeas — 200,000 1,695
Capital SUTPILS .o e e — 96,721 820
Tl eTe T T3 o |- USSR — 1,127,234 9,553
Treasury stock, at cost, 3,806 shares in 2007 ..o — (2,595) {(22)
Net unrealized holding gains 0N SECUMTIES .......vvecieeriiit it e e — 66,969 567
Net deferred gains on derivatives under hedge accounting.......cccocoooi e, — 225 2
MINOTIEY INVEETESES L..eei ettt e e et e e e st s e esaeenie st esanenses e — 24,551 208

TOLAl ML ASSBES i et ettt et e e ebe e — 1,513,105 12,823

¥6,821,584 ¥6,968,032 459,051
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Consolidated Statements of Income

East Japan Railway Company and Subsidiaries
Years ended March 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007

Millions of
U.5. Dollars
Millions of Yen {Note 2 1))
2005 2006 2007 2007
Operating Revenues (Note 18) ... ¥2,637.481 ¥2 592 393 ¥2,657,346 $22,520
Operating Expenses {Note 18):
Transportation, other services and cost of sales....ooooiinnin, 1,677,930 1,701,620 1,718,576 14,564
Selling, general and administrative eXpenseS ..o 501,016 494,673 510,672 4,328
2,178,946 2,196,293 2,229,248 18,892
Operating INcome (NOte T8) ... e 358,535 396,100 428,098 3,628
Other Income (Expenses):
Interest expense on short- and long-term debt ..., (44,331} (40,882) (42,512) (360)
Interest expense incurred for purchase of railway facilities...................... (104,100) (95,666) (88,864) (753)
Losses for redemption of bonds (Note 11).....ooeiiie (24,003) {3,409) (20,557) {(174)
Loss on s5ales of fixed @55815 ... i, (11,010) (3,982) (650) (6)
Environmental CONSErVation COSES ... .ooeiri e, — (13,956) (13.884) (118)
Impairment losses on fixed assets (Notes 2 (15), 10and 18).................. (46,355) {1,841) (3,507) (30)
Earthquake-damage (05585 (NOE 3) ..o (11,833) —_ — —
Provision for allowance for earthquake-damage losses {Note 3).............. (28,647) — — —
Interest and dividend INCOME ... 1,257 1,814 1,954 17
Equity in net income (loss) of affiliated companies...........cccooi 290 707 (1,978) {(17)
Gain on sales of iINvestment IN SECUNTIES ...o..vvee e 39,517 858 — —
Gain on sales of transferable development air rights ... 26,685 — 10,456 89
Gain on sales of fixed 5561 ... 38,914 23,279 35,489 301
DT, Nt . 5,382 6,613 2,635 22
{158,334) {126,465} (121,418) {1,029)
INCoOME Before INCOME TAXES ...t e e e 200,20 269,635 306,680 2,599
Income Taxes (Note 14):
U BN e e 137,409 125,330 140,556 1,191
DefEITR . e e e (51,046) (15,682) {12,135} {(103)
Minority Interests in Net Income of Consalidated Subsidiaries ................... (2,246) (2,412) (2.388) (21}
N IO B .. e e ¥ 111,592 ¥ 157,575 ¥ 175,871 $ 1,490
U.5. Dollars
Yen (Note 2 (1))
Earnings per Share (Note 2 (13)) .o ¥27,868 ¥39,370 ¥44,008 $373

See accompanying notes.




Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Note 2 (17))

East lapan Railway Company and Subsidiaries
‘Years ended Masch 31, 2005 and 2006

Millions of Yen
Number of Net Unrealized
Issued Shares Holding
of Common Common Capital Retained  Gains (Losses) Treasury
Stock Stock Surplus £arnings on Securities Stock

Balance at March 31, 2004..................ccoen.
Increase due te merger of nonconsclidated
subsidiaries and other ..o
Net income
Cash dividends (¥6,000 per share)
Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors..
Disposal {purchase) of treasury stock, net.....
Net unrealized holding losses on securities...
Balance at March 31, 2005............ccooovvennee.
Gain on disposal of treasury stock................
Increase due to addition of consolidated
subsidiary and other....oe.eecoceevcncn,
NEtINCOME ...
Cash dividends (¥8,000 per share) ..............
Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors
Disposal {purchase) of treasury stock, net.....
Net unrealized holding gains on securities ...
Balance at March 31, 2006.........cccovveeeiinnne

4,000,000 ¥200,000 ¥96,600 ¥771,233 ¥32,794 ¥ (451}

—_ — — 33 — —
— — — 111,592 — —
— — —  (23,970) — -
— — — 77 — —
— — — (2,047) (1,819)

4,000,000 200,000 95,600 856,664 32,552 (2,270
- — 0 —

— — — 484 —_ —
— — — 157575 — —
- — — (29979 — —
— — — {220) -

— {39)
— — — — 45991 —

4,000,000 ¥200,000 ¥96,500 ¥984 525 ¥78543 ¥(2,309)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets (Note 2 (17))

East Japan Railway Company and Subsidiaries
Year ended March 31, 2007

Millions of Yen
Net Net Deterred
Number of Unrealized (ains (Losses)
Issued Shares Holding on Derivatives
of Common  Common Capital Retained Treasury  Gains (Losses)  under Hedge  Minority
Stk Stock Surplus Earnings Stock on Securities Accounting  Interests Total
Balance at March 31, 2006 4,000,000 ¥200,000 ¥96,600 ¥ 984525  ¥(2,309) ¥ 78,543 ¥ — ¥ — ¥1357359
Reclassification due to adoption of
new accounting standards for
presentation of net assets in
the balance sheet as of April 1, 2006......... — — — — — — — 25022 25,022
Net assets at April 1, 2006..........cccoevvne. o 8,000,000 ¥200,000 ¥96,600 ¥ 984,525  ¥(2,309) ¥78,543 ¥ —  ¥25,022 ¥1,382,381
Cash dividends (¥9,000 per share) —_ —_ —_ (33,974} —_ _ — — (33,974)
Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors.. — — — (243) — — — — {243)
NELINCOME ..o — — — 175,871 — —_ — — 175871
Increase due to addition of
consolidated subsidiaries and other............ — — — 1,055 — — — — 1,055
Purchase of treasury stock — - — - (741) — —_ —_ {741)
Disposal of treasury stock...... —_ —_ 121 — 455 — — — 576
Other v —  (11.574) 225 (471}  {(11,820)

Balance at March 31, 2007

4,000,000 ¥200,000 ¥96,721 ¥1,127,234  ¥(2,595) ¥ 66,969 ¥225

¥24,551 ¥1,513,105

Millions of U.S. Dollars {Note 2 {1))

Net Net Deferred

Number of Unrealized  Gains (Losses)
Issued Shares Holding  on Derivatives
of Comman Common Capital Retained Treasury  Gains (Losses) under Hedge — Minority
Stock Stock Surplus Earnings Stock on Securities  Accounting  Interests Total
Balance at March 31, 2006 ... 4,000,000 $1,695 $819 $8,343 $(20) $666 $— $ —  $11.503
Reclassification due to adoption of
new accounting standards for
presentation of net assets in
the balance sheet as of April 1, 2006......... — — — — — — — 212 212
Net assetsat April 1, 2006 ..., 4,000,000 $1,695 5819 $8,343 $(20) $666 $— $212 $11,715
Cash dividends (376 per share) ................... —_ —_ — {288) —_ — — — (288)
Bonuses to directors and corporate auditors .. — — — (2) —_ —_ - —_ {2)
NELINCOME ... — — — 1.4%0 —_ - — — 1,490
Increase due to addition of
consolidated subsidiaries and other............ - - - 10 - - — — 10
Purchase of treasury stock.......................... — — — — (6) — — — {6}
Disposal of treasury stock... — — 1 — 4 —_ — — 5
Other ..o, — — — — — (99) 2 (4) (101)
Balance at March 31, 2007 ..o 4,000,000 $1,695 $820 $9,553 $(22} $567 $2 $208 $12.823 61

See accompanying notes.




Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

East Japan Railway Company and Subsidiaries
Years ended March 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007

Millions of
U.S. Dollars

Milliorys of Yen (Note 2 (1)}
2005 2006 2007 2007
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Income before INCoOmMe taxes ... e ¥200,201 ¥269,635 ¥306,680 $2,599
Deprediation (NOTE 18)..... ..ot 317,957 316,038 318,526 2,699
impairment losses on fixed assets.. ...t e 46,355 1.841 3,507 30
Amortization of long-term prepaid eXpense ... ...c.occviiiir e 4,913 4,942 5,079 43
Net change in employees’ severance and retirement benefits...........cc.coon 3,369 {532) 2,051 17
Interest and dividend income (1,814) {1,954) (17
1] Gl - o T LU OO O PRSP 136,548 131,376 1,113
Canstruction grants received (54,146) (65,452) (555)
Gain on sales of investment in Securities ... {39,517 {858) — —
Loss from disposition and provision for cost reduction of fixed assets............. 101,662 76,331 93,655 794
Earthquake-damage [OSSES ......ooi e 11,933 — — -—
Provision for allowance for earthquake-damage losses...........cccoooiicen 28,647 — — —
Net change in major recaivables...........ooooi i (10,826) (24,009) {52,546) (445}
Net change in major payables ... {9,175) 36,348 68,643 582
(0713 T=] USRI {19,872) (14,904) {14,655) (123)
U A e 703,093 745,420 794,910 6,737
Proceeds from interest and dividends . .........ooo oo 1,417 1,969 2,159 18
PaymMents OF INERIEST ... .. oot (149,915} (138,712) {130,114) {1,103}
Payments of earthquake-damage l0S585.........coeec i {6,854) (26,568) (6,291) (53)
Payments Of INCOME TaXES. ..o oot (140,004) (134,387) {118,814) (1,007}
Net cash provided by operating activities ..., 407,737 447,722 541,850 4,592
Cash Flows from Investing Aciivities:
Payments for purchases of fixed assets.........ocvvviiiie e (388,993) (390,439 {458,097) (3.882)
Proceeds from sales Of fiXed BS581S. .urrv e 69,445 33,315 39,667 336
Proceeds from cOnStrUCtioN Grants.... ..o iieein e 59,312 63,849 69,834 592
Proceeds from sales of transferable development air rights.......................... 13,343 — 5,228 44
Payments for purchases of investment in securities. ..o (13,610} (17,634) {12,238) (104)
Proceeds from sales of investment In securities...............ocoeeie e 41,917 2,627 — —
Cash decrease due to purchases of shares of a company
newly consalidated, net of cash acquired...........cooooiiiiiii — (487) — -
O BT e s 3,638 (720 6,806 58
Net cash used in iNvesting aCtiVIties. ..o eseeee e {214,948) {309,489) {348,800) {2,956)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Net increase (decrease) in commerdial Paper........oooocoviiiiiieeie e 5,000 35,000 {40,000) (339)
Proceeds from long-term l0ans ...........ccocoiiiiiieec e 64,300 105,739 109,162 925
Payments of long-term l08NS ..o v {124,366) {158,453) (116.247) (985)
Praceeds from issuance of BONds .......ccoo i 129,943 160,113 180,081 1,526
Payments for redemption of bonds ... (70,000) (87,960) {100,000) (847)
Payments of liabilities incurred for purchase of railway facilities..................... (144,369) (1 49,170) {142,012) {1.203)
Payments for acquisition of treasury Stock ... {6,507) {48) (40) (0)
Cash dividends PaId.........ccocoieiiiiie e {23,970} {(29,978) (33,974) (288)
(07T U PO PRSP {39,072} (16,842) (28,997) (247)
Net cash used in financing activities ... (209,041) {141,599 {172,027) {1,458)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents.........cooiiccnn (16,252) (3,366) 21,023 178
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year.............cccoieiicciei 82,935 66,781 64,373 546
Increase due to Addition of Consolidated Subsidiaries and Other ........................ 98 958 1,584 13
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year ... ¥ 66,781 ¥ 64,373 ¥ 86,980 $ 737

See accompanying notes,
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

East Japan Railway Company and Subsidiaries
Years ended March 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007

E}JliRcSrporationfotlE aslapaniRailwaylcompany,

)

In accordance with the provisions of the Law for Japanese National
Railways Resiructuring (the Law), the Japanese National Railways
(JNR} was privatized into six passenger railway companies, one
freight railway company and several other organizations (JR Group
Companies) on April 1, 1987.

East Japan Railway Company {the Company} is one of the six pas-
senger railway companies and serves eastern Honshu {Japan’s main
island). The Company operates 70 railway lines, 1,702 stations and
7,526.8 operating kilometers as of March 31, 2007.

In the wake of the split-up of JNR, assets owned by and liabilities
incurred by JNR were transferred to JR Group Companies, the
Shinkansen Holding Corporation and JNR Settlement Corporation
(JNRSC). Most JNR assets located in eastern Honshu, except for the
land and certain railway fixtures used by the Tohoku and Joetsu
Shinkansen lines, were transferred to the Company. Current liabili-
ties and employees’ severance and retirement benefits, incurred in
connection with railway and other operations in the allotted area,
and certain long-term debt were assumed by the Company.

The transfer values were determined by the Evaluation Coundil, a
governmental task force, in accordance with the provisions of the
Law. In general, railway assets such as railway property and equip-
ment were valued at the net book value of INR. Nonrailway assets
such as investments and other operating property and equipment
were valued at prices determined by the Evaluation Council.

The land and railway fixtures of the Tohoku and Joetsu
Shinkansen lines were owned by Shinkansen Holding Corporation
until September 30, 1991, and the Company leased such land and
railway fixtures at a rent determined by Shinkansen Holding
Corporation in accordance with related laws and regulations, On
October 1, 1991, the Company purchased such Shinkansen facilities
for a total purchase price of ¥3,106,570 million from the Shinkansen
Helding Corporation (see Note 12). Subsequent to the purchase, the
Shinkansen Holding Corporation was dissolved. The Railway
Development Fund succeeded to all rights and obligations of the
Shinkansen Holding Corporation. In October 1997, the Railway
Development Fund and Maritime Credit Corporation merged to form
the Corporation for Advanced Transport & Technology. In Ociober
2003, Japan Railway Construction Public Corporation and the
Corporaticn for Advanced Transport & Technology merged to form
the Japan Railway Construction, Transport and Technology Agency.

Prior to December 1, 2001, in accordance with the provisions of
the Law for Passenger Railway Companies and Japan fFreight Railway
Company {JR Law), the Company was required tc obtain approval
from the Minister of Land, tnfrastructure and Transport as to signifi-
cant management decisions, including new issues of stock or bonds,
borrowing of long-term loans, election of representative directors
and corporate auditors, sale of major properties, amendment of the
Articles of Incorporation and distribution of retained earnings.

The amendment to the JR Law took effect on December 1, 2001
(2001 Law No. 61} and the Company is no longer subject generally
to the JR Law, as amended (see Note 11).

)

1) Basis of presentation of financial statements

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries maintain their books
of account in accordance with the Japanese Corperate Law and
accounting principles generally accepted in Japan (”Japanese
GAAP"}). Certain accounting principles and practices generally
accepted in Japan are different from International Financial
Reporting Standards in certain respects as to application and disclo-
sure requirements. The Company's and certain consolidated sub-
sidiaries’ books are also subject to the Law for Railway Business
Enterprise and related regulations for a regulated company.

The consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2007, which has
been prepared in accordance with the new accounting standard as
discussed in Note 2 (16), is presented with the consclidated balance
sheet as of March 31, 2006 prepared in accordance with the previ-
ous presentation rules.

Also, as discussed in Note 2 (17), the consolidated statement of
changes in net assets for the year ended March 31, 2007 has been
prepared in accordance with the new accounting standard. The
accompanying consolidated statements of shareholders™ equity for
the years ended March 31, 2005 and 2006 were voluntarily prepared
for the purpose of inclusion in the consolidated financial statements,

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been
restructured and translated into English from the consolidated finan-
cial statements prepared for Securities and Exchange Law of Japan
purposes. Certain modifications and reclassifications, including the
presentation of the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders” Equity
for each of the two years ended March 31, 2005 and 2006, have
been made for the convenience of readers outside Japan.

The consolidated financial statements are stated in Jlapanese yen.
The translations of the Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollars are




included solely for the convenience of readers, using the prevailing
exchange rate at March 31, 2007, which was ¥118 to U.S.$1. The
convenience translations should not be construed as representations
that the Japanese yen amounts have been, could have been, or
could in the future be converted into U.S. dollars at this or any other
rate of exchange.

2) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the
accounts of all significant subsidiaries (together, the "Companies”).
The effective-control standard is applied according to Regulations
concerning Terminclogy, forms and Method of Presentation of
Consolidated Financial Statements in Japan {(Regulations for
Consolidated Financial Statements). For the year ended March 31,
2007, 85 subsidiaries were consolidated. Two subsidiaries were
newly consclidated in the year ended March 31, 2007 because of
the establishment and increased importance of one of those compa-

nies. Furthermore, three subsidiaries were deconsolidated in the year

ended March 31, 2007 because of their merger with other consoli-
dated subsidiaries.

All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been
eliminated. Differences between the acquisition costs and the under-
lying net equities of investments in consolidated subsidiaries are
recorded as goodwill in the consolidated balance sheets and amor-
tized using the straight-line method over five years.

In the elimination of investments in subsidiaries, the assets and lia-
bilities of the subsidiaries, including the portion attributable to
minority shareholders, are recorded based on the fair value at the
time the Company acquired contral of the respective subsidiaries.

3) Equity method
The effective-infiuence standard is applied according to Regulations for
Consolidated Financial Statements. For the year ended March 31, 2007,
two affiliated companies were accounted for by the equity method,
and there was no change in those companies during that year.
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and other affiliated
companies are stated mainly at moving-average cost since their equi-
ty earnings in the aggregate are not material in relation to consoli-
dated net income and retained earnings.

4) Allowance for doubtful accounts

According to the Japanese Accounting Standards for Financial
Instruments, the Companies provide an allowance based on the past
loan loss experience for a certain reference period in general.
Furthermore, for receivables from debtors with financial difficutty
which could affect their ability to perform in accordance with their
obligations, the allowance is provided for estimated unrecoverable
amounts on an individual basis.

5) Inventories
Inventories are stated at cost as follows:

Merchandise inventories: the retail cost method or first-in, first-out
method;

Rails, materials and supplies: the maving-average cost method;
and

Other: the last purchased cost method

6) Real estate for sale

Real estate for sale is stated at the identified cost, which is reduced
for a significant decline in value. Devaluation losses on real estate for
sale included in the other, net item of other expenses on the consoli-
dated statements of income for the years ended March 31, 2005,
2006 and 2007 were ¥118 million, ¥654 million and ¥1,563 million
{$13 million), respectively.

7) Securities

Securities are classified and stated as follows:

{1) Trading securities are stated at fair market value. The Companies
had no trading securities through the years ended March 31,
2005, 2006 and 2007.

(2) Held-to-maturity debt securities are stated at amortized cost.

(3) Equity securities issued by subsidiaries and affiliated companies
which are not consclidated nor accounted for using the equity
method are mainly stated at moving-average cost.

(4} Available-for-sale securities are stated as follows:

(a) Available-for-safe securities with market value
According to the Japanese Accounting Standards for Financial
Instruments, available-for-sale securities for which market quo-
tations are available are stated at fair market value as of the
balance sheet date. Net deferred gains or losses on these secu-
rities are réported as a separate item in shareholders’ equity in
2006 and net assets in 2007 at an amount net of applicable
income taxes and minority interests. The cost of sales of such
securities is determined mainly by the moving-average method.

(b} Available-for-sale securities without market value
Available-for-sale securities for which market quotations are
not available are mainly stated at moving-average cost.

If there are significant declines in the market values of held-to-
maturity debt securities, equity securities issued by subsidiaries
and affiliated companies which are not consolidated nor account-
ed far using the equity method or available-for-sale securities, the
said securities are stated at market values in the balance sheet,
and the difference between the market value and the original
book value is recognized as a loss in the period. The Companies’
policy for such write-offs stipulates that if the market value as of




the year-end has declined by 50% or more of the acquisition cost
of the said security, it should be stated at the market value. If the
market value has declined by 30% or more but less than 50%,
the said security should be written off by the amount determined
as necessary after taking the possibility of market value recovery
into account.

8} Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are generally stated at cost or the
transfer value referred 1o in Note 1. To comply with the regulations,
contributions received in connection with construction of certain rail-
way improvements are deducted from the cost of acquired assets.

Depreciation is determined primarily by the declining balance
method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets as pre-
scribed by the Japanese Tax Law. Regarding the replacement method
for certain fixtures, the initial acquisition costs are depreciated to
S0% of the costs under the condition that subsequent replacement
costs are charged to income. Certain property, plant and equipment
of the consolidaied subsidiaries were depreciated using the straight-
line methed. Buildings {excluding related fixtures) acquired from
April 1, 1998 onward are depreciated using the straight-line method
according to the Japanese Tax Law.

The range of useful lives is mainly as follows:

BUIIINGS ... e 3 to 50 years
FIXEUTES .ottt ettt bt e aeen e sre 3 1o 60 years
Rolling stock and vehicles .........oooiicii s 3 to 20 years

MABChINETY ...ttt 310 20 years

9) Accounting for employees’ retirement benefits

Almost all employees of the Companies are generally entitled to
receive lump-sum severance and retirement benefits (some sub-
sidiaries have adopted a pension plan of their own}. The amounts of
the employees’ severance and retirement benefits are determined by
the length of service and basic salary at the time of severance or
retirement of the emplayees. Previously, most of the Companies
accrued a liability for such obligation equal to 40% of the amount
required if all eligible employees had voluntarily terminated their
employment at the balance sheet date.

The Japanese Accounting Standards for Retirement Benefits
became effective beginning with the year ended March 31, 2001.
The Companies accrue liabilities for post-employment benefits at the
balance sheet date in an amount calculated based on the actuarial
present value of all post-employment benefits attributed to employ-
ee services rendered prior to the balance sheet date and the fair
value of plan assets at that date.

The excess of the projected benefit obligations over the total of
the fair value of plan assets as of April 1, 2000 and the liabilities for
severance and retirement benefits recorded as of April 1, 2000 (the
“net transition obligation”) is being charged to income over 10 years
from the year ended March 31, 2001 on a straight-line basis. The
balance of unrecognized net transition obligation as of March 31,
2007 was ¥146,278 million ($1,240 million),

The unrecognized prior service costs are amortized by the straight-
line method and charged to income over the number of years (main-
ly 10 years) which’ does not exceed the average remaining service
years of employees at the time when the prior service costs were
incurred,

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in expenses using the
straight-line basis over constant years {(mainly 10 years) within the
average of the estimated remaining service lives commencing with
the following year.

10) Accounting for certain lease transactions
Finance leases which do not transfer titles to lessees are accounted
for in the same manner as operating leases under Japanese GAAP.

11} Accounting for research and development costs

According to the Accounting Standards for Research and
Development Costs, eic., in Japan, research and development costs
are recognized as they incur. Research and development costis
included in operating expenses for the years ended March 31, 2005,
2006 and 2007 were ¥15,579 million, ¥16,886 million and ¥17,095
million {$145 million), respectively.

12) Income taxes

Income taxas comprise corporation, enterprise and inhabitants’
taxes. Deferred income taxes are recognized for temporary differ-
ences between the financial statement basis and the tax basis of
assets and liabilities.

13) Earnings per share

Earnings per share shown in the consolidated statements of income
are computed by dividing income available to common shareholders
by the weighted average number of common stock outstanding dur-
ing the year. Diluted earnings per share are not shown, since there
are no outstanding securities with dilutive effect on earnings per
share such as convertible honds,

14) Derivative transactions

All derivative transactions of the Companies are used for hedging pur-
poses. Such derivative transactions are stated at fair value and the
gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value of those transactions
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are deferred until the losses and gains of the hedged items are recog-

nized. Certain derivative transactions of the Companies that meet cer-

tain hedging criteria are accounted for in the following manner:

(1) Regarding forward exchange contracis and foreign currency swap
contracts, the hedged foreign currency receivable and payable are
recorded using the Japanese yen amount of the contracted forward
rate or swap rate, and no gains or losses on the forward exchange
contracts or foreign currency swap contracts are recorded.

(2) Regarding interest rate swap contracts, the net amount to be
paid or received under the interest rate swap contract is added to
or deducted from the interest on the assets or liabilities for which
the swap contract was executed.

15) Impairment of fixed assets

In August 2002, the Business Accounting Council of Japan issuad the
“Opinion concerning Establishment of Accounting Standards for
Impairment of Fixed Assets,” which became operative from the year
beginning on April 1, 2005. Beginning with the year ended March
31, 2005, the Companies prospectively adopted the standards. The
new accounting standards require that fixed assets be reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the book value of an asset or asset group may not be recover-
able.

The impairment losses are recognized when the book value of an
asset or asset group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted future
cash flows expected to result from the continuing use and eventual
disposition of the asset or asset group.

The impairment losses are measured as the ameunt by which the
book value of the asset exceeds its recoverable amounts, which is
the higher of the discounted cash flows from the continuing use and
eventual disposition of the asset or the net selling price.

Restoration of previously recognized impairment losses is prohibit-
ed. For cumulative impairment losses, the Companies deducied
directly from respective asset amounts based on the revised regula-
tion on the consolidated financial siatements.

16) Accounting Standard for Presentation of Net Assets

in the Balance Sheet

Effective from the year ended March 31, 2007, the Company and its
consolidated subsidiaries adopted the new accounting standard,
*Accounting Standard for Presentation of Net Assets in the Balance
Sheet” {Statement No. 5 issued by the Accounting Standards Board
of Japan on December 9, 2005), and the implementation guidance
for the accounting standard for presentation of net assets in the bal-
ance sheet {(the Financial Accounting Standard Implementation

Guidance No. 8 issued by the Accounting Standards Board of Japan
on December 9, 2005), (collectively, “the New Accounting
Standards”).

The consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2007 prepared in
accordance with the New Accounting Standards comprises three sec-
tions, which are the assets, liabilities and net assets sections. The
consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2006 prepared pursuant
to the previous presentation rutes comprises the assets, liabilities,
minority interests and shareholders’ equity sections.

Under the New Accounting Standards, the following items are
presented differently at March 31, 2007 compared to March 31,
2006. The net assets section includes deferred gains (losses) an
hedging derivatives, net of taxes. Under the previous presentation
rules, deferred gains (fosses) on hedging derivatives were included in
the assets or liabilities section without considering the related
income tax effects. Minority interests are included in the net assets
section at March 31, 2007. Under the previous presentation rules,
companies were required to present minority interests between the
non-current liabilities and the shareholders’ equity sections.

The adoption of the New Accounting Standards had no impact on
the consolidated statement of income for the year ended March 31,
2007. Also, if the New Accounting Standards had not been adopted
at March 31, 2007, shareholders’ equity amounting to ¥1,488,329
million ($12,613 miltion) would have been presented.

17) Accounting Standard for Statement of Changes

in Net Assets

Effective from the year ended March 31, 2007, the Company and its
consolidated subsidiaries adopted the new accounting standard,
"Accounting Standard for Statement of Changes in Net Assets”
{Statement No. & issued by the Accounting Standards Board of Japan
on December 27, 2005), and the implementation guidance for the
Accounting Standard for Statement of Changes in Net Assets (the
Financial Accounting Standard Implementation Guidance No, 9
issued by the Accounting Standards Board of Japan on December
27, 2005), (collectively, “the Additional New Accounting
Standards”}.

The Company prepared the accomparying consolidated statement
of changes in net assets for the year ended March 31, 2007 in accor-
dance with the Additional New Accounting Standards. The accompa-
nying consolidated statements of shareholders' equity for the years
ended March 31, 2005 and 2006, which were voluntarily prepared
for inclusion in the consolidated financial statements, have not been
adapted 1o the new presentation rutes of 2007.




(8) ( CErlnpEs Denere )

On Cctober 23, 2004, a number of the Companies’ properties sustained damage as a result of the Niigata Chuetsu Earthquake. The related

losses reflected in the statement of income and allowance reflected in the other current liabilities in the balance sheets for the years ended
March 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 were as follows.

Millions of
Millions of Yen u.s. Dollars
2005 2006 2007 2007
EarthqUake-damage J0SSES ... ettt e e ¥11,933 ¥ — ¥— —

Allowance for earthgquake-damage 105585 ..o it e e et e 28,647 2,264 — —

(8) [ e end] G EepeeEms ]

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash balances and highly liquid investments with maturities not exceeding three months at the time of purchase.

(B) (lvenedEs ]

Inventories consist of rails, materials, supplies, merchandise and others.

(@) (el Coene wer el ]

Real estate for sale represents the cost, as adjusted for a significant decline in value, of land acquired and related land improvements in connec-

tion with residential home site developments in eastern Honshu.

InVESimentslinfandfAdvancesktolUnconsolidatedisubsidianiestandlAtfiliatedlcompanies ]
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliated companies at March 31, 2006 and 2007 consisted of the following:
Millians of
Millicns of Yen U.S. Dollars
2006 2007 2007
Unconsolidated subsidiaries:
Investments ... ¥ 5,014 ¥ 4,520 $ 38
AVANCES it e ettt ettt e e e s 1,449 483 4
6,463 5,003 a2
Affiliated companies:
Investmeants {including equity in earnings of affiliated cOmpPanies) . .........oooovoocoieee e 29,931 27,724 235
¥36,394 ¥32,727 $277
) [ Ceqriidics ]
For held-to-maturity debt securities with market value, amount on balance sheets and market value at March 31, 2006 and 2007 were as follows:
Milligns of Yen Millions of U.S Dollars
2006 2007 2007
Amount on Amount on Amount on
Balance  Market Balance  Market Balance  Market
Sheet Value  Difference Sheet Value Difference Sheet value Difference

Of which market value exceeds the amount on balance sheet:
Government, municipal bends, etc. ... ¥ 25 ¥ 25 YO0 ¥40 ¥ 40 ¥0 $0 $0 $0
Of which market value does not exceed the amount on
balance sheet:
Government, municipal bonds, etc. ... 293 290 {3) 275 273 {2} 3 3 (0)

¥318  ¥315 ¥(3) ¥315 ¥313  ¥(2) $3 53 $(0)
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For available-for-sale securities with market value, acquisition cost and amount on balance sheets at March 31, 2006 and 2007 were as

follows:
Millions of Yen Millions of U.5. Dollars
2006 2007 2007
Amount an Amount on Amount on
Acquisition  Balance Acquisition  Balance Acquisition  Balance
Cost Sheet Difference Cost Sheet Difference Cost Sheet Difference
Of which amount on balance sheet exceeds
the acquisition cost:
EQUity Shares .......cocoviiiicece e ¥66,369 ¥106,966 ¥130,587 ¥72,834 ¥184,783 ¥111,949 $617 $1,566 $949
Dbt securities. ..o 154 171 17 154 164 10 2 2 0
Of which amount on balance sheet does not
exceed the acquisition cost:
EQUItY Shares .......cooviii e e 10 7 (3y 3,647 3,079 (568) Ed) 26 {5}
Debt SeCUMTIES ..o e e 227 223 (4} 247 245 {2) 2 2 {0}
TOal e e ¥66,760 ¥197,367 ¥130,607 ¥76,882 ¥188,271 ¥111,389 $652 $1,596 $944

Available-for-safe securities sold during the year ended March 31,
2005 amounted to ¥41,252 million, Within other income (expenses)
on the consolidated statements of income for the years ended March
31, 2005, gains on sales of available-for-sale securities ameunted to
¥39,101 million and were included in gain on sales of investment in
securities, and losses on sales of available-for-sale securities amount-

ed to ¥116 million and were included in other, net,

In the years ended March 31, 2006 and 2007, gains and losses on
the sale of available-for-sale securities were immaterial.

The major components of available-for-sale securities without
market value at March 31, 2006 and 2007 were as follows:

Millions of
Millions of Yen L.5. Dellars
2006 2007 2007
Available-for-sale securities without market value:
UN{STEO BGUITY SECUMITIES . 1101 vt ettt sttt a e eaes e eees e s ¥10,988 ¥10,945 $93
Investments in special-purpose company 2,013 3,560 30
Preferred EQUITY SBOUMTIES ..........i i ittt st ettt £ttt bttt et e et b et s n e 999 1,000 8

Annual maturities of available-for-sale securities with maturities and held-to-maturity debt securities as of March 31, 2007 were as follows:

Millions of Yen Millions of U.5. Dollars

2007 2007
5 Years 10 Years S Years 10 Years
or Less or Less or Less or Less
1Year but More but More  More Than 1Year but More but More  Mare Than
crless Than 1 Year Than5 Years 10 Years orLless Than 1 Year Than 5 Years 10 Years
DEDE SECUMTIES ..ottt vie et ee ettt ¥259  ¥450 ¥6 ¥10 $2 $4 $0 $0
B o] = PO PSS ¥259  ¥450 ¥6 ¥10 $2 $4 S0 $0
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At March 31, 2006 and 2007, buildings and fixtures with net book
value of ¥36,308 million and ¥31,770 million (3269 million), respec-
tively, and other assets with net book value of ¥816 million and
¥478 million {$4 million), respectively, were pledged as collateral for
iong-term debt and other liabilities totaling ¥5,304 million and
¥5,125 million (344 million), at the respective dates.

In addition, at March 31, 2006 and 2007, buildings and fixtures
with net book value of ¥52,813 million and ¥54,021 million (3458
million}, respectively, and other assets with net hook value of ¥7,982

million and ¥8,504 million {372 million), respectively, were pledged
as collateral for long-term liabilities incurred for purchase of the
Tokyo Monorail facilities amounting to ¥13,110 million and ¥11,486
million ($97 millian) at March 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively (see
Note 12).




IimpaimmentosseonlkixediAsse NIRRT
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)

In adherence with management accounting classifications, the
Companies generally categorize assets according to operations or
properties. For railway business assets, the Companies treat railway
lines as a single asset group because the railway network generates
cash flow as a whole. Also, the Companies separately categorize
assets that are slated to be disposed of (such as employee housing)
or idle.

As of fiscal 2005, for 169 such assets, mainly composed of assets
that are siated to be disposed of (such as employee housing) or idle,
for which significant gaps had developed between book values and
fair values due to the continuing decline in land prices, the book val-
ues were lowered to recoverable amounts according to the
Accounting Standards for Impairment of Fixed Assets. As a result,
the Companies recorded a loss of ¥46,355 million on impairment of
fixed assets in the year ended March 31, 2005.

Area Asset status Asset type Impairment loss
Tokyo and surrounding areas 135 assets mainly scheduled Land, buildings and fixtures ¥42,441 million
to be disposed of or idle
Other areas 34 assets mainly scheduled Land, buildings and fixtures ¥3,914 million

1o be disposed of or idle

Regional breakdown of impairment loss:

Tokye and surrounding areas: ¥42,441 million {land, ¥38,268 million; buildings and fixtures, ¥3,938 million; other, ¥235 million)
Other areas: ¥3,914 million {land, ¥2,458 million; buildings and fixtures, ¥1,386 millian; other, ¥30 millicn)

The Companies determine recoverable amounts for the above
asset groups by measuring the net selling prices or values in use.

Net selling prices used to measure recoverable amounts reason- -

ably reflect assessed values of fixed assets or evaluations based on
real estate appraisal benchmarks. Values in use for the measurement of

recoverable amounts are based on the present values of expected cash
flows with the discount rate of 5.0% for the years ended March 31,
2005 and 2006 and 6.0% for the year ended March 31, 2007. In the
years ended March 31, 2006 and 2007, impairment losses on fixed
assets were immaterial.

@ (oeremed® v . - -

Long-term debt at March 31, 2006 and 2007 is summarized as follows:

Millions of
Millions of Yen U.5. Dollars
2006 2007 2007
General mortgage bonds issued in 1997 10 2001 with interest rates
ranging from 1.70% t0 3.30% due in 2009 10 2027 ..o ittt ¥ 559,90C ¥ 459,900 $ 3.897
Unsecured bonds issued in 2002 to 2006 with interest rates
ranging from 0.39% 10 2.55% due in 2008 t0 2033 ... e e e 556,000 605,827 5,134
Secured loans due in 2007 to 2016 principally from banks and insurance
companies with interest rates mainly ranging from 4.70% 10 5.80% ....ccovvuieoinniencreiens e 4,514 3,738 32
Unsecured loans due in 2007 to 2036 principzlly from banks and insurance
companies with interest rates mainly ranging from 1.045% 10 2.50% ...c.oocovvvieiis e 789,437 784,796 6,651
Euro-pound bonds issued in 2006 with interest rates ranging from
4.50% 10 4.875% due in 2031 10 2036 ...t 50,360 180,297 1,528
1,960,211 2,034,558 17,242
LESS CUMEME POFTIOM (..ot eeeret sttt 4s et et e et e e et e e eseetesae st mmmsese s ese et eseensesenseseseesereesterensees $15,652 241,772 2,049
¥1,844,559 ¥1,792,786 $15,193

Issue and maturity years above are expressed in calendar years
(ending December 31 in the same year).

Although the Company is no longer subject generally to the JR
Law, as amended, all bonds issued by the Company prior to
December 1, 2001, the effective date of the amendment to the
JR Law, are and will continue to be general mortgage bonds as
required under the JR Law which are entitled to a statutory preferential

right over the claims of unsecured creditors of the Company. Any
bonds issued on or after December 1, 2001 are unsecured bonds
without general mortgage preferential rights.

The 250 million pound 4.50% bonds, amounting to ¥50,360 mil-
lion ($427 million), were issued in January 2006. The 250 million
pound 4.875% honds, amounting to ¥52,550 million (3445 million),
were issued in June 2006. The 350 million pound 4.75% bonds,
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amounting to ¥78,239 million ($664 million), were issued in
December 2006. These bonds have been hedged by a foreign cur-
rency swap contract with a bank.

Seeking to mitigate future interest burden, the Company con-
cluded debt assumption agreements on August 22, 2005. Details of
affected bonds are (1) Issue: 7.25% euro U.S. dollar bonds; (2) Issue
date: October 11, 1996; (3) Coupon: 7.25%; {4) Maturity date:
October 11, 2006; and {5} Nominal amounts; $800 million

assumption agreements on January 24, 2007. Details of affected
bonds are (1) Issue: Straight bonds, third issue, East Japan Railway
Company; (2) Issue date: March 11, 1996; (3) Coupon: 3.95%; (4}
Maturity date: February 25, 2016; and (5) Nominal amounts;
¥100,000 million ($847 million).

In fiscal 2006 and 2007, the Company recorded losses of ¥3,403 mil-
lion and ¥20,557 million (3174 million), respectively, for redemption of
bonds. The annual maturities of long-term debt at March 31, 2007 were

(¥87,960 million). Further, the Company concluded debt as follows:

Millicns of
Year ending March 31, Millions of Yen U.5. Dollars
2008 ettt h e ete ettt e eante oAt e ate e bt oAt eaeeeehe s 1heeatteehe e e oAt e et ek beetee s eseebeans eeteeeaeneereannas ¥241,772 $2,049
00 e et ettt e eh o he oAt et eheeee e eateeeae ARt e e et eae e oAt e etk beeree s enseeeaeene et ete e eae e ere et 235,112 1,992
PO T o B ST USSP U VPO UOTPPRTUUPRIN: 208,527 1,767
b I OO OO O USSR 189,713 1,608
1 4 DO PO U OO PO U P U U R TS O OO O T T PSP T TP OO U O PO UT PP UU ROV TR UEUT PO ORI 214,081 1,814
2013 AN THEIEATIE ...ttt s ettt et ebe et e et et e et an e tees bR e s e st £ £ et R en ke n R e s e £ naeereea et e mnen s ennserenserana 946,438 8,021

2 MrongaErmItiabil itie et d i ogRURchaselo HRai W aylkacilities )

In October 1991, the Company purchased the Tohoku and Joetsu
Shinkansen facilities from the Shinkansen Holding Corporation for a
total purchase price of ¥3,106,970 million payable in equal semi-
annual installments consisting of principal and interest payments in
three tranches; ¥2,101,898 million and ¥638,506 million in principal
amounts payable through March 2017; and ¥366,566 million
payable through September 2051. In March 1997, the liability of
¥27,946 million payable in equal semiannual installments through
March 2022 to Japan Railway Construction Public Corporation was

incurred with respect to the acquisition of the Akita hybrid
Shinkansen facilitigs, In February 2002, the Company acquired a
majority interest in Tokyo Monorail Co., Ltd. As a result, the consoli-
dated balance sheet as of March 31, 2002 includes liabilities of
Tokyo Monerail Co., Ltd. amounting to ¥36,726 million payable to
Japan Railway Construction Public Corporation.

The long-term liabilities incurred for purchase of railway facilities
outstanding at March 31, 2006 and 2007 were as follows:

Millions of
. Millions of Yen U.S. Dollars
2006 2007 2007
The long-term liability incurred for purchase of the Tohcku and Joetsu Shinkansen facilities:
Payable semiannually including interest at a rate currently approximating 4.33% through 2017 ............ ¥ 959,732 ¥ 847,755 $ 7,184
Payable semiannually including interest at 6.35% through 2017 398,405 372,419 3,156
Payable semiannually including interest at 6.55% through 2051 ... 354,456 353,129 2,993
1,742,593 1,573,303 13,333
The long-term liability incurred for purchase of the Akita hybrid Shinkansen facilities:
Payable semiannually at an average rate currently approximating 6.75% through 2022....................... 17,5954 16,857 143
The long-term liability incurred for purchase of the Tokyo Monorail facilities:
Payable semiannually at an average rate currently approximating 2.95% through 2029....................... 13,110 11,486 97
1,743,657 1,601,646 13,573
Less current portion:
The Tohoku and Joetsu Shinkansen purchase liability ..., 139,419 142,328 1,206
The Akita hybrid Shinkansen purchase lability ... 1,059 1,089 9
Tokyo Monorail purchase Tability ..o e st 733 712 6
141,211 144,129 1,221
¥1,602,446 ¥1,457,517 $12,352

Maturity years above are expressed in calendar years {ending December 31 in the same year).




The annual payments of long-term liabilities incurred for purchase of railway facilities at March 31, 2007 were as follows:

Millions of

Year ending March 31, Millions of Yen L5, Dollars
20008 b — et e ee Rt oAt e e e etk be bRt e e e eee e et e et e eaee et en e et Ararr it e e et e e r e benas ¥144 129 $1.221
139,485 1,182
137,758 1,167
128,746 1,091
124,485 1,055
927,045 7,857

08 ((Cenomien Ve ]

The Japanese consumption tax is an indirect tax levied at the rate of 5%. Accrued consumption tax represents the difference between con-

sumption tax collected from customners and consumpticn tax paid on purchases.

(aJlDccmelaxes) ]

The major components of deferred income taxes and deferred tax liabilities at March 31, 2006 and 2007 were as follows:

Millicns of

Millions of Yen U.5. Dollars
2006 2007 2007
Defetred income taxes:

Employees’ severance and retirement BENETItS ..o ¥241,696 ¥242,713 $2,057
R BIVES TOF DOMUSES. ... oottt e e e e et et e st eab e et s e bt e e e e e s em et e eananeeesrananearaans 30,827 30,359 257
Losses on impairment Of fiXed ASSBLS. ...ttt et ev e ettt e e et eenn e 14,352 13,785 117
Excess depreciation and amortization of fixed @SSEtS ... s 8,786 11,220 95
Environmental COMSEIVALION COST........ oottt et ettt ettt et et e et e et e e e ne s 7.452 10,858 92
Devaluation 105585 0N real @5Tate for Sal8.... ...ttt 6,288 6,242 53
Devaluation 105585 0N FIXEH BS55BTS ... ee et ie it e et me et e e ee s et et e st e e s et b e ebe e eearae e 5,467 5,421 46
ACCTUBT BNEETPIISE TAX ..cveiviitieitieee e eeee ettt e et ete et e e st et e st e et e et e e e e emteeeeeesaaes 1 ee st e e e ee et e sbeaenaesemseeseenseseenes 5,182 6,639 56
0.3 = OO U RO O USSR O 32,565 40,508 343
352,615 367,745 3,116

eSS VAIUALION BIIOWEANEE ... ettt e e e e e et e et e s et s e e e eee e e e e e enaaenean (18,077 {21,952) {186)
Less amounts offset against deferred tax liabilities (84,719) (75.521) (640)
Net deferred income taxes ¥249,819 ¥270,272 $2,290

Deferred tax liabilities:

Tax deferment for gain on transfers of cerfain fixed @sSetS ...t e ¥ 28,407 ¥ 28,213 $ 239
Net unrealized holding gains 0N SECUMMIES ......coviiiiiiii et e ettt e e e e ea s e e enne e ee s 52,867 45,318 384
Valuation for assets and liabilities of consolidaied subSIAIANes. ............c..ccoov oo rveeii e 3,636 3,459 29
L0 U OO UOR TR PRTROPURTO 2,292 1,211 11
87,202 78,201 663

Less amounts offset against deferred INCOME TaXES ..t (84,719) (75,521) (640)
Net deferred tax Habilitias....... ... e et ¥ 2,483 ¥ 2,680 $ 23

income taxes consist of corporation, enterprise and inhabitants’ For the years ended March 31, 2006 and 2007, the difference

taxes. The aggregate standard effective rate of taxes on consolidated between the actual effective income tax rate after applying tax effect
income before income taxes was 40.5% for the year ended March accounting and the aggregate standard effective tax rate was less
31, 2005. After applying tax effect accounting, the actual effective than 5% of the aggregate standard effective tax rate. In view of its
income tax rate was 43.1% for the year ended March 31, 2005. For insignificant size, the difference is not discussed here.

the year ended March 31, 2005, the actual effective income tax rate

differed from the aggregate standard effective tax rate for the fol-

lowing reasons:
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The aggregate standard BFECUVE 13X FATE ......occ. ittt oo oottt oo n oo em s e 40.5%
Adjustments:
NON-AedUCTiDIE EXPENSES FOF 18X PUIPOSES ..ot eieeiiieeitioe ittt ettt ec e ee et e e e es e be 4 E e L b4 4SS 2512 eE S8 L8RS E L am bbb sttt 0.5
Per CAPITA INNADHANTS’ TAXES. ... . oot ittt e es e e bbbt b s e R b RS o R b8 £ E £ .5
R o= - U OO O OO P PP SO USSR (1.0)
INCrEASE TN VAIUBTION AIOWENCR ... .o ettt er s eee s ereaseere e ereaae e eaeem e eaem s er e o b b e e et eE e s ee e e b b s o ch e e e ch e e e e et £ E R R ML AL e R e FaR a2 e e 2 e s et ees et 2.3
DIffErence AUe 10 18X TA1E CNENGE oo ee et oo ea et b b e oL e 418 E S o4 e RS H e b e e e ehE et e e bbbt —
10T o 1= OO OO U OO OO T PP PO TP P PP 0.3
The actual effective rate after applying tax effeCt ACCOUNMEING - e oo e e ettt 43.1 %
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As mentioned in Note 2 (9), beginning with the year ended March 31,
2001, the Companies adopted the Japanese Accounting Standards
for Retirement Benefits, under which the liabilities and expenses for
employees’ severance and retirement benefits are determined based
on the amounts obtained by actuarial calculations,

The liabilities for employees’ severance and retirement benefits

included in the liability section of the consolidated balance sheets as
of March 31, 2006 and 2007 consisted of the following:

Millions of

Millions of Yen U.Ss. Collars

2006 2007 2007

Projected benefit 0BlIGatIon ... e ¥(754,950)  ¥{716,002} $(6,068)
T T1 =] (OO DT OO PP UUT PR 4,685 5,010 43
Unfunded projected benefit obligation ... (750,265) (710,992) (6,025)
Unrecognized net transition OblIGAtIoN ... 195,799 146,278 1,240
Unrecognized actuarial differenCes ... (57,544) {47,279) (401)
UNrecognized PriOr SEIVICE COSTS ... r oottt e oot b a1 n et 14,365 11,964 101
Book value (Net) ..oooveeee e (597,645} (600,029) (5,085)
Prepaid pension expense 144 200 2

Employees’ severance and retirement DENefits ... ¥(597,789)  ¥{(600,229) $(5,087)

2005, 2006 and 2007 consisted of the following:

Employees’ severance and retirement benefit expenses included in the consolidated statements of income for the years ended March 31,

Millians of

Millions of Yen U.5. Dollars

2005 2006 2007 2007

T T o1 £ DO UURI PPN ¥ 38,663 ¥ 37,202 ¥ 31,141 $264
[T R 11 LA OSSOSO 26,361 23,214 22,120 188
Expected return on plan assets............. OO {103) (65) (82} n
Amortization of net transition obligation. ... ... 49,748 48,971 48,952 415
Amortization of actuanial differenCes. . ..ooor e e {2,022) (7,.258) {5,092) {43)
AMOrtization Of Prior SBIVICE COSS ....ccoiii et e 3,094 2,106 2,401 20
Employees’ severance and retirerment benefit expenses 115,741 104,170 99,440 843
Loss on transfer to defined contribution pension plan ... 5,397 — - —

Losses related to retirement of a large number of

employees from a consolidated subSIdIany........oooe e — — 9,603 81
s 1= O OO PSP YPPPUTPFOTPTP ¥121,138 ¥104,170 ¥109,043 $924
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The estimated amount of all retirement benefits to be paid at the
future retirement date is allocated equally to each service year using
the estimated number of total service years.

The discount rates used by the Companies are mainly 3.0%. The
rates of expected return on pension assets used by the Companies
were mainly 2.0% in the years ended March 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007.

)

The Company is contingently liable for the in-substance defeasance
of general mortgage bonds issued by the Company, which were
assigned to certain banks under debt assumption agreements. The

outstanding amounts contingently liable under such debt assump-
tion agreements at March 31, 2007 were ¥70,000 million (3593 mil-
lion) and ¥100,000 million ($847 millian) by general bonds.

@ (MR s

]

The Japanese Corporate Law became effective on May 1, 2006,
replacing the Japanese Commercial Code (“the Code”). The
Japanese Corporate Law is generally applicable 1o events and trans-
actions occurring after April 30, 2006 and for fiscal years ending
after that date.

Under Japanese laws and regulations, the entire amount paid for
new shares is required to be designated as commaon stock, However,
a company may, by a resolution of the Board of Directors, designate
an amount not exceeding one-half of the price of the new shares as
additional paid-in capital, which is included in capital surplus.

Under the Japanese Corporate Law, in cases where a dividend dis-
tribution of surplus is made, the smaller of an amount equal to 10%
of the dividend or the excess, if any, of 25% of common stock over
the total of additional paid-in capital and legal earnings reserve must
be set aside as additional paid-in capital or legal earnings reserve.
Legal earnings reserve is included in retained earnings in the accom-
panying consolidated balance sheets.

Under the Code, companies were required to set aside an amount
equal 1o at least 10% of the aggregate amount of cash dividends
and other cash appropriations as legal earnings reserve until the total
of legal earnings reserve and additional paid-in capital equaled 25%
of common stock.

Under the Code, legal earnings reserve and additional paid-in
capital could be used to eliminate or reduce a deficit by a resolution
of the shareholders’ meeting or could be capitalized by a resolution
of the Board of Directors. Under the Japanese Corporate Law, both
of these appropriations generally require a resolution of the share-
holders' meeting.

Additional paid-in capital and legal earnings reserve may not
be distributed as dividends. Under the Code, however, on condition
that the total amount of legal earnings reserve and additional paid-in
capital remained equal to or exceeded 25% of common stock, they
were available for distribution by resolution of the shareholders’
meeting. Under the Japanese Corporate Law, all additional paid-in
capital and all legal earnings reserve may be transferred to other capital
surplus and other retained earnings, respectively, which are potentially
available for dividends.

The maximum amount that the Company can distribute as divi-
dends is calculated based on the non-consclidated financial statements
of the Company in accerdance with Japanese laws and regulations.

At the annual shareholders’ meeting held in June 2007, the share-
holders approved cash dividends amounting to ¥17,986 million ($152
millicn). Such appropriations have not been accrued in the consolidated
financial statements as of March 31, 2007. Such appropriations are rec-
ognized in the period in which they are approved by the shareholders.
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The Companies’ primary business activities include {1} Transportation, (2) Station space utilization, (3) Shopping centers & office buildings and

(4) Other services.

Millions of Yen

Shopping
Centers Elimination
Station Space & Office Other and/or
Transportation  Utilization Buildings Services Corporate  Consolidated
2005:
Operating revenues:
OULSIOE CUSTOMIBIS 1ottt ee et e e ce e e s rece s s e e e e e ¥1,781,776 ¥369,790 ¥181,956 ¥203,959 ¥ — ¥2,537,481
INSIAE GIOUD ...ttt et e 54,953 10,393 7,263 259,943 (332,552) —
1,836,720 380,183 189,219 463,902 (332,552) 2,537,481
COSES AN BXPENSES ..o.oiiiiii et st s s e e 1,571,100 353,804 139,406 446,416 (331,780) 2,178,946
Operating income ¥ 265629 ¥ 26379 ¥ 49,813 ¥ 17486 ¥  (772) ¥ 358,535

identifiable assets

¥5,550,567 ¥161,572 ¥729,981

¥619,793 ¥(345,645) ¥6,716,268

DEPIBCIBIION ... .ottt e 244,620 8,474 25,377 39,486 — 317,957
Impairment losses on fixed assets .. 33,506 2,057 6,674 4118 — 46,355
Capital INVESIMENTS ... s e 294,934 13,797 29,656 44,948 — 383,335
2006:
Operating revenues:
OULSIE CUSTOMIBIS .. ettt et e e ee e e ee e et e e e e ete e e et et r e e ¥1,805,406 ¥383,804 ¥190,466 ¥212,617 ¥ — ¥2,592,393
Inside group 56,380 11,803 7,767 277,435 (353,379) —
1,861,786 395,707 198,227 490,052 {(353,379) 2,592,393
COSES AN BXOBNSES ....eveieeiersseirrsreseeeeoaeets st e see e s e e et ems b sasa e s e e snnin s 1,564,057 365,268 144,374 474,533 {351,939) 2,196,293
Operating income ¥ 297,729 ¥ 30,439 ¥ 53,853 ¥ 15519 ¥ (1,440) ¥ 396,100
Identifiable assets ¥5,513,144 ¥166,956 ¥744,389 ¥653,322 ¥(256,227) ¥6,821,584
DEPIECHILION .. ..vevveeeccieieeee e eeet ettt 238,686 8,959 26,573 41,820 — 316,038
Capital investments 310,177 12,772 36,206 59,033 — 418,188
2007:
Operating revenues:
OULSIOR CUSTOMIBIS .. o tiiis irresreesereeeeaeaaeeeeanteeamateessreeaessrecssrace e e snmeneesneneas ¥1,825,387 ¥399,998 ¥197,140 ¥234,821 ¥ — ¥2,657,346
INSIAR QIOUD ©voeveee ettt et et e 57.562 14,320 8,785 291,495 (372,162) —
1,882,949 414,318 205,925 526,316 (372,162} 2,657,346
CO5S BN BRPBNSES ...eoiveeiiir ettt et eme b et n e e een e 1,563,906 381,099 147,280 508,383 (371,420) 2,229,248
OPerating iNCOME...........coiirriieiriiis i ¥ 319,043 ¥ 33,219 ¥ 58,645 ¥ 17,933 ¥ (742) ¥ 428,098
N tifiable BSSETS ..ottt ¥5,597,031 ¥185,956 ¥778,709 ¥751,939 ¥(345,603) ¥6,968,032
Oepreciation.............. 236,887 9,122 27,703 44,814 — 318,526
Captal INVESTMENTS ...ttt cem bbb s s 343,825 9,166 52,608 £9,118 — 474,717
Millions of U.S. Dollars
Shopping
Centers Elimination
Station Space & Office Cther and/or
Transportation  Utilization Buildings Services Corporate  Consolidated
2007:
Cperating revenues:
OULSIOR CUSTOIMIBIS ..o oottt ce e re e e et e e ee e ee e e me e e e e ene s e bt raarbe s e saaresnan e $15.469 $3,390 $1.671 $1,990 § — $22,520
Inside group 488 121 74 2,470 (3.153) -
15,957 3,511 1,745 4,460 (3,153) 22,520
COSES AN BXPENSES ..ottt 13,253 3,229 1,248 4,308 (3,146) 18,892
Operating income $2704 S 282 § 497 § 152 § {(7) § 3.628
Identifiable assets $47.,432 $1,576  $6,599 56,372 $(2,928) $59.051
Depreciation.....cv e cee e 2,008 77 235 379 — 2,699
Capital investments 2,914 78 446 585 —_ 4,023




The main activities of each business segment are as follows:
Transportation:
Passenger transportation mainly by passenger railway;
Station space utilization:
Retail sales, food and convenience stores, etc., which utilize
space af stations;
Shopping centers & office buildings:
Operation of shopping centers other than station space
utilization business and leasing of office buildings, etc.; and
Other services:
Advertising and publicity, hotel operations, wholesale, truck
delivery, cleaning, information processing, credit card business
and other services.

Capital investments include a portion contributed mainly by
national and local governments. Identifiable assets in the corporate
column mainly comprise current and nencurrent securities held by
the Company.

Geographic segment information.is not shown since the Company
has no overseas consolidated subsidiaries. Information for overseas
sales is not shown due to there being no overseas sales.

s JlinfotmationiegardinglcetainlUeases)

! - ]

Finance leases other than those which transfer ownership ta lessees
are accounted for in the same manner as operating leases. Under
such finance leases, lease payments, which were charged to income
for the years ended March 31, 2006 and 2007, amounted to
¥12,872 million and ¥12,692 million ($108 million), respectively,
Lease income which was credited to income for the years ended
March 31, 2006 and 2007 was ¥4,541 million and ¥4,764 million
(340 million), respectively.

Future lease payments inclusive of interest were ¥33,699 million
and ¥31,724 million ($269 million), including due in one year of
¥11,572 million and ¥11,060 million (394 million), and future lease
receipts inclusive of interest were ¥14,478 million and ¥16,062 million
{3136 million), including due in one year of ¥4,365 million and ¥4,809
million (341 million}, at March 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

In the year ended March 31, 2007, there were no cancelable
operating leases.

R0 MInfSTmationk oD ETivativeXransactions)

The Companies deal with forward exchange, foreign currency swap
and interest rate swap transactions to hedge the risks resulting from
future changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates {market
risk) with regard to bonds, leans and other obligations.

The Companies believe there is an extremely low risk of default by
derivative transaction counterparties as all such transactions are with
financial institutions having sound reputations,

Contracts for derivative transactions are executed only after pru-
dent consideration by the finance section of each of the Companies
and upon resolution of its Board of Directors or other appropriate
internal approval process.

T . T .o : N

On April 17, 2007, the Company issued a 1.81% coupon unsecured
bond due on April 17, 2017, with an aggregate nominal principal
amount of ¥20,000 million ($169 million), and a 2.26% coupon
unsecured bond due on April 16, 2027, with an aggregate nominal
principal amount of ¥20,000 million (3169 miltion).

On April 24, 2007, the Company issued the 250 million pound
5.25% bonds due April 22, 2033, amounting to ¥58,750 million
(5498 million).
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Independent Auditors' Report

To the Board of Directors of East Japan Railway Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of East Japan Railway Company
and consolidated subsidiaries as of March 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated
statements of income for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2007, the
consolidated statements of changes in net assets for the year ended March 31, 2007, the
consolidated statements of shareholders' equity for each of the two years in the period ended
March 31, 2006 and the consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended March 31, 2007, expressed in Japanese yen. These consolidated financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to independently
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of East Japan Railway Company and
consolidated subsidiaries as of March 31, 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2007, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the following.

As discussed in Note 2(15) to the consolidated financial statements, effective April 1, 2004, East
Japan Railway Company and subsidiaries prospectively adopted the new Japanese accounting
standards for impairment of fixed assets.

The U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements with respect to
the year ended March 31, 2007 are presented solely for convenience. Qur audit also included the
translation of yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts and, in our opinion, such translation has been
made on the basis described in Note 2(1) to the consolidated financial statements.

KFPME AZSA & L.

Tokyo, Japan
June 22, 2007

KPMG AZ5A & Co., an audit corporation incorporated
under the Japanese Certified Public Azcountanis Law
and a member firm of the KPMG network of
independent member firms affilialed with KPMG
Intarnational, a Swiss cooparatve
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A Brief History of JR East

1987 April 1

October 15 » General travel agency busrness begun

1988 February 1

March 13

March 30

April 1

Juiy 1 1

September 5

September 20 +

December 1

December 5

1989 March 11

zation of INR

* Tokyo Regional Gperations Headguarters,
Tokyo Region Marketing Headquarters, Toheoku
Regional Headquarters, Niigata Branch, and
Nagano Branch estatlished

» Railway Safety Promoticn Committee meeting
convened for the flrst trme

. Amerrcan Potato new- style drrectly operated

beer garden restaurant opened in Shimbashi
Station

» Catch phrase "From your neighborhood all the
_way to the future" adopted

. Green Counrer customer feedback desk opened
. Domestrc travel marketnng busrness begun
. Tokyo Ekrkon statlon concert serles begun

* Huasa dr Croma vqu ntary t|p system rest room

facility opened at Shimbashi Station

. Flrst mterregronal personnel transfer |mple-
mented

. T|metable rewsed

» Seikan Tunnel (Aomori-Hakodate) completed,
and Hokutosei Ueno-Sapporo sleeper train
service launched

« First directly operated huilding, Arcade
Akabane opened in Akabane Statron

. Takasakr branch Mlto branch Chrba branch

established
* Bus service operations separated into JR Bus
Tohoku Co., Ltd., and JR Bus Kanto Co., Ltd.
* Takyo Station Gaflery museum opened within
Tokyo Statron

. Hore.f Metropohtan Sendar opened

. Chal!enge Safety Campargn |mplemented

natlonvwde

. JC Shrnagawa Store m-statlon convenience
store opened

« Shin-Kiba—Nishi Funabashi/Minami Funabashi

section and Chiba Minato-Soga section of
Kelyo L|ne opened

. Trarn coIIrsron occurred on Chuo Local Llne at
Higashi Nakano Station

* Timetable revised

» Super Hitachi express train launched on Joban
Line

¢ Double-decker Green Cars introduced on

Tokaido Line

* JR East established through division and privati-

1989

1990 N

April 1 *» Safety Research Laboratory and General
Training Center established

* Fares revised in connection with introduction of
Japan s natronal consumptron tax

May 20 * New- type AYS P {Automatic Trarn Stop) devrces
introduced to enhance safety

October 23 » IR East InfoLine English-language information
serwce began

December 1 . ATS SN devrces :ntroduced
March 7 . Frrst Safety Semrnar held
March 10 . Trmetable re\rlsed

March 25 * ATS-P use begun on Tokyo—Nakano section of
Chuo Rapid Line and Nakano—Chiba section of
ChuofSobu Local Lrne

April 1 . Morloka Offlce and Aklta Offlce upgraded to
branches

April 28 * Resort Limited Express Super View Odoriko
debuted

June 20 . Shln Ojlya electrrc power generatlon plant

began operatrng

September 1 Tokyo Region Marketlng D|V|5|on and Tokyo
Region Operations Divisions merged (o create
Tokyo Regional Headquarters

September 28 + atré Yotsuya full-scale, directly managed station
building opened at Yotsuya Station on the
Chuo Llne

October 14 . Future21 management plan toward the 21st
century, announced

October 30 = First Internatronal Rarlway Safety Conference
held

December 20 « Gala Yuzawa Station opened
. Statron Irnked Gala Yuzawa Skr Resort opened

March 1 . IO Card automatrc trcket reader-compatrble
prepa:d card sales Iaunched

March 16 . Tlmetable revrsed
* Sagami Line completely electrified

March 19 ¢ Narita Airport Station opened
. Narrta Express Irmlted | express tralns debuted
June 11 . JR East R Furukawa Soccer Club J‘EF UNITED
establrshed
June 20 . Tohokuijoetsu Shmkansen Tokyo Statron
opened

 View Bus service to tourist areas in Tohoku
regron begun

September 1 . Rarfway Crossrng Accrdent Prevent.'on campargn
|mplemented

October 1 * Tohoku and Joetsu Shrnkansen rallway faC|I|t|es
acquired




1991

1992

December 1

March 17

Apnl l
Aprrl 20

April 23

August 1

October 19

November 2

+ Timetable revised

* Number of six-door cars on Yamanote Line
trains increased by 1, to 11
. JR East Telephone Center establlshed

. East Japan Rarlway Culture Foundatron estab-

llshed

. Commrrtee on Ecology held for the frrst trme

. Commeroal operatron on Tokaldo Llne of
double-decker, new-type 215 series commuter
ra|lcars begun

. Marketmg of un|ts in F.'ore Krtsuregawa hous-

ing development in Tochigi Prefecture begun

* Fukushima-Yamagata section of Yamagata
Shinkansen Line opened and Tsubasa
Shmkansen trams debuted

. Total separation of smokmg and nonsmokrng
_areas at all Yamanote L|ne statlons begun

. Flrst Serwce Symposrum held

. Cooperatlon agreement W|th Deutsche Bahn
AG of Germany arranged

March 1

March]&

July 2

October 26

November 9

November 27

March 1

July 15 - M‘ax double decker Shrnkansen trarns debuted

September 5

.......................................................................................

+ All-day smoking ban expanded to include all
Tokyo suburban stations and all major train sta-
tlons

. Trmetable revrsed
« 209 series commuter railcars introduced on
Kerhrn Tohoku L|ne and other I|nes

. No 2 generatlng unlt at Kawasakr Thermal

Power Plant began operatrng

. Trmetable rewsed

» View Wakashio and View Sazanami limited
express trains debuted on Uchibe and Sotobo
lines

» /R £ast shares listed
.2 5 m|l||on shares of JR East stock sold

.... Asra Rarlway Safety Semmar held

. Yamagata Termmal Bmldmg (Hotel
Metropolitan Yamagata and Metro Plaza)
opened

. Safety Basrc Plan announced

= Sales of units at JR East’s first condominium
development project, Patios 1-bangai, begun

* First lodging-oriented business hotel, Hotel
METS Kumegawa opened

I Nntsu Rolllng Stock plant establlshed

. Flrst post lrstlng regular general meetmg of
shareholders held

. Frrst R&D Symposmm held

 Test runs of TRY-Z testing cars for conventionat
tracks begun

1997

1994

1995 April 1

May 8

September 22
November 10

November 28

December 1

1996

March 13
March 16

March 21

May 8

August 24

Qctober 1

November 24

December 14

December 3

February 10

. ATOS Tokyo Region transport operatlon system

March 22

¢ Timetable revised

» Super Azusa trains began operating on Chug
Line

= £217 series railcars introduced on Sobu Rapid
Lrne and Yokosuka Lrne

. Vrew Glft Certrfrcate saIes Iaunched
» Economically priced (¥6,800/day) rent-a-car
erwce begun (from June used Torenta kun Iogo)

. Commeroal operatlon of E'lZ'/‘ series rallcars in
Nugata reglon begun

e Use of multllevel platform for Chuo Llne at

Tokyo Station begun

= First long-term residential hotel, Folklore Tono,
opened

. Cooperatlon agreement W|th Ferrovle dello
Stato S P A of Italy arranged

e Us Use of COSMOS Shmkansen transport opera-

t:on system |mroduced

. Cooperatron agreement wrth Socrete Natlonale

des Chemins de fer Francais (SNCF} of France
arranged

. Trmetable rewsed

* Nasuno trains on Tokyo—Nasu-Shiobara section
of Tohoku Shinkansen Line debuted

» E501 series commuter-type railcars introduced
on Joban Lrne

. Unlts in furst condomrnlum development prolect
in Sendai region, View Park Minami Sendai,

launched

« Timetable revised .

* Saikyo Line extended to Ebisu
* Hachioji-Komagawa section of Hachika Line

* JR East’s Response to Environmental Problems
brochure released

. Touch panel tlcket vendmg machlnes rntro-
duced

* Hotel METS Kokubunji and integral station-type

hild care facmty opened

. Mrchrnokuekrkon concerts at statlons in Tohoku
reglon held

. Yokohama Branch estabhshed -
. Horel Merropol'ltan Nagano opened

nntroduced

. Tlmetable revision

» Akita Shinkansen Line opened and Komachi
trains debuted on that line

» Hokuetsu express HokuHoku Line opened

» Smoking banned at all stations and on all local
trains
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1997

1998

1999 f

April 1

September 27

October 1

October 12

October 16
December 20

January 1

January 1‘|

January 22

March 8
Aprll 1

April 6

QOctober 4

October &

Novernber 1

December 8

February 2
February 1 7

March 27

April 18

April 29

July 16

August 2

. Safety P.’an 21 announced

consumptlon tax rate to 5%
» New head offlce burtdlng opened

* Timetable revised

* Nagano Shinkansen Line opened and Asama
Shinkansen trains debuted

* Tanigawa trains introduced on Joetsu
Shinkansen Line

* Fresh Hitachi limited express trains debuted on
Joban Line

. Tram cotlrsron occurred at Otsukr Statton

. Sh:nkansen automatlc tlcket gate system |ntro~

duced at Ueno Stauon

. New-type double decker Max E4 series

Sh:nkansen tratns debuted

. JR EAST PASS sales Iau nched
. E@Sratron websrte establrshed

. F|rst d|rectly managed supermarket Mercado J'

Nrshr Funabashr opened

. TRAJ‘NG campalgn begun

. Hach|o i Branch estabhshed

» Tokyo Region Headguarters renamed Tokyo
Branch Office

» Tohoku Regional Headquarters renamed Sendai
Branch Offrce

. Won'd Executrve Councr.' Sernrnar held at head

offrce burldrng
. JR East Art Center/Shrkr Theater opened

. Total passengers an Tohoku Joetsu and
Nagano Shlnkansen Ilnes  surpasses one b||||on

. FIore Shmagawa shopprng mall in Shmagawa

Station opened

« Use of Shinkansen early-warning earthquake
detection system begun

* Marketing of Traincle, the world’s lightest fold-

ing bicycle, begun

» Timetable revised
* Kornachi Akita Shinkansen trains converied to
i -car conf!guratlon

= Board of DrrectOrs voted on resolutron regard-

ing problem of supplementary burden from
transfer of pen5|on program

. No 3 generatlng unit at Kawasakl Thermal
Power Plant began operatmg

.- Granduo Tachrkawa in Tachrkawa opened

. SL Banetsu Monogatan tralns began operatlng

. Statlon sennce managers rntroduced

. Operatson of Cassropera Ueno—Sapporo sleeper

trams begun

. Second tranche (one mrltlon shares) of JR East
shares marketed

= Fares revised in connection with hike of national

1999

2000

2001

2002

Qctober 1

December 4

December 1 5
March 1 1

September 15
November 29

December 26

April 1

Aprrl 2

Aprit 27

Juty 2
Juty 13
October 1

November 18

December 1

February 1

February 22
February 28

March 1

¢ View Card Cashing Service begun in coopera-

tion with cooperating banks and post office

branches throughout Japan

. Tlmetable revised
* Yamagata-Shinjo section of Yamagata

Shlnkansen Llne opened

. EcoTrarn operat:on begun

. Tametable revision

* £231 series railcars {commuter-type) introduced
on Chuo/Sobu Local Line

¢ Sanseki Line extended to newly established
Aobadon Statron

. Vrew Card started to coIIaborate W|th Vlsa

R East General Educatlon Center establrshed

. Internet seat reservatron system Iaunched
¢ Ekinet Internet shopping mall launched

* JR East Management Reform Seminar interna-
tronal conference held

. E231 series rallcars mtroduced on Utsunormya

and Takasakr Irnes

. JR Sendar Hosp|ta| and Heart Gobashr nursmg

care facility opened

¢ Onuma Furusato Afforestation Program organ-

|zed in cooperatlon W|th JR Hokkatdo

. New Fronrrer 21 JR East Group medlum term

management plan announced

¢ JR East became ﬁrst company to be an Accredlted
Rallway Operator based on Ra||way Law

. Ornlya Branch establlshed

. Cash management system Iaunched

. Ekrner Travel comprehenswe travel slte

launched in cooperation with Japan Airlines
and JTB

. Women only rallcars |ntroduced on Salkyo L|ne
. Otona no Kyu;rtsu Club establlshed

. _IC and Mfm Convemence stores rnerged to cre-

ate the NEWDAYS chain of in-station conven-
lence STOFES

. Surca noncontact- type I card system service

rntroduced

. Rewsed JR Company Law took effect

* Timetable revision

+ Shonan-Shinjuku Line began operating

« E257 series railcars introduced for Azusa
_express. serwce on the Chuo L|ne

. Yarnanote Llne rallcar body advertlsmg
Iaunched

. atré Ueno opened

. Ekrpara statton burldrng portal srte Iaunched

. Chabuzen (set menu restaurant) flrst commer-

cialization of J-Tomorrow business, opened in

Ueno Staticn




* atré Meguro opened in R Tokyu Meguro

2002 April 1

Building

June 21

November 1

December 1

2003

April 10
May 6

July 1

November 1

December 21

2004 February 29

March 3

March 1

¢ E231 serfes railcars (incorporating information
technolcgy) introduced on Yamanote Line

» Japan Railway Construction Public Corporation
{JRCC) sold 500,000 shares in JR East and full
prlvattzatlon of JR East achleved

. Acodent H|story Pawhon opened W|th|n JR East
General Educat|on Center

. T|metable revision

¢ Tohoku Shinkansen Moricka-Hachinohe sec-
tion opened (adopting digital Automatic Train
Control (DS-ATC))

* Tohoku Shinkansen Hayate service launched

» Mutuzl line-sharing arrangement for direct
trains on the Saikyo Line and the Rinkai Line of
Tokyo Waterfront Area Rapld Transut Co Ltd

« Full prwatrzatton celebrated W|th Customer
Appreaatlon Month

. Former Shlmbashu ra|I yard renewed

* View Suica card service begun

» Collaboration with JCB begun
* JR East Travel Service Center established at
Narita Airport Terminal 1 and Airport Terminal 2

* Central Health Management Center relocated
ancl renamed JR East Health Promot:on Center

. Drgrtal ATC System use begun on M|nam| Urawa—

Tsuruml sectlon of KEIhIn-TOhOkU Lme

. Hotel Dream Gate Ma.vhama opened

. JR Shmagawa East Bwldmg and atré Shmagawa
opened

March 12

May 29

August 1

October 16

* Timetable revision
* Honjo Waseda Station of Joetsu Shinkansen
ine opened

ennce (e money) launched

. Adatara Reforesra tron Pro,'ecr mplemented

. Surca/lCOCA |nterchangecable serwce begun

. Ttmetable fevision

» Number of trains on Shonan-Shinjuku Line
increased and running times on that line
reduced

» Introduction of Green Cars on Shonan-
Shinjuku, Utsuncmiya, and Takaszaki lines

2008

2005

2006

October 23

November 26

Januaryd

lanuary 24

February 22

March 1

December 10

December 25
January 10

January 21

lanuary 28

March 18

May 14

» |R East baseball team fmtshed in semmnals ol

September 4

October 1

December 26

March 18

* Niigata Prefecture Chuetsu Earthquake

occurred
* Joetsu Shinkansen Toki 325 train derailed

« JAPAN SNOW PROJECT, a cooperative travel
promotion campaign, begun in cooperation

W|th Japan Alrlmes and AII Nlppon AlnNays
. Issuance of JAL Card Surca cards begun

. New Front.«er 2008 medlum-terrn management

plan announced

. Surca Statfon Ueno begun

. T|metab|e rewsed

= New-type raifcars introduced in alf Limited
Express Hakutaka trains and number of such
trains increased by one

* Otona no Kyujitsu Club: Zipangu card service
begun

TV E FASTECH 3605 Shmkansen hrgh speed test run

begun

. Tlmetable revnsed

= £531-series railcars introduced on Joban Line
local trarns

. Otona no Kyu,utsu Club Mro‘dle senvice begun

= ecute Shinagawa opened

* Timetable revised

* Smcking completely prahibited en Nagano
Shinkansen, Narita Express, and Boso limited
_express trams

* The Inaho No 14 Irmlted express traan on the

Uetsu Llne dera||ed

. Use of VJEW Surca cards W|th commuter pass

funcnons begun

. Sun:a serwce |n Nugata area begun

. Mobfle Surca service begun

¢ Timetable revision
s Limited express through services in cooperation
wnth Tobu Raulway Co Ltd

. Transportatlon Museum cIosed

the 77th Intercny Baseball Tournament

. Automatlc charglng service for Vrew Cards wuth

cha funcbons begun

. E233 series rallcars mtroduced on Chuo L|ne

* Sapia Tower completed as first main element of
Tokyo Station City

= Suica/PASMO interchangeable service in Tokyo

metropolitan area begun

B1




JR East: Domestic and International Perspectives

( )
PEER GROUP COMPARISONS |
In this section, several key performance indicators illustrate how IR East compares with selected well-known
companies. !
|
\, S

Total Stock Market Value (Milians of U.S. Dollars)

International Domestic
JR East ——— 31,089 JR East — 31,089
British Airways —— 10,969 JAL [ 5,667
Lufthansa ——— 12,693 Tokyu [/ 9,474
Union Pacific === 24,820 . TEPCO —1 46,080
FedEx 133340 NTT 172,943
ues T 80,494
0 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 100,000 [+} 24,000 48,000 72,000 96,000
Data in this graph have been computed from each company's share prices and shares Data in this graph have been computed from each company’s share prices and shares
outstanding at the end of the previous fiscal year. putstanding at the end of the previous fiscal year,
Operating Revenues millions of 105 Dollars)
International . Domestic
IR East — 22,520 JR East _ 22,520
British Airways 7 16,644 JAL —— 19,508
Lufthansa 1 26,399 Tokyu 1712
Union Pacific f——————— 15,578 TEPCO 44,771
FedEx T 32,294 NTT ——191,19%
UPs 1 47,547
\] 15.000 30,000 45,000 60,000 a 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 10C,000 120,000
Net iIncome {Loss) (Millions of LS. Dollars)
tnternational Domestic
JR East |_ 1,490 JR East I— 1.490
British Airways ——3 858 JAL -138
Lufthansa —— = 1,068 Tokyu — 498
Union Pacific F——————3 1,606 TEPCO 12,527
FedEx ——————— - -——11806 NTT 1 4,042
Ups 4,202
0 1,200 2,400 3,600 4,800 0 1,200 2,400 3,600 4,800
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Year ended March 31, 2007 (Year ended December 31, 2006, for Lufthansa, Union Pacific, ang UPS and year ended May 31, 2006, for FedEx)

Notes: 1. JAL...Japan Airlines Corporation Tokyu...Tekyu Carporation
TEPCO...The Tokyo Electric Power Company, incorporated NTT...Nippon Telegraph and Telephone Corporation
2, Data in this section are based on consolidated figures from each company’s annual report or financial press releases




Cash Flows from Operating Activities (Mitions of U.s. Dotiars)
International

IR East —— 1,626

British Airways ————1 1,552

Lufthansa — 460

Unicn Pacific  |———— 838

FedEx 1,222

upPs 1 3,248
0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000

Return on Average Equity (ROE) (%)

International

JR East — 2.4

British Afnways 3195

Lufthansa 117.0

Union Pacitic e 11.1

FedEx 1171

Urs 3 26.0
0 [ 12 18 24 30

Average equity is the average of equity at the end of the previous and applicable fiscal years.

Ratio of Operating Income to Average Assets (ROA) ()
International

JR East — 6.2
British Airways C—————1 5.1
Lufthansa ————5%

Unicn Pacifii ——————— 84

FedEx =1 14.0

Ues 1185
0 6 12 18 24

Average assets is the average of assets at the end of the previous and applicable fiscal years.

3. The exchange rate used is the rate for March 31, 2007 ($1=¥118, £1=$1.96, €1=%1.33).

Domestic
JR East _ 1,636
JAL 1 506
Tokyu m— YA
TEPCO 34,437
NTT —— ¥
0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5.000
Domestic
|
JR East I 124
JAL 5.2
Tokyu 1200
TEPCO 1 10.3
NTT ————
0 3 12 18 24

Average eguity is the average of equity at the end of the previous and applicable fiscal years,

Domestic

JR East — .2
JAL ——1.

Tokyu 14.0

TEPCO 241

NTT 159

0 2 4 6 8

Average assets is the average of assets at the end of the previous and applicable fiscal years.

4. Share prices at the close of the respactive previous fiscal years and computed using the above exchange rates are $7,779.66 for JR East, $9 53 for British Airways, $27.72 for Lufthansa, $92.02
for Union Pacific, $109.27 for FedEx, $74.98 for UPS, $2.08 for JAL, $7.78 for Tokyu, $34.15 for TEPCO, and $5,279.66 for NTT.
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Iinternational Railway Comparisons

Japan’s high reliance on railways due to the size of the economy and geographic characteristics affords railway
companies an extremely large source of demand, especially in urban areas. in addition to being Japan's top railway
company, JR East is the largest railway company in the world.

® Transportation Market

Composition by Type of Transportation ilions of Passenger Kilometers)

Japan 314114 S Raitways 1 Motor Vehicles T Airlines SEEEE Ships
U.K. 735.8
Germany 31,1023
France 880.3
Italy 9472
us, 2 5,400.8

Q 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5,000 6,000

" Motor Vehicles - .
R Y Buses Cars Total Airlines Ships Total
Billions % Billions % Billions % Billions % Billions % Billions. % Billions %

Japan 3911 27.7% 88.1 6.2% 8449 | 55.9% 9330 | 66.1% 83.3 5.9% 4.0 03% 1,411.4 | 100.0%
UK. 50.0 6.3% 48.0 6.0% 688.0 | 86.5% 736.0 | 92.5% 5.8 1.2% N/A N/A 795.8_] 100.0%
Germany 72.6 6.6% 74.3 6.7% 907.0 | 82.3% 981.3 | 89.0% 48.4 4.4% N/A N/A 1,102.3 | 100.0%
France 86.6 5.8% 440 5.0% 7369 | 83.7% 7809 | 88.7% 12.7 1.5% N/A N/A 880.3 | 100.0%
Italy 56.0 5.9% 98.9 10.4% 776.2 | B2.0% 875.1 92.4% 12.2 1.3% 39 0.4% 947.2 | 100.0%
u.s. 88.7 1.7% 79.0 1.4% 43353 | 80.3% 44143 | 81.7% 83/.8 16.6% N/A N/A 54008 | 100.0%

Respective figures are for the following years: lapan, year ended March 31, 2008; UK., year ended March 31, 2005; ltaly, year ended December 31, 2004; U.S,, year ended December 31, 2004; France

and Germany, year ended December 31, 2004.

Note: Railway figures for Japan include IR East passenger kilerneters (126.1 billion, exclusive of the Tokye Monorail). For details, see page 93.

Sources; Japan: Ministry of Land, Infrastructure and Transport; U.K.: Transport Statistics Great Britain 2006; Germany: Verkehr in Zahlen 2005/2008; France: Website of Ministry for Infrastructure,
Transport, Housing, Teurism, and the Sea of France; Italy: Conte Nazionale dei Trasporti Anne 2003; U.S.: Statistical Abstract of the United States 2004

Railway Line Networks iicmeters Revenues from Railway Operations ilions of U.s. Dollars)
JR East h 7.527 JR East — 15,448
U.K. — 115,116 UK. na
Germany 1 34,715 Germany 114,390
France 1 29,080 France 112,445
Ita\y . 195918 ltaly | s— 1 1]
u.s. 1 35,817 U.s. n/a
¢ 9,000 18,000 27,000 36,000 45,000 0 3,000 6,000 9,000 12,000 15,000 18,000
Number of Passengers ilions) Number of Employees
IR East —— ——— ;552 IR East — 55,317
U.K. —— 1,038 UK. n/a
c Germany | e— 1N Germany 1 229,711
o
= France ——— 931 France 1 170,577
£
g Italy [~ 504 Italy —————————— 100,259
=
“ u.s. 25 us. nfa
g a 1,200 2,400 3,600 4,800 6,000 7,200 0 70,000 140,000 210,000 280,000
Passenger Ki'ometers {Millicns} As of December 31, 2004, except for IR East and U.K. figures, which are as of March 31, 2005
Motes: 1. U.K.: Association of Train Operating Companies {Railway tracks are owned by
JR East '_- 125.172 Network Rail Ltd.); Germany: Deutsche Bahn AG; France: Société Nationale des
Chemins de fer Frangais (SNCF) (Railway tracks are owned by Réseau Ferré de
U.K. ———————3 41,800 France (RFF)): ltaly: Ferrovie dello Stato S.p.A.; U.S.: National Railroad Passenger
Corporation (Amtrak)
Germany 169,997 2. Revenues from railway operations do not include freight and other service
revenues,
France 74,014 3. Figures for JR East do not include the Tokyo Monorail.
Italy — LT 4 T€h19 ::c;ga;ﬂge rate used is the rate for March 31, 2005 ($1=¥107, £1=%1.88,
84 LS. [ 8,869 Source: Statistiques Internationale des Chemins de Fer 2004, Union Internationale des
Chemins de Fer

0 30,000 60,000 90,000 120,000 150,000




® Fundamentals

Gross Domestic Product @illions of U5, Dollars)

2006
tapan I — 1 357 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Japan 3,945 4,251 4,665 4,544 4,367
UK, ——— 23N
U.K. 1,556 1,775 2,115 2,199 2,371
Germany ———— 2894 Germany 1,984 2,386 2,687 2,793 2,894
France === 2,231 France 1,418 1,732 1,997 2,107 2,231
ltaly — 1.851 laly i,184 1,455 1,671 1,763 1,851
U.s. 10,366 10,857 11,665 12,429 13,185
us. 113,185 Source; Annuat QECD Natisnal Accounts publications
o 3,000 6,000 9,000 12,000 15,000
Population imilons:
2006
Japan —127.5 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Japan 127.4 127.6 127.7 127.8 127.8
UK. f———1 59.8
U.K, 59.7 58.3 59.4 59.7 59.8
Germany 182 Germany 82.0 82.5 82.5 82.7 82.7
France ——— 607 France 59.7 60.1 60.4 60.5 60.7
Italy ——— 53.1 Italy 57.4 57.4 57.3 58.1 58.1
U.s. 288.5 294.0 297.0 298.2 301.0
u.s. A 301.0 Sources: Japan: Current Population Estimates, Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications
0 70 140 24¢ 280 350 Other countries; United Nations data
Population Density (per square Kilometer)
2006
—
lapan b 338 11,610
246
UK. 274
Germany r” 232 342
france
laly
u.s.
0 200 400 600 200 1,000 1,200 1,400 1,600 1,800
S MM Population per Square Kilometer of Total National Land Area === = Population per Square Kilometer of Habitable Land Area
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Total National Habitable Total National Habitable Total National Habitable Total National Habitable Total National Habitable
Land Area Land Area Land Area Land Area Land Area Land Area Land Area Land Area Land Area Land Area
lapan 337 1,598 338 1,605 338 1,606 338 1,610 338 1,610
UK 246 275 244 273 244 274 246 274 246 274
Germany 230 328 231 341 231 391 232 342 232 342
France 108 149 109 150 109 151 110 131 110 152
Italy 191 254 191 254 190 254 193 257 193 257
Uu.s. 31 47 31 47 EL 48 31 48 31 49

Note: JR East calculated these figures by using the following data and definition of each country’s habitable land area.
Papulation Japan: Current Population Estimates, Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications
Cther countries: United Nations data
lapan: Land White Paper, Ministry of Land, Infrastructure and Transport
Total area minus forests and woodland, barren land, area under intand water bodies, and other
Cther countries: The FAQSTAT Database Land Use
Land area (2005} minus forests and woodland (1994)

Habitable land area
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Railway Operations in Japan
Railways play a vital role in Japan, and JR East alone represents about 30% of all passenger railway transportation.

@® Share of Domestic Transportation

Number of Passengers

® R fast
© Other Railways
O Motar Vehicles

@ Airlines

<* Ships
Years ended March 31 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Millions % Millions % Millions % Miltions % Millions %
Railways JR East 5,846 6.8% 5,850 6.7% 5,886 6.7% 5,862 6.7% 5511 6.7%
QOther Railways 15,874 18.3% 15,711 18.0% 15,872 18.1% 15,824 18.0% 16,043 18.2%

Motor Vehicles 64,590 74.7% 65,481 75.1% 65,933 75.0% 65,991 751% 65,947 74.9%
Airlines 95 0.1% 96 0.1% 96 0.1% 94 0.1% 94 0.1%
Ships 111 0.1% 109 0.1% 107 0.1% 10 0.1% 103 0.1%
Tota! 86,516 100.0% 87,247 100.0% 87,894 100.0% 87,872 100.0% 28,098 100.6%
Source: Summary of Transport Statistics, Ministry of Land, Infrastructure and Transport
Passenger Kilometers

# JR East

© Other Raihways
© Motor Vehicles

o Airlines

2 Ships
Years ended March 31 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Millions I % Millions % Millions % Millions % Millions %
Raitways JR East 124,916 ! 8.8% 125,176 2.8% 125,752 8.8% 125,172 8.8% 126,142 8.9%
Other Railways 260,505 18.3% 257,060 18.0% 259,206 18.2% 259,991 18.3% 265,004 18.8%

Motor Vehicles 954,292 66.9% 955,413 67.0% 954,186 66.9% 947,563 66.8% 933,006 66.1%
Airlines 81,459 5.7% 83,949 5.9% 23.3n 5.8% 81,786 5.8% 83,220 5.9%
Ships 4,007 0.3% 3,893 0.3% 4,024 0.3% 3.869 0.3% 4,205 0.3%
Total 1,425,176 1 100.0% | 1,425,491 100.0% | 1,426,479 | 100.0% | 1,418,381 100.0% | 1,411,397 [ 100.0%

Source: Summary of Transpart Statistics, Ministry of Land, infrastructure and Transport
Note: Figures fer JR East on this page do not include the Tokye Maonorail.
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Share of Domestic Railways

Passenger Line Network

As of March 31, 2005 km %
JR East 7.526.8 27.2%
JR Central 1,970.8 7.1%
JR West 5,032.1 18.2%
QOther JR Companies 5475.8 19.8%
Qther Railways 71.674.5 27.7%
Total 27,681.0 100.0%
Number of Passengers
- Year ended March 31, 2005 Millions %
/// g JR East 5,862 26.9%
IR Central 499 2.3%
IR West 1,788 8.2%
iy Other JR Companies 467 21%
\\ - Other Ratlways 13,194 60.5%
- Total 21,811 100.0%
Passenger Kilometers
Year ended March 31, 2005 Millions %
JR East 125,172 32.5%
JR Central 50,479 13.1%
JR West 52,544 13.6%
Other JR Companies 14,107 3.7%
Qther Railways 143,174 37.1%
Total 385,476 100.0%
Revenues from Passenger Tickets
Year ended March 31, 2005 Billions of Yen %
JR East 1,653 28.2%
IR Central 1,085 18.5%
JR West 750 12.8%
Other JR Companies 220 3.8%
Other Railways 2,153 36.7%
Total 5,861 100.0%
Rolling Stock Kilometers
Year ended March 31, 2005 Milliens %
JR East 2,204 27.6%
IR Central 985 12.4%
IR West 1,236 15.5%
' QOther JR Companies 489 5.1%
Other Railways 3.063 38.4%
Total 7,976 100.0%
® JREast OJR Central oJRWest © Other JR Companies < Qther Railways Netes: 1. Figures for Passenger Line Network do not indlude freight traffic.
2. Figures for Ralling Stock Kilometers do not include locomotives and freight cars.
3. Figur-es for lh_e Tokyo Mcnor_ai_l are included in Other Railways. a7
Source: Statistics of Railways 2004, Ministry of Land, Infrastructure and Transport
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Financial Overview of JR Passenger Railway Companies
JR East accounts for about 50% of the total operating revenues of the three largest JR passenger railway
companies. JR East’s immense and stable operating base contributes to large and consistent earnings and cash flows.

\. J

Operating Revenues @illions of Yen)

2007

JR East
IR Central
JR West

2006

JR East
IR Central

IR West

I___ 26513
11,4513
3 1,262.9
0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000
—_ 2,592.4
11,4677
3 1,240.1
0 500 1,600 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000

Net Incorme illions of Yen}

2007

JR East
R Central
JR West

2006

IR East
JR Central
JR West

Free Cash Flows illions of Yen)

2007

JR East
JR Central
JR West

2006

JR East
JR Central
JR West

88

—————— 175.9
11371
—————"1 5.8
] 50 100 150 200
e ——— 157,
1122.4
——————— 455
0 30 &0 90 120 150 180
I ——— 193.1
1 208.7
 e—
0 &0 120 180 240
—— 135.2
=3 3583
——1623
0 100 200 300 400

{Millons of Yen)

Years ended March 31, 2005 2006 2007
JR East 2,637,481 2,592,393 2,657,346
JR Central 1,409,497 1,467,650 1,491,269
JR West 1,220,847 1,240,098 1,262,935
2005
JR East — 3,537.5
JR Central 3 1,409.5
JR West 31,2208

0 560 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000

{Millions of Yen)

Years gnded March 31, 2005 2006 2007
JR East 111,582 157,574 175,871
JR Central 96,087 122,437 137,144
JR West 58,996 46,525 56,791
2005
JR East — 111.6
JR Central 1 96.1
IR West — ey 55,0

V] 30 50 90 120 150

(Miltions of Yen)

Years ended March 31. 2005 2006 2007
JR East 192,789 138,233 193,050
JR Central 325,139 358,260 208,667
JR West 58,052 62,315 56,842
2005
IR East — 192.8
JR Central 1 325.1
JR Waest ——— 58.1

0 100 200 300 400




Return on Average Equity (ROE) )

2007

IR East
JR Central
JR West

2006

JR East
JR Central
JR West

— 124

115.6

19.7

12 15

Ratio of Operating Income to Average Assets (ROA) (%)

2007

JR East
JR Central
JR West

2006

JR East
JR Central
JR West

Earnings per Share (ven)

2007

JR East
IR Central
JR West

2006

JR East
IR Central
JR West

2005

JR East
IR Central
JR West

Note: Data in this section have been calculated by JR East based on figures in JR Central and JR West financial press releases.

'“ 6.2

1 7.7

15.7
0 3 & 9
l_ 5.9
— 174
1 5.7

0 3 5 9
— 44,008

) 69,408
[ ———— 28415
0 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000
I_ 39,370

154,561
—_— 23282
0 16,000 32,000 48,000 64,000
— 27.868

1 42,807

1 29,463

o 10,000 20,000 30,000 40,000 50,000

Years ended March 31, 2005 2006 2007
JR East 9.8% 12.4% 12.4%
IR Central 11.9% 13.4% 15.6%
JR West 11.8% 85% 9.7%
Note: Average equity is the average of equity at the end of the previous and applicable fiscal vears.
2005
JR East _ 9.8
JR Central 1 11.9
JR West 2 11.8
[¥] 3 ) 9 12 15
Years ended March 31, 2005 2006 2007
JR East 5.3% 5.5% 6.2%
JR Central 6.5% 7.6% 7.7%
IR West 5.6% 5.7% 5.7%
Note: Average assets is the average of assets at the end of the previous and applicable fiscal years.
2005
JR East —————— 5.3
JR Central 1 6.5
JR West 3 5.6
0 z 4 6 B
Operating Cash Flow per Share (ven)
2007
JR East — 135,586
JR Central 1216,788
JR West — 7 1 13
4] 50,000 100,000 150,000 200,000 250,000
2006
{
IR East . 112,035
IR Central ] 213,541
IR West 1 82,076
Q 50,000 100,000 150,000 200,000 250,000
2005
IR East — 102,026
JR Central ] 188,889
JR West e 71,517
0 40,000 BC,000 120,000 160,000 200,000 240,000
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Railway Operations in Tokyo

JR East alone provides nearly half of the huge volume of railway transportation in the Tokyo metropolitan area,
where railways account for 50% of all transportation. With an immense population, the Tokyo metropolitan area is
sure to generate a large amount of demand for transportation services.

@ Transportation in the Tokyo Area

Number of Passengers

® JR East

© Other Railways
© Motor Vehicles
® Airtines and Ships

Years ended March 31 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Millions % Millions % Millions % Millions % Miltions %
Railways JR East 5275 19.9% 5,297 19.9% 5339 2(0.2% 5322 20.1% 5,373 19.9%
Other Railways 7,945 29.9% 7,955 29.9% 8,075 30.5% 8,093 30.5% 8,230 30.4%
Moaotor Vehicles 13,299 50.1% 13,287 50.0% 12,986 49.1% 13,081 49.3% 13,396 49.6%
Airlines and Ships 37 1% 37 0.2% 39 0.2% 39 0.1% 38 0.1%
Total 26,556 100.0% 26,576 100.0% 26,439 100.0% 26,535 100.0% 27,037 100.0%

Notes: 1. JR East figures include data from the bordening lines of JR Central and do not include the Tokyo Monorail.
2. S1atistics are based on surveys that used borders that do not strictly carrespond with IR East’s Tokyo Metropolitan Area Network.
Source: Survey of Regional Passenger Movement, Minstry of Land, Infrasiructure and Transpert

Major Railways in the Tokyo Area

Passenger Line Network* Passenger Kilometers”* Revenues from Passenger Tickets**
km % Millions % Billions of Yen %
JR East 1,106.1 42.9% 77,176 48.2% 857.8 44.0%
Tobu Railway 463.3 17.9% 12,558 7.9% 142.7 7.3%
Tokyo Metro 183.2 7.1% 16,506 10.3% 2741 14.1%
Seibu Railway 176.6 6.8% 8,687 5.4% 94.3 4.9%
Toei (fokyo Metropolitan Government) 121.5 4.7% 5,294 3.3% 715.3 5.9%
Odakyu Electric Railway 120.5 4.7% 10,624 6.6% 109.1 5.6%
Keisei Electric Railway 102.4 4.0% 3,509 2.2% 48.5 2.5%
Tokyu Corporation 1001 3.9% 8,577 6.0% i22.1 6.3%
Keihin Etectric Express Railway 87.0 3.3% 6.229 3.9% 74.0 3.8%
Keio Electric Railway 84.7 3.3% 7,286 4.6% 77.3 4.0%
Sagami Railway 359 1.4% 2,616 1.6% 3.7 1.6%
Total 2,581.3 100.0% 160,062 100.0% 1,947.9 100.0%

Revenues from

_ Passenger Line Network™* «iometers) Passenger Kilometers** ilions) Passenger Tickets** (silons of Yen)
(=]
% IR East —1,106.1 JR East I——— 77,176 JR East —— 57,5
E Tobu —— 463.3 Tobu 12,558 Tobu — 1427
T Tokyo Metro [ 183.2 Tokyo Metro 16,506 Tokyo Metro == 274.1
@ Seibu 3 1766 Seibu 8,687 Seibu [ 94,3
g Toei 31215 Toei 5,294 Toei 1153
Odakyu [ 1205 Odakyu 10,624 OCdakyu [ 109
V] Keisei [ 102.4 Keisei 3,509 Keisei h 49.5
Tokyu [ 100.1 Tokyu 9,577 Tokyu 31224
Keihin [ 87.0 Keihin 6,229 Keihin 0 74.0
Keio D 84.7 Keic 7.286 Keio D773
Sagami b 359 Sagami 2,616 Sagarmi D317
¢ 500 1,000 1,500 50,000 100,000 0 400 800 1,200
* As of March 31, 2006 Sources: 1. Toei (Tokyo Metropolitan Government): Figures from the website of the
= * For the year ended March 31, 2006 Transportation Bureau of the Tokyo Metropolitan Government, Passenger kilometers
Notes: 1. Figures do not indude freight lines. are from $tatistics of Railways 2004, Ministry of Land, Infrastructure and Transport.
20 2. Data used for JR East are data of the Tokyo Metropolitan Area Network and do not 2. Other: Website of the Association of Japanese Private Raibways. Revenues from pas-
include the Tokyo Monorail. senger tickets are based on figures from the financial press releases of each company.

3. Teito Rapid Transit Authority was privatized on April 1, 2004, to form Tokyo Metro.




® Funda

mentals

Net Domestic Product

@ Tokyo Area

© Other

Years ended March 31 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
Billions of Yen % Billions of Yen % Billions of Yen % Billions of Yen % Billions of Yen %

Tokyo Area 122,151 31.5% 118,504 31.7% 117,498 31.6% 117,449 31.7% 117,439 31.7%
Qther 265,977 68.5% 255,654 68.3% 254,350 68.4% 253,455 68.3% 253,207 68.3%
Total 388,128 100.0% 374,158 100.0% 371,848 100.0% 370,904 100.0% 370,646 100.0%
Source: Annual Report on Prefectural Economies, Cabinet Office
Population

# Tckyo Area

0 Other
As of October 1 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Millions % Millions % Millions % Millions % Millions %
Tokyo Area 33.8 26.5% 341 26.7% 34.2 26.8% 34.5 27.0% 34.6 27.1%
Other 93.6 73.5% 93.5 73.3% 893.5 73.2% 333 73.0% 93.2 729%
Total 127.4 100.0% 127.6 100.0% 127.7 100.0% 1278 100.0% 127.8 100.0%
Source: Current Population Estimates, Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications
Population Density (er square Kilometer}
2006
Tokyo Area 2,591
Other | e— 1
Nationat Average [———————2 338
o] 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000

As of October 1 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Tokyo Area 2,548 2,564 2,575 2,595 2,551
Other 257 257 256 256 255
National Average 337 338 338 338 338

Note: IR East calculated these figures by using data from the fellowing sources:
Current Population Estimates, Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications; statistics from Geographical Survey [nstitute

Note: The statistics an this page are based on governmenta! boundaries and do not strictly correspond with IR East's operaung area segments.




Analysis of JR East's Railway Operations

The Tokyo Metropolitan Area Network generates about half of the Company's railway revenues. Commuter-pass
travel accounts for about one-third of JR East's revenues.

Composition by Operating Area

Passenger Line Network Passenger Kilometers Revenues from Passenger Tickets
® Shinkansen Network
© Tokyo Metropolizan Area Network
| @ Intercity and Regional Networks
| Passenger Line Network* Passenger Kilometers** Revenues from Passenger Tickets**
km % Millions % Millions of Yen %
Shinkansen Netwark 1,052.8 14.0% 18,375 15.2% 479,369 28.2%
Tokyo Metropolitan Area Network 1,106.1 14.7% 78,034 61.1% 871,812 51.2%
intercity and Regional Networks 5367.8 71.3% 30,244 23.7% 351,498 20.6%
Total 7.526.8 100.0% 127,653 100.0% 1,702,679 100.0%

* As of March 31, 2007 ** Year ended March 31, 2007
Notes: 1. Revenues from the conventional line segments of hybrid Shinkansen services are credited to Intercity and Regional Networks.
2. Figures do not include the Tokyo Monerail,

Composition of Commuter Passes—Overall

Number of Passengers Passenger Kilometers Revenues from Passenger Tickets
© & Commuter Passas
@ Other
Number of Passengers Passenger Kilometers Revenues from Passenger Tickets
Millicns % Millions % Millions of Yen %

Commuter Passes 3,725 62.2% 72,858 57.1% 487,843 28.7%
Other 2,266 37.8% 54,795 42.9% 1,214,836 71.3%
Total 5,981 100.0% 127,653 100.0% 1,702,679 100.0%

Composition of Commuter Passes—By Passenger Kilometers
Shinkansen Tokyo Metropolitan Area  Intercity and Regional Total Commuter Passes

Network Network Networks Millions Millions %
Shinkansen Network 19,375 1,657 8.5%
Tokyo Metropolitan Area Netwark 78,034 52,134 66.8%
Intercity and Regional Networks 30,244 19,067 63.0%
Total 127,653 72,858 57.1%

® Commuter Passes  © Other

Composition of Commuter Passes—By Revenues from Passenger Tickets
Shinkansen Tokyo Metropolitan Area  intercity and Regional Total Commuter Passes

Network Network Networks Millions Millions %
Shinkansen Network 479,369 22,672 4.7%
Tokyo Metropolitan Area Netwark 871,812 | 346,552 39.8%
Intercity and Regional Networks 359,498 | 118,619 33.7%
Total 1,702,679 | 487,843 28.7%

® Commuter Passes O Other
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Notes: 1. Percentages represent passenger kilometers and revenues from passenger tickets attributable to commuter passes for each segment.
2. Revenues from the conventional line segments of hylirid Shinkansen services are credited 1o Intercity and Regicnal Networks.
3. Figures do not include the Tokyo Monorail.
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Passenger Kilometers imilions)

Years ended March 31 2005 2006 2007 2007/2006
Shinkansen Network Commuter Passes 1,610 1,628 1,657 101.8%
Other 16,781 17,246 17,718 102.7%
Totat 18,391 18,874 19,375 102.7%
Conventional Lines Commuter Passes 70,583 70,793 71,201 100.6%
Other 36,198 36,475 37,077 101.7%
Total 106,781 107,268 108,278 100.9%
Tokyo Metropalitan Commuter Passes 51,615 51,799 52,134 100.6%
Area Netwark Other 25,080 25,377 25,900 102.1%
Total 76,695 77,176 78,034 101.1%
Intercity and Regional | Commuter Passes 18,968 18,994 19,067 100.4%
Network Other 11,118 11,098 11,177 100.7%
Total 30,086 30,092 30,244 100.5%
Total Commuter Passes 72,193 72,421 72,858 100.6%
Other 52,979 53,721 54,795 102.0%
Total 125,172 126,142 127,653 1H.2%
Revenues from Passenger Tickets vilions of Yen)
Years ended March 31 2005 2006 2007 2007/2006
Shinkansen Network Commuter Passes 22,083 22,331 22,672 101.5%
{Other 438,460 449 846 456,697 101.5%
Total 460,543 472,177 479,369 101.5%
Conventicnal Lines Commuter Passes 460,499 461,870 465,171 100.7%
Other 731,533 743,811 758,139 101.9%
1,192,432 1,205,681 1,223,310 101.5%
Tokyo Metropolitan Commuter Passes 342,810 343,963 346,552 100.8%
Area Network Other 502,549 513,860 525,260 102.2%
Total 845,359 BG7,823 871,812 101.6%
Intercity and Regional | Commuter Passes 117.689 117,907 118,619 100.6%
Netwaork Qther 229,384 229,951 232,879 101.3%
Jotal 347,073 347,858 351,498 101.0%
Total Commuter Passes 482,582 484,201 487,843 100.8%
Other 1,170,393 1,193,657 1,214,836 101.8%
Total 1,652,875 1,677,858 1,702,679 101.5%
Notes: 1. Passenger kilometers and revenues fram the conventional line segments of hybrid Shinkansen services are credited to Intercity and Regional Networks.
2. Conventional Lines: Total of Tokyo Metropalitan Area Network and Intercity and Regiona! Networks
3. Figures do not include the Tokye Monorail.
Electric Power
JR East generates more than
one-half of the electricity it uses. Year ended March 31, 2007 Billions of kWh %
Thermal Generation 1.83 30.0%
Hydroelectric Generation 1.5% 25.9%
Independent 3.42 55.9%
Purchased 2.70 44.1%
Total 6.12 100.0%

# independent

0O Purchased
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Non-Transportation Business

itability.

JR East owns many stations with high potential that are used by numerous customers. JR East is carrying out its non-
transportation businesses utilizing these stations to enhance customer convenience and comfort and to raise prof-

Number of Busy Stations (wumber of Stations)

— 3 B7

JR East
IR Central 5
JR West & 12
Tokyu o
0 20 40 60 20 100

IR NI More than 200,000 Passengers per Day
22— More than 100,000 Passengers per Day

Year ended March 31, 2006
Data are based on figures from JR Central, JR \West, and Tokyu Corporation.

More than 100,000 More than 200,000
Passengers per Day Passengers per Day
JR East 87 33
JR Central 5 1
JR West 12 6
Tokyu 17 2

Nete: The numbers of staticn users at stations of IR East, JR Central, and JR West represent twice the number of passengers embarking.

Composition of Major Department Stores, Retail Sales, and Convenience Stores @ilions of Yen)

|
— 300.0

JR East
Takashimaya |———————=941.7
7-Eleven Japan 12,5335
Tokyu Stare — 3065
JR West — 208.2
a 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000

Takashimaya = Takashimaya Company, Limited

7-Eleven Japan = Seven-Eleven Japan Co., t1d.

Tokyu Store = Tokyu Store Chain Co., Ltd.

Year ended March 31, 2007 (Year ended February 28, 2007, for Takashimaya, 7-Eleven
Japan, and Tokyu Store)

Data are based on figures from the financial press releases of each company.

{Millions of Yen)

Operating Revenues

JR East 399,998
Takashimaya 841,692
7-Eleven Japan 2,533,534
Tokyu Store 306,489
JR West 208,185

The following figures are used as operating revenues:
JR East: Station space utilization, segment revenues from gutside customers
Takashimaya: Department store business, segment revenues from outside customers
7-Eleven Japan: Total stare sales (nonconsolidated)
Tokyu Store: Consolidated operating revenues
JR West: Sales of goods and food services business, segment revenues from third parties

Comparison of Real Estate Leasing to Retailers and Other Tenants silicns of ven)

|
i B 1971

JR East
Mitsui 3 3025
Tokyu ———————— 1283
IR West ——— 627
0 70 140 210 280 350

Mitsui = Mitsui Fudosan Co., Ltd.

Tokyu = Tokyu Corporation

Year ended March 31, 2007

Data are based on figures from the financial press releases of each company.

Domestic Hotel Chain Ranking By Guest ROOMS (Number of Guest Rooms)

i
MR 5.061

JR East
Prince 123,985
Washington 1 18,534
Toycko Inn 118,083
IR West -1 2536
o 5,000 10,000 15,000 20,000 25,000 30,000

(Millions of Yen)

Operating Revenues
JR East 197,139
Mitsui 302,547
Tokyu 128,268
JR West 62,725

The following figures are used as operating revenues:
IR East: Shopping centers & office buildings, segment revenues from outside customers

Missui: Qffice buildings and commercial facilities revenues in leasing segment, outside cus-

tomers

Tokyu: Real estate business, segment revenue from outside customers
JR West: Real estate business, segment revenues from third parties

Guest Rooms
JR East Hotel Chain 5.061
Prince Hotels 23,985
Washington Group Hotels 18,534
Toyoko Inn Hotel Chain 18,083
JR West Hotels 2,536

As of December 31, 2004, for Prince, Washington, Toyoko Inn, and JR West (As of March 31, 2007, for JR East)

Data are based on Japan Hotel Almanac 2005 by Ohta Publications.




Consolidated Subsidiaries and
Equity Method Affiliated Companies

{As of March 31, 2007)

® Consolidated Subsidiaries

Voting Right
Capitalization Percentage
Company Name {Millions of Yen} (Note 1} Main Business Activities

1 Tokyo Monorail Co., Wid. ¥3,000 70.0% Raibway passenger transport semvices

2 JR Bus Kanto Co., Lid. 4,000 100.0 Bus services

3  JRBus Tohoku Co., Lid. 2,350 100.0 Bus services

4 East Japan Kiosk Co., Ltd. {Note 2) 3,855 100.0 Retail sales

5 JR EAST WATER BUSINESS Co., Ltd. (Note 3) 490 100.0 Retail sales

6 IR Takasaki Trading Co., Lid. 490 100.0 Retail sales

7 Tohoku Sogo Service Co., Ltd. 490 100.0 Retail sales

8 Juster Co., Ltd. 400 100.0 Reiail sates and hotel operations

9 Shinano Enterprise Co., Ltd. 400 103.0 Retail sales
10 Tokky Co,, Ltd. 400 100.0 Retail sales, hotel operations, and shopping center operations
11 JR Kanagawa Planning & Development Co., Ltd. 370 100.0 Retail sales
12 Keiyo Planning & Development Co., Ltd. 370 100.0 Retail sales and hotel operations
13 Mito Service Development Co., Ltd. 360 100.0 Retail sales and hote! operations
14 IR Kaiji Planning & Development Co., Ltd. 350 100.0 Retail sales

15 IR Atlis Co., Ltd. 3i0 100.0 Retail sales

16 JR Litsunomiya Planning & Development Co., Ltd. 200 100.0 Retail sales
17 IR Tokyo Planning & Development Co., Ltd. 120 100.0 Retail sales
18 Nippon Restaurant Enterprise Co., Ltd. 731 G1.3 Restaurant business, retail sales, and hotel operations
19 JR East Food Business Co,, Ltd. 721 99.9 Restaurant business
20 Delicious Link Co., Ltd. {Note 3) 90 100.0 Restaurnat business
21 JR East Station Retailing Co., Ltd. 480 10G.0 Retail sales
22 LUMINE Co., Ltd. (Note 4) 2,375 G1.8 Shopping center operations
23 Ikebukuro Terminal Building Company 2,000 95.0 Shopping center operations and real estate leasing
24 The EKIBIRU Development Co. TOKYQ (Note 5) 1,500 100.0 Shopping center operations
25 IR East Urban Development Corporation 1,450 100.0 Shopping center operations and retail sales
26 Utsunomiya Station Development Co., Ltd, 1,230 98.3 Shopping center operations
27 Boxhill Co., Ltd. 1,058 §8.6 Shopping center operations
28 Hachigji Terminal Building Co., Lid. (Note 6) 1,000 93.3 Shopping center operations
29 R East Department Store Co., Lid. (Note 7) 1,000 70.0 Shopping center operations
30 Kawasaki Station Building Co., Ltd. 600 99.2 Shopping center operations
31 Mito Station Development Co., Ltd. 500 96.6 Shopping center operations
32 Hirosaki Station Building Ce., Ltd. 430 88.8 Shopping center operations
33 Station Building MIDORI Ca., Ltd. 450 94.6 Shopping center gperations
34 Tetsudo Kaikan Co., Ltd. 340 100.0 Shopping center operations
35 Chiba Station Building Co., Ltd. 200 89.2 Shopping center operaticns
36 Shonan Station Building Co., Ltd. 200 76.5 Shopping center operations
37 Yokohama Station Building Co., Ltd. 200 70.8 Shopping center operations
38 Kinshicho Station Building Co., Lid. 160 56.0 Shopping center operatians
39 Kamata Station Building Co., Ltd. (Note 7) 140 99.6 Shopping center operations
40  Kichijoji Lonlon Co., Ltd. {Note 5) 130 80.0 Shopping center operations
41 Tsurumi Station Buiiding Co., Ltd. 100 S1.4 Shopping center eperations
42 Iwaki Chuo Station Building Co., Lid. 100 57.0 Shopping center cperations
43 Nippon Hotel Co., Ltd. 4,000 100.0 Hotel operations
44 Hotel Metropolitan Nagano Ce., Ltd. 3,080 100.0 Hotel operations
45  Sendai Terminal Building Co., Ltd, 1,800 G9.5 Hotel operations and shopping center operations
46 Morioka Terminal Building Co., Ltd. 900 82.8 Hotel operations and shopping center operations
47 Takasaki Terminal Building Co., Ltd. 780 76.7 Hotel operations and shopping center operations
48  Akita Station Building Co., Ltd. 450 77.6 Hotel operations and shopping center operations
49 East Japan Marketing & Communications, Inc. 250 100.0 Advertising and publicity
50  Tokyo Media Service Co., Lid. 105 100.0 Advertising and publicity
51 The Grangepage, Inc. 500 99.7 Publishing
52 JR EAST VIEW Travel Service Co., Ltd. (Note 8) 450 67.0 Travel agency services
53 East Japan Railway Trading Co., Ltd. 560 100.0 Wholesale
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Voting Right

Capitalization Percentage

Company Name {Millions of Yen) {Note 1) Main Business Activities
54 IR East Logistics Co., Ltd. {Note §) ¥100 100.0 Truck delivery services
55 IR East Logistics Platform Co., Ll (Note S) 300 100.0 Supply chain managernent
56 JR East Japan Infarmation Systems Company 500 100.0 Information processing
57 IR East Net Station Co., Ltd. 460 100.0 Information processing
58 IR East Management Service Co., Ltd. 80 100.0 Information services
58 IR East Personnel Service Co., Ltd. 100 100.0 Seminar and staff sending business
60 East Japan Eco Access Co., Ltd. 120 100.0 Cleaning services
61 Shinkansen Cleaning Service Co., Ltd. 38 386 (61.4) Cleaning services
62 Kanto Railway Servicing Co., Lid. 38 35.6 (64.4) Cleaning services
63  East Japan Railway Servicing Co., Ltd. 39 29.0 (71.0) Cleaning services
64 IR Technoservice Sendai Co., Ltd. 25 100.0 Cleaning services
65  Niigata Railway Servicing Co., Ltd. 17 88.2 Cleaning services
66  East Japan Amenitec Co., Lid. 13 100.0 Cleaning services
67  Chiba Railway Servicing Co., Ltd. 12 25.3(74.7) Cleaning services
68  Akita Clean Servicing Co., Ltd. 10 100.0 Cleaning services
69 Nagano Railway Servicing Co., Lid. 10 100.0 Cleaning services
70  Takasaki Railway Servicing Co., Ltd. 10 45.8 (54.2) Cleaning services
71 Mito Railway Servicing Co., Ltd. 10 25.3(74.7) Cleaning services
72 IR East Housing Development & Realty Co., Ltd. 200 100.0 Housing development and sales
73 IR East Rental Co., Ltd. 165 854 Car leasing
74 IR East Sports Co., Lid. 400 100.0 Athletic club operations
75 GALA YUZAWA Co., Ltd. 300 927 Ski resort operations
76 IR East Facility Management Co., Ltd. 50 100.0 Building maintenance
77 Union Construction Co., Ltd. 120 90.0 Construction
78 IR East Consultants Company 50 100.0 Consulting
79 IR East Design Corporation 50 100.0 Consulting
80  East Japan Transport Technology Co., Ltd. 80 58.6 Machinery and rolling stock maintenance
81 Tohoku Rolling Stock Machinery Ce., Lid. 72 50.9 Machinery and rolling stock maintenance
82 Niigata Rolling Stock Machinery Co., Ltd. 40 405 Machinery and rolling stock maintenance
83 R East Mechatronics Co., Ltd. 100 100.0 Maintenance services
84 IR East Building Co., Ltd. 480 100.0 Office building management
85 Shinnihon Linen Co., Ltd. 100 100.0 Linen supply

® Equity Method Affiliated Companies

Voting Right

Capitalization Percentage
Company Name {Millions of Yen) {Nate 1) Main Business Activities
Central Security Patrols Co., Ltd. (Note 10} ¥2,024 25.3% Security business operations
JTB Corp. 2,304 219 Travel agency services

Notes: 1. Voting right percentages outside of parentheses represent direct voting right percentages, and percentages in parentheses represent shares held by other parties that vote along with the inter-
ests of JR East and do not include the percentage outside of parentheses.

East Japan Kiosk Co,, Ltd,, changed its name to IR East Retail Net Co., Ltd., on July 1, 2007.

Companies newly included in the scope of consolidation from the fiscal year under review

LUMINE Co., L1d., merged with Shinjuku Station Building Co., Ltd., on April 1, 2006. Shinjuku Station Building Co., Ltd., was dissolved after the merger,

Tre EKIBIRU Development Ca. TOKYO merged with Kichijoji Lonfon Co., Lid., on April 1, 2007. Kichijoji Lonlan Co., Ltd., was dissolved after the merger.

Hachioji Terminal Building Co., Ltd., merged with Kekubunji Terminal Building Co., Ltd., and Kofu Station Building Co., Ltd., on Aprit 1, 2006. Kakubunji Terminal Building Co., Ltd., and Kofu
Station Building Co., Ltd., were dissolved after the merger.

JR East Department Store Co., Ltd., merged with Kamnata Station Building Co., Ltd., on April 1, 2007. Kamata Station Building Co., Ltd., was dissolved after the merger.

View World Co., Ltd., ¢hanged its name 1o JR EAST VIEW Travel Service Co., Ltd., en Octeber 1, 2006.

JR East Logistics Co., Ltd., merged with IR East Logistics Platform Co., Ltd., an April 1, 2007. JR East Logistics Platform Co., Ltd., was dissolved after the merger.

Companies that prepare securities reports (Yuka Shoken Hokoku-sho)
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Stock Information

Stock Code: 9020

® Stock Price

IR East Hikkel
{Thousands of Yen) (Thousands of Yen)
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2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
1 n 13 | Il 1] 1\ I I n v | Il mn v | ] n v |
High. . i ¥ 823 ¥ 557 W 594 V 600 ¥ 576 ¥ 552 ¥ 554 V 5B4 ¥ 616 V 620 ¥ 590 ¥ SO0 ¥ SB1 ¥ 635 W 836 ¥V 003 ¥ 942 ¥ BO7 ¥ B7G ¥ 943
. 537 532 540 507 513 487 485 302 533 561 542 544 529 540 623 731 739 B17 781 799
.o 5765 5689 5672 5484 5425 5197 5097 5276 5727 6040 5650 5661 951.0 5817 7251 8215 B459 8536 8128 888
Average Daity Training
Volume (Shares)........... 10,689 40433 6785 8034 8878 12240 9794 11373 10709 7809 8306 9836 0256 11,128 14552 14988 15602 11,197 15329 16516

{3 Stock Price = )R East Average Stock Price s Nikkei Average

Note: Average stock prices are computed using clesing prices.
Saurce: Takyo Stock Exchange

® Major Shareholders

As of March 31, 2007 HNumber of Shares Reld Voting Right Percentage
The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd., trust aCCOUNTS ......ooiiiieriee e 233,894.00 5.85%
Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd., trust @CCOUNTS ..ot 220,098.00 5.50%
The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFL, LEd. ..o s e seeee e 125,203.15 3.13%
The Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corparation ... 105,303.15 2.63%
Mizuho Corparate Bank, LI, ... e e 100,066.00 2.50%
MIZURO BaNK, L0, ittt et et e 100,061.56 2.50%
The JR East Employees’ Shareholding Association 98,802.00 247%
State Street Bank and Trust Company 505103 ... 86,233.00 2.16%
Nippon Life Insurance COMPANY .....ocooviiiiiiiinii e 80,155.60 2.00%
The Dai-ichi Mutual Life Insurance COMPENY ... 71,00C.00 1.78%
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Corporate Data

{As of March 31, 2007)

r ™~
Number of Employees 71,316* (53,420 at parent company)
* Excluding employees assigned 1o other companies and employees on temporary leave
| Number of Stations 1,702
Number of Rollmg Stock 13,179

Passenger Line Network 7,526.8 k|l0rneters

Number of Passengers Served Daily About 16 million (average for the year ended March 31, 2007)

Total Number of Shares Issued 4,000,000

Total Number of Shares Outstandmg 3,996,194

Paid-in Capital ¥200,000 miliion

Number of Shareholders 289,176

Stock Exchange Listings Tokyo Osaka, Nagoya

Transfer Agent Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and Bankmg Corporanon
4-5, Marunouchi 1-chome, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 100-8212, Japan

Rating Information AA+ (Rating and Investment Information, Inc.)
AA- {Standard & Poor’s)
Aa2 (Moody's Investors Service)

For Inquiries

Head Office 2-2, Yoyogi 2-chome, Shibuya-ku, Tokyo 151-8578, Japan
Phone: +81 (3} 5334-1310 Facsimile: +81 (3) 5334-1297
E-mail: ir@jreast.co.jp
bond@jreast co. jp

New York Office One Rockefeller Plaza, New York, N.Y. 10020, U.S.A.
Phone: +1(212) 332-8686 Facsimile: +1 (212) 332-8690
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Paris Office 24-26, rue de la Pépiniére, 75008 Paris, France
Phone: +33 (1) 45-22-60-48 Facsimile: +33 (1) 43-87-82-87

Internet Addresses JR East: hitp:/Awww jreast.co.jp/e/
Ecology: htip:/Awww jreast.co.jp/efenvironment/
(Sustainability Report)




Glossary

Commuter Pass

“Commuter pass” refers to a credit card sized pass that is either mag-
netically encoded or contains an integrated circuit {IC) chip to allow trav-
el between two stations during a pericd of one, three, or six months.
Mabile Sulca, a service based on cell phones embedded with such 1C
chips, was introduced in January 2006,

Hybrid Shinkansen

"Hybrid Shinkansen” refers to intercity rail systems that provide through
service to certain destinations that are not part of a regular Shinkansen
network, using specially designed trains capable of running on both
Shinkansen lines and conventional lines that have been widened to a
standard gauge. Hybrid Shinkansen lines are not covered by the
Nationwide Shinkansen Railway Development Law.

JNR

"JNR* stands for the Japanese National Railways, the Government-
owned public entity that was restructured into JNRSC {as defined below)
on April 1, 1987. The railway operations and certain related businesses
of JNR, along with certain necessary assets and associated liabilities,
were succeeded to by the JR Companies (as defined below), the
Shinkansen Holding Corporation (currently, JRTT {as defined below)),
Railway Telecommunication Co., Ltd. {a predecessor of JAPAN TELECOM
HOLDINGS CO., LTD.), Raitway Informaticn Systems Co., Ltd., and the
Raitway Technical Research Institute, and all of its other assets and liabili-
ties became assets and liabilities of JNRSC.

JNRSC

“JNRSC" stands for JNR Settlement Corporation. JNRSC was dissolved
on October 22, 1998, and all of its assets (including the 1,500,000
shares of JR East's common stock it beneficially owned at the time of
such transfer) and a portion of its liabilities were transferred to JRCC.

JR Companies

“JR Companies” refers to, collectively, JR East, Hokkaido Railway
Company (JR Hokkaido), Central Japan Raitway Company (JR Central),
West Japan Railway Company {JR West), Shikoku Railway Company (JR
Shikoku), Kyushu Railway Company (JR Kyushu), and Japan Freight
Railway Company (JR Freight).

JR East
“JR East” refers to East Japan Railway Company on a consolidated basis
or, if the context so reguires, on a nonconsolidated basis.

JR Law

“JR Law” means the Law for Passenger Railway Companies and Japan
Freight Railway Company of 1986, as amended, which created the
framework for the establishment of the JR Companies.

JRTT

“JRTT” stands for the Japan Railway Construction, Transport and
Technology Agency, an incorporated administrative agency established
in October 2003 upon the merger of the Japan Railway Construction
Public Corporation (JRCC) and the Corporation for Advanced Transport
& Technology. Its primary activities include the construction of
Shinkansen lines under the Naticnwide Shinkansen Railway
Development Law (see "Shinkansen”} and other national projects.
Within JR East's service area, JRTT is presently building Hokuriku
Shinkansen and Tohoku Shinkansen extensions. JR East rents the
Takasaki-Nagano segment of the Hokuriku Shinkansen line, opera-
tronally named Nagano Shinkansen, and the Marioka-Hachinohe seg-
ment of the Tehoku Shinkansen line from JRTT. JR East also rents some
conventional lines from JRTT,

Number of Passengers

"Number of passengers” comprises both passengers who begin their
journey at the JR East station and passengers who transfer to JR East
from other railway companies’ lines at the station.

Operating Kilometers

“QOperating kilometers” means the actual length cf a railway iine
between two stations, regardless of the number of tracks along the line.
Fare and charge calculations are based on this figure.

PASMOQ

PASMOG refers to iC cards with transportation ticket functions, sold by
Tokyo-area private railways, subways, and bus companies. Ever since
their March 18, 2007, launch, PASMO cards have been interchangeable
with Suica. Besides Tokyo-area private railways, subways, and bus com-
panies, the PASMO card system has spread 1o cover some transportation
companies in Shizuoka Prefecture. The PASMO name is a registered
trademark of Pasme K.K.

Passenger Kilometers

“Passenger kilometers" means the number of passengers moving from
one station to ancther multiplied by the distance (in operating kilome-
ters) between such stations.

Rolling Stock Kilometers
“Rolling stock kilometers” means the number of train kilometers {as
defined below) multiplied by the number of railcars comprising the train.

Shinkansen

“Shinkansen” refers to Japan's high-speed intercity rail systems operat-
ed by JR East, JR Central, JR West, and JR Kyushu. Several new
Shinkansen lines are now under construction or in advanced planning
stages under the Nationwide Shinkansen Railway Development Law.

Station Renaissance

Station Renaissance refers 10 a program aimed at proactively developing
the potential of JR East stations, which are used by about 16 millien
people daily and are considered to be the JR East Group’s largest man-
agement asset. Based on thorough consideration of custemers’ perspec-
tives and the goal of increasing Group value in line with the increased
emphasis now being placed on Group management, JR East is funda-
mentally reevaluating station layouts and comprehensively leveraging
the Group's diverse capabilities to undertake zero-base redevelopment
projects that optimize the facilities at each station. tn these ways, JR East
is working to create new 21st century station environments that offer
increased appeal to customers as well as greater profitability.

Suica

"Suica" refers to a prepaid IC card that can he used at nearly all of
JR East's stations in the Tokyo metropolitan area, the Sendai area, and
the Niigata area, permitting smooth, contactless passage through ticket
gates. There are two types of cards: a high-tech commuter pass (Suica
Commuter Pass) and a stored-fare raitway ticket (Suica /0 card). Also, an
electronic money function makes it possible 1o use them to purchase
goods at stores in train station concourses and in downtown stores,

Total Long-Term Debt
“Total long-term debt” refers to the aggregate of long-term debt and
long-term kabilities incurred for purchase of railway facilities, including
the current portion thereof.

Train Kilometers

“Train kilometers” means the number of kilometers traveled by a train
on operational routes, excluding movement within stations and rail
yards.
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